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IMPORTANT INFORMATION
Below find important information concerning the upcoming Constitutional General Meeting
(“CGM”) and Annual General Meeting (“AGM”).
Format of the meeting

The Board have deliberated and decided to proceed with the deferred CGM and AGM which
was scheduled to take place on 30 March 2020. In keeping with the COVID-19 regulations, these
meetings will be facilitated using a remote meeting format which has now been scheduled for 22
June 2021. The Memorandum of Incorporation does not prohibit a virtual meeting and further
provides in clause 7.9.6 that “the Association may provide a platform to Members to submit proxies
in the prescribed format via a secure electronic portal.”
Considering the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic, the Association will hold a virtual CGM and AGM
in lieu of a physical meeting. An email will be sent to all members, explaining the process to register
for the virtual meeting. The registration can be done in advance of the meeting and tested to ensure
that Members are familiar with the process.
Members can participate in the virtual meeting via an electronic platform facilitated by the company
Lumi who is well known in the business world for their ability to facilitate large virtual meetings for
company shareholders and the like. On the platform, members will be able to vote and submit
written questions where they will be answered by the board. Members are encouraged to submit
questions for the CGM and AGM in advance to info@silverlakes.co.za This will enable the board
to group the questions and have a response by the appropriate person at the virtual meeting.
Who can Vote?
The registered owner (Member) of a Unit is entitled to vote either personally or by proxy.
In terms of section 59(1)(a) and (b) of the Companies Act, the board of directors of the Company
(“the board” or “directors”) has set the record date for the purposes of determining which Members
are entitled to receive Notice of the Constitutional General Meeting as Thursday, 27 May 2021
(being the date on which Members must be recorded as such in the Register of Members for the
purposes of receiving Notice of this Constitutional General Meeting).
Unable to attend the meeting?
Members who are unable to attend the CGM and AGM in person but are eligible to vote in terms
of clause 7.9.1 of the MOI, may be represented at the CGM and AGM by a proxy, who need not
be a Member of the Company, or the Chairperson. A Member may not appoint more than 1 (one)
proxy per Unit that he/she owns.
A Member’s proxy may not delegate the proxy’s powers to another person in terms of clause 7.9.1
of the MOI.
Documentary evidence establishing the authority of the person signing the Proxy form in a
representative or other legal capacity must be attached to the proxy form without which the proxy
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will be invalid.
Members’ attention is drawn in regard to how a proxy holder may act by the following extract from
clause 7.9.12 of the MOI: “ Where no indication of voting has been made or where the Member
does not provide direction of how the proxy holder must vote, the proxy holder may vote as he deems
fit.”
The ruling by the appointed Independent Electoral Committee (“IEC”) on the validity and/or
acceptability of any proxy instrument shall be final and binding unless reviewed by a competent
authority in terms of clause 7.9.10 of the MOI. The IEC consists of two volunteer Members and one
appointed professional member from Pretoria.
Provision in terms of clause 7.9.6 of the MOI is made for Members to submit their proxies through
an electronic system, instructions for use and a link to which will be provided via a dedicated e-mail
to be sent to Members. Members can sign and lodge their proxy via this system. This provision will
enable more Members to make use of the proxy forms to ensure that we have a quorum for the
meeting. Because of the extended capability of the system for a member to submit and sign a proxy
appointment electronically in advance of the meeting, more members can participate to express
their vote preference on a matter via a proxy designation.
As the meeting will be held virtually, all proxies need to be processed and activated on the online
voting platform. This process can take up to 48 hours to activate, as such we are required to make
all proxies ideally available 48 hours before the commencement of the CGM and AGM.
Members wishing to make use of proxies are strongly encouraged to submit their proxy forms as
early as possible in the prescribed format in one of the following methods:
•
through a link that will be sent to the official email of the members as reflected on the members
register with the option to submit the proxies electronically; or
•
in the Proxy box at either the Management Office (27 Muirfield Boulevard, Silver Lakes) or in
the Pro Shop at the Silver Lakes Clubhouse, preferably by no later than 15h00 on Friday, 18
June 2021. The Proxy box will be available from the day that Notice is given.
More information will be shared with our members about the electronic submission of proxies and
how members need to complete and sign this document. Please note that once completed, an
unsigned copy will be sent to you via return email, while the signed Proxy Form will automatically be
sent in PDF format by email for attention of the dedicated person at the Association. Further
explanation will be given in a separate step-by-step guideline and whether the document can be
completed as a fillable pdf document.
Property owned by a legal entity or jointly owned?
In the event of a Trust, Company or Close Corporation resolving to authorize a natural person, who
is not a related or interrelated person (as defined in the Companies Act, 2008) to attend, speak and
vote in person or by proxy at a General Meeting, the resolution form is to be accompanied by a
duly completed proxy instrument in terms of clause 7.9.3 of the MOI.
In the case where a Unit is owned by more than one person, a completed and signed consent form
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to appoint one of the owners to represent the other(s) must be provided together with the proxy
form appointing the appointed person.
How to access the virtual voting platform
Members will be e-mailed their unique credentials (username and password) to access the meeting.
To access the platform on the day of the meetings, members will go to the following web address
www.web.lumiagm.com on either of their desktops or laptops. Enter the Meeting ID: 184-886-243
and your unique credentials (username and password).
The CGM will commence at 19h00 and the AGM at 20h00 or straight after the CGM.
Quorum
Clause 7.7.2 of the MOI prescribes that, subject to at least 3 (three) Members being present in
person, the quorum necessary for the holding of the CGM shall comprise of 200 (two hundred)
Members entitled to vote in terms of the MOI, present in person or by proxy, while the quorum
necessary for the holding of the AGM shall comprise of 100 (one hundred) Members entitled to vote
in terms of the MOI, present in person or by proxy.
Voting Requirements
Due to the electronic method of this meeting, members are encouraged to access the virtual voting
platform at least 30 minutes before the meeting commences. On the virtual voting platform members
are encouraged to cast their vote and submit written questions. An online member’s user-guide will
be provided in due course.
In terms of clause 7.10.3 of the MOI, for an ordinary resolution to be adopted at any Members’
meeting, it must be supported by the majority of the voting rights exercised on the resolution.
In terms of clause 7.10.4 of the MOI, for special resolution to be adopted at any Members’ meeting,
it must be supported by at least 75% (seventy five percent), of the voting rights exercised on the
resolution.
Important Dates
Record date for receiving Notice of meetings – 27 May 2021.
Registration starts – 22 June 2021 at 17h00. As this is a virtual meeting, Members are encouraged
to log on from Monday morning, 21 June 2021.
CGM commences – 22 June 2021 at 19h00.
AGM commences – 22 June 2021 at 20h00 or as soon as possible after the CGM.
Please contact Ms Leandré Mervis at the HOA Office on info@silverlakes.co.za or 012 809 0142
should you have any queries concerning the General Meetings or contact Lumi Support on supportza@lumiglobal.com for any technical queries on the Virtual Voting Platform.

7

CONSTITUTIONAL GENERAL MEETING
NOTICE & AGENDA
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CONSTITUTIONAL GENERAL MEETING
Notice is hereby given to the Members of the Company (“Members”) that the Constitutional General
Meeting (“CGM”) of the Members will be held on Tuesday , 22 June 2021 at 19h00 as a virtual meeting,
to conduct the general business of the CGM and to consider, if deemed fit, pass with or without
modification, the ordinary and special resolutions below as required by the Companies Act, no 71 of
2008 as amended (“the Companies Act” or “the Act”) and the Memorandum of Incorporation of the
Company (“MOI”).
1

Welcome

2

Confirmation of Quorum

3

Confirmation of Delivery of Notice

4

Confirmation of Previous Minutes
To receive and approve the Minutes of the CGM held on 25 February 2019

5

Voting Procedure

6

Special Resolution 1: Proposed Memorandum of Incorporation (“MOI”)
Whereas the proposed MOI, be tabled for adoption and incorporation as the MOI of the
Association in substitution for the existing MOI. (Page 14)

7

Ordinary Resolution 1: Proposed Rules Including Schedule of Transgressions & Penalties
Whereas the proposed Rules including the Schedule of Transgressions & Penalties, be tabled for
adoption and incorporation as the new Rules of the Association. (Page 62)

8

Ordinary Resolution 2: Proposed Architectural and Construction Rules Including Schedule of
Transgressions & Penalties
Whereas the proposed Architectural and Construction Rules including the Schedule of
Transgressions & Penalties, be tabled for adoption and incorporation as the new Architectural and
Construction Rules of the Association. (Page 88)

9

Ordinary Resolution 3: Authority to Act
It is resolved that any two directors be and are hereby authorised to do all such things and sign all
such documents as may be necessary to give effect to the resolutions approved at the CGM.

10

Closure
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MINUTES OF CGM HELD ON 25 FEBRUARY 2019
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MINUTES OF CGM HELD ON 25 FEBRUARY 2019
DRAFT
CONSTITUTIONAL GENERAL MEETING OF SILVER LAKES HOMEOWNERS ASSOCIATION NPC
HELD ON MONDAY, 25 FEBRUARY 2019 AT 19:00
AT THE SILVER LAKES GOLF AND WILDLIFE ESTATE CLUBHOUSE
PRESENT
As per the attendance register.
Minutes
The minutes were recorded by Mr N Ndlovu (FluidRock Governance).
WELCOME
The Chairperson welcomed all present to the Constitutional General Meeting (“CGM”) of the Silver Lakes
Homeowners Association NPC.
ATTENDANCE AND CONFIRMATION OF QUORUM
The Chairperson confirmed that the necessary quorum for the meeting in terms of the Memorandum of
Incorporation (“MOI”) was present. With 203 Members present or represented by proxy, the meeting was
declared duly constituted and officially open.
CONFIRMATION OF DELIVERY OF THE NOTICE
A Notice dated 2 February 2019 that convened the Constitutional General Meeting was delivered to
Members in accordance with the MOI.
It was confirmed that no proxies had been rejected. Two proxies were invalid as the required mandates
(consent letters/resolutions) had not been attached. The person who completed the proxy forms was not
the registered owner.
The Chairperson explained that the proxy forms complied with the recommended format.
The Chairperson proposed that the Notice of the meeting be taken as read. The motion was seconded
by Mr Hermanus Swart (stand 703) and it was carried.
CONFIRMATION OF THE PREVIOUS MINUTES
Approval of minutes of the meeting held on 19 February 2018
The Chairperson proposed that the minutes be taken as read, and requested the Members to second the
proposal.
A question was raised whether the quorum provisions in terms of the MOI had been misinterpreted at
the previous meeting in that, the quorum requirement was recorded as 250 as opposed to 200 and that
extended time to allow for the arrival of quorum was recorded as 30 minutes as opposed to 60 minutes.
The Chairperson would revert to the Members in this regard.
Given that at the time of the commencement of the meeting 108 Members were present in person or by
proxy, the Chairperson ruled that even with the correct interpretation of the MOI, a quorum would not
have been present.
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The Chairperson proposed that the minutes be adopted. Mr Herculas Nel (stand 398) seconded the
motion and it was carried.
Approval of minutes of the meeting held on 26 February 2018
The Chairperson proposed that the minutes of the CGM of 26 February 2018 be taken as read.
Whereas the Chairperson confirmed that the proposal to adopt the February 2017 minutes was made
by him before being seconded, it was noted that the correction would be made to the minutes as
recorded.
The Chairperson proposed that the minutes be adopted, subject to amendments, and Dr Steven Pretorius
(stand 312) seconded this proposal. The minutes were taken as read and adopted.
VOTING PROCEDURE
Whereas, in terms of the MOI, voting would be done by show of hands unless a poll is proposed by the
Chairperson or demanded by five or more Members, it was noted that a request was received from five
Members that voting be by ballot. As such, the meeting would follow the ballot voting system for all
aspects that needed to be voted for in the CGM.
On the proposal from the Chairperson that the representatives of FluidRock Governance be appointed
as scrutineers, Ms Barbara Green (stand 26) seconded the motion and it was carried.
SPECIAL RESOLUTION 1: PROPOSED MEMORANDIUM OF INCORPORATION (“MOI”)
Proposed amendments to the MOI and other concerns raised - Discussion
Concern was raised in terms of the process followed by the board in proposing the amendments to the
MOI and The Rules. The absence of any form of consultation with Members in this regard was
highlighted. In response to the concerns raised, the Chairperson assured the meeting of the board’s best
intentions for the Association and that the recommended amendments to the MOI were proposed to align
same with relevant legislation.
The meeting was advised of the board’s intention to schedule a workshop with the Members to review
the proposed amendments. With this taken into consideration, the board was tasked to provide feedback
in this regard.
In the ensuing discussion, the following specific concerns were raised by Members:
-

-

The historical “mismanagement” of HOA funds by the board (prior to 2013) had reference.
Unauthorised levy increases by the board, at the time, without Members’ involvement.
Members were of the view that the level of transparency from the board was deteriorating in light
of certain proposed amendments to the MOI (in particular the restriction on Members to view
board meeting minutes);
In the Members’ view, the proposed amendments to the MOI would not be in the best interest of
the HOA or the Members and on this basis questioned the intention thereof.
The proposed amendment to the quorum requirement (from 200 to 100 for a CGM).
The notice period of nominations for election of directors (AGM Agenda Item).
It was noted that the appointment of the Independent Electoral Commission (“IEC”) was only
concluded after the nomination process.
Whereas the Social, Ethics and Governance Committee had been appointed by the board and
reported to the directors, Members were of the view that this was inappropriate.

12

It was moved from the floor that the CGM be postponed sine die (without assigning a day for a further
meeting). The motion was seconded by Mr Darryl Weir (stand 687) and supported by the majority of the
Members present.
The Chairperson, on behalf of the board, noted the concerns raised by the Members and reiterated the
board’s best intentions in its conduct. The concerns raised would be addressed by the board and all
Members of the Association would be consulted during the process of the proposals to amend the MOI.
The directors were reminded to apply the principles of the King IV Code™ on Corporate Governance
(“King IV Code™”).
It was concluded that the CGM be postponed indefinitely.
ADJOURNMENT
As there was no further business to transact at the meeting, the CGM was declared duly closed and
adjourned at 19:30.
Signed as a true record of the proceedings at the meeting.

______________________________________
MR JACO COETZEE
CHAIRPERSON

__________________________________
DATE
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PROPOSED MEMORANDUM OF INCORPORATION (“MOI”)
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Silver Lakes Homeowners Association
Condensed Version
Preamble.
These pages provide a condensed version of all the additions and changes made to the Memorandum of Incorporation
(“MOI”) to eliminate the need for Members to read through the whole of the MOI. These pages have been verified to be a
correct reflection of the additions and changes to the base document.
The proposed removal, additions or changes of clauses from the MOI are based on several reasons, which includes but are
not limited to a change in legislation; some clauses that are meant to be in the Rules but ended in the MOI over the years;
and further improving the previously approved MOI.
Grammatical changes or the use of better wording in the MOI which may not have a material impact are not noted in this
document.
The following deletions, additions or changes of clauses are proposed to the MOI as approved by Special Resolution at an
adjourned Constitutional General Meeting held on 26 February 2018, which deletions, additions or changes include
proposals intended for the CGM on 30 March 2020 which meeting was postponed due to COVID-19, along with other
deletions, additions or changes of clauses that were identified by the board during the year. The proposals were considered
by the board and includes legal input, contributions received from members during workshops facilitated in 2020 and 2021,
proposals submitted in writing by 22 January 2021 and input provided by the various board committees. The board
considered all the proposals and where it was meaningful, legal and to the best interest of the members on the estate, the
changes were incorporated. The opportunity was also given to the Social, Ethics and Governance Committee to make
comment before the board made their final decision as included in the pack.

SUMMARY OF THE MAJOR DELETIONS, ADDITIONS OR CHANGES
AGM/CGM
There will no longer be an Constitutional General Meeting and the items normally reserved for the agenda of the CGM will
be incorporated into the agenda of the AGM. There is no apparent need to have two separate costly meetings to deal with
matters which could be dealt with in one meeting. As there is a higher percentage of approval required, seventy five percent
(75%) for special resolutions the same will apply to matters ordinarily dealt with in a CGM. This type of arrangement is also
old-school and not much in practice because of the unnecessary cost and time involved. Although the quorum requirements
for a CGM was higher than for an AGM it does not detract from the fact that every member entitled to vote can freely
exercise their right to vote in person or by why of proxy.
Directors
Some changes are being made with the introduction of a director concerned with the Legal portfolio, removal of the director’s
position for Vice-Chairperson and change the nomination process for the position of Country Club director.
Removal of the position for a Vice-Chairperson in exchange for a director concerned with the Legal portfolio. The role of
the Vice-Chairperson is obsolete as the role is undefined and need not be there as a chairperson can be appointed from
anyone of the directors. It is more effective to substitute the Vice-Chairperson directorship for that of a legal portfolio as a
large percentage of time is spent on legal matters of one kind or the other and unnecessary legal consulting cost can be
avoided. The main reasons and impact are (1) that the board can provide for the position of a director concerned with the
Legal portfolio by giving up the position of Vice Chairperson; (2) should a vacancy occur on the board for the position of
Chairperson, the board will nominate a new Chairperson.
Nomination process for the Country Club director. The nomination of the Country Club director is changed to be a
nomination as for any other director to allow all members the opportunity to nominate their preferred candidate and not
limit this nomination to a specific group which in any event will be contrary to the fiduciary duties of a director.
Members in good standing.
Members may only participate at the AGM if they are in good standing. Members who are not in good standing will be able
to attend, but not participate or vote. A member is good standing is regarded as a person who has paid all levies, penalties
and interest on his account.
It is deemed unacceptable for a member who does not fully contribute to the costs of the Association by not paying their levy
or deliberately disregarding the member approved provisions of the MOI or Rules and thereby disregard other members is
capable of a vote.
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DELETIONS
The following are proposed to be deleted from the MOI.
MEMBERSHIP
5.2.8

Members shall not interfere with nor give instructions to any officers, employees, agents or contractors of
the Association and Management, and any complaints shall be addressed in Writing in terms of the published
Complaints Procedure to Management. Management may request that any unresolved complaint be dealt with
by the Members at a forthcoming General Meeting of the Members.

FINANCIAL AND LEVIES
6.28

The further principles applicable in terms of the Sectional Titles Act with regard to the issuance of a clearance
certificate shall apply mutatis mutandis to any clearance certificate required to be obtained in respect of the transfer
of any Unit in the Estate.

6.29

The amount of any Debt due to the Association shall enjoy the preference accorded any similar debt due to the
body corporate in terms of the Sectional Titles Act in conformity with the provisions of the Insolvency Act, No 24
of 1936, as amended, and as otherwise apply in law.

MEMBER MEETINGS
7.3

Constitutional General Meeting (CGM)
The Association shall convene a CGM for purposes of effecting or, where applicable, confirming any amendment,
addition or deletion to:

7.9.7

7.3.1

the MOI; and/or

7.3.2

any Rules made pursuant to the provisions of Section 9; and/or

7.3.3

any previously passed Resolution or Special Resolution required to be dealt with at a CGM; and/or

7.3.4

subdividing, sale, purchase, granting of servitudes or amending the zoning of any immovable property
owned by the Association; and/or

7.3.5

any other business that falls to be dealt with at an AGM.

No proxy instrument will be accepted by the Association after the commencement of the Meeting.

DIRECTORS
8.6

A Director(s) shall be deemed to have vacated his office upon:
8.6.4
the remaining Directors take a vote of no confidence against said Director which vote is unanimous;

TRANSITIONAL ARRANGEMENTS
14.1

Subject to the provisions of the MOI and the Rules on and after the commencement date, anything which was
done under a provision of the Articles of Association and the Rules in effect on the day immediately preceding the
day on which the MOI comes into effect and which could be done under a corresponding provision of the MOI
and the Rules, is deemed to have been done under that corresponding provision.

14.2

The coming into effect of the MOI does not affect any rights, Debts, obligations and/or any liabilities which existed
on the day immediately preceding the day on which the MOI comes into effect and such rights, Debts, obligations
and liabilities shall continue under the MOI and Rules on and after the commencement date and shall be deemed
to have existed under, in terms of or by virtue of a corresponding provision of the MOI and the Rules.

ADDITIONS
The following are proposed to be added to the MOI.
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DEFINITIONS
“Clearance Certificate” means a certificate as envisaged in Sales and transfer of properties (clause 6.5.3).
“Electoral Committee” means a Committee established in accordance with this Memorandum of Incorporation and the Rules
of the Association, to attend to the functions delegated to it by the Board or under this MOI or the Rules.
“Notice” means any written communication in notification from the Association or its delegation to an individual or entity to
do so.
“Resident” means a person living on the Estate, who can include a tenant who has been officially registered to stay on the
Estate.
MEMBERS MEETINGS
5.4.4

Before any Member may attend or participate in a Members Meeting, that Member must be in good standing,
present reasonably satisfactory identification and the meeting Chairperson must be reasonably satisfied that the
right of that person to participate and vote, either as a Member, or as a proxy of a Member, has been reasonably
verified.

5.12.3 The Board may, as an alternative to calling an EGM, and insofar as is practical and in accordance with the
provisions of section 60 of the Companies Act, 5.12.3.1

submit a resolution for consideration to the Members entitled to exercise voting rights in relation to the
resolution; and

5.12.3.2

such resolution may be voted on in Writing by the Members entitled to exercise voting rights in relation
to the resolution within 20 (twenty) business days after the resolution was submitted to them.

5.12.4 A resolution contemplated in Members Meetings (clause 5.12.3) is referred to as a Round Robin Resolution and –
5.12.4.1

will have been adopted if it is supported by persons entitled to exercise sufficient voting rights for it to
have been adopted as an ordinary or special resolution, as the case may be, as a properly constituted
Members Meeting; and

5.12.4.2

if adopted, has the same effect as if it had been approved at a Members Meeting.

5.14.2.4 Voting for a change to the MOI may be done with 1 (one) vote to approve all changes, or where there is any
objection, then the changes will be voted on individually.
FINANCIALS
6.5.5

The Board has the right to agree to debt settlement plans with a Member.

DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS
7.1.3

In addition to satisfying the qualification and eligibility requirements set out in section 69 of the Companies Act,
to become or remain a Director of the Association, a person must satisfy the additional eligibility requirements
and qualifications.

7.3.1

The authority of the Association’s Board of Directors to consider a matter other than at a meeting, as set out in
section 74 of the Companies Act is not limited or restricted by this MOI.

7.5

Unless otherwise resolved by way of a Special Resolution at any General Meeting, Directors are authorised and
empowered to:
7.5.8

Co-opt subject matter experts and other professionals to assist the Board as necessary.
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ARTICLES
The following Articles have been written in to the MOI as required by the Act with the clauses referred to where placed in the
MOI:
Incorporation and Nature of the Association
1.1.

Incorporation
1.1.1.

The Association is a non-profit company, as defined in the Companies Act.

1.1.2.

The Association is subject to and governed by:
1.1.2.1. the unalterable provisions of the Companies Act, that are applicable to non-profit companies;
1.1.2.2. the alterable provisions of the Companies Act, that are applicable to non-profit companies,
subject to any limitation, extension, variation or substitution set out in this MOI.

1.2.

Objects and Powers of the Association
1.1.1

The Objects of the Association are those set out in Incorporation and Nature of the Association (clause
1.2.4) and, except to the extent necessarily implied by the stated objects, the purposes and powers of
the Association are not subject to any restriction, limitation or qualification, as contemplated in section
19 (1)(b)(ii) of the Companies Act.

1.1.2

The Association is not subject to any provision contemplated in section 15 (2)(b) or (c) of the Companies
Act.
Upon dissolution of the Association, its net assets must be distributed in the manner determined in
accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act.

1.3.

1.4.

MOI and Rules
1.1.3

This MOI may be altered or amended only in the manner set out in section 16, 17 or 152 (6) (b) of the
Companies Act.

1.1.4

The authority of the Association’s Board of Directors to make Rules for the Association, as contemplated
in section 15 (3) to (5) of the Companies Act is not limited or restricted in any manner by this MOI.

1.1.5

The Board must publish any Rules made in terms of section 15 (3) to (5) of the Companies Act by
Delivering a copy of those Rules to each Director and Member.

1.1.6

The Association must publish a notice of any alteration of the MOI or the Rules, made in terms of section
17 (1) of the Companies Act by delivering a written copy physically or electronically.

Optional provisions of the Companies Act, do not apply
The Association does not elect, in terms of section 34 (2) of the Companies Act, to comply voluntarily with the
provisions of Chapter 3 of the Companies Act.

1.5.

Members of the Association
As The Association has Members, who are all in a single class, being voting Members, each of whom has an
equal vote in any matter to be decided by the Members of the Association, subject to the provisions of this MOI.

Rights and obligations of Members
4.1.1

Representation by concurrent proxies
The right of a Member of the Association to appoint persons concurrently as proxies, as set out in section 58 (3)(a)
of the Companies Act is not limited, restricted or varied by this MOI.

4.1.2

Authority of proxy to delegate
The authority of a Member’s proxy to delegate the proxy’s powers to another person, as set out in section 58 (3)(b)
of the Companies Act is not limited or restricted by this MOI.
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4.1.3

Requirement to deliver proxy instrument to the Association
The requirement that a Member must deliver to the Association a copy of the instrument appointing a proxy before
that proxy may exercise the Member’s rights at a Members Meeting, as set out in section 58 (3)(c) of the Companies
Act is varied by this MOI to the extent that it is preferred that the proxy instrument is delivered 48 hours before the
time.

4.1.4

Deliberative authority of proxy
The authority of a Member’s proxy to decide without direction from the Member whether to exercise, or abstain
from exercising any voting right of the Member, as set out in section 58 (7) of the Companies Act is not limited or
restricted by this MOI.

4.1.5

Record date for exercise of Member rights
If, at any time, the Association’s Board of Directors fails to determine a record date, as contemplated in section
59 of the Companies Act, the record date for the relevant matter is as determined in Members Meetings (clause
5).

Members Meetings
5.1

Requirement to hold meetings
The Association is required, in addition to such meetings specifically required by the Companies Act, to hold the
Members Meetings contemplated in this MOI.

5.2

Members’ right to call a meeting
The right of Members to call a meeting, as set out in section 61 (3) of the Companies Act, is not altered by this
MOI.

5.3

Location of Members Meetings
The authority of the Association’s Board of Directors to determine the location of any Members Meeting, and the
authority of the Association to hold any such meeting, as set out in section 61 (9) of the Companies Act is not
limited or restricted by this MOI.

5.4

Notice of Members Meetings
5.4.1
Each Members Meeting must be called by Written notice of at least 15 (fifteen) business days before the
date set for the Members Meeting concerned.
5.4.2

The notice convening each a Members Meeting must specify the place, the day and hour of the Members
Meeting and must otherwise contain details of the business, including where relevant, special business,
to be conducted at the Members Meeting.

5.4.3

In the event that special business is to be conducted at a Members Meeting, the notice convening the
Members Meeting shall contain adequate motivation and information to enable the Members to make
an informed decision.

5.4.4

Before any Member may attend or participate in a Members Meeting, that Member must be in good
standing, present reasonably satisfactory identification and the meeting Chairperson must be reasonably
satisfied that the right of that person to participate and vote, either as a Member, or as a proxy of a
Member, has been reasonably verified.

5.4.5

The record date for Members Meetings will be the last day upon which notice of the Members Meeting
may be given.

5.5

Electronic participation in Members Meetings
The authority of the Association to conduct a meeting entirely by electronic communication, or to provide for
participation in a meeting by electronic communication, as set out in section 63 of the Companies Act, is not
limited or restricted by this MOI.

5.6

Quorum for Members Meetings
5.6.1

The The quorum requirement for a Members Meeting to begin, is 7% (seven percent) of the Members
of the HOA as at the record date of the Meeting.

5.6.2

A Members Meeting may not begin and a matter to be decided at the Members Meeting may not begin
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to be considered, unless a quorum is present within 15 (fifteen) minutes of the time specified for the
commencement of the meeting. The meeting Chairperson has the right to extend the 15 (fifteen) minute
period by a reasonable amount of time to allow for exceptional circumstances as described in the
Companies Act.
5.8

Maximum period allowed for an adjournment of Members Meetings
The maximum period allowable for an adjournment of a Members Meeting is as set out in section 64 (12) of the
Companies Act, without variation.

5.10

Members resolutions
5.10.1

For an ordinary resolution to be adopted at a Members Meeting, it must be supported by more than 50
(fifty) % of the voting rights exercised on the resolution by Members present at the Members Meeting.

5.10.2

For a special resolution to be adopted at a Members Meeting, it must be supported by at least 75
(seventy-five) % of the voting rights exercised on the resolution by Members present at the Members
Meeting.

5.10.3

In addition to those matters set out in section 65 (11) of the Companies Act, a special resolution adopted
at a Members Meeting is required for the following matters to be determined by the Association:
5.10.3.1 The subdividing, sale, purchase or amending the zoning of any immovable property owned
by the Association.

Directors and Officers
7.1.3

In addition to satisfying the qualification and eligibility requirements set out in section 69 of the Companies Act,
to become or remain a Director of the Association, a person must satisfy the additional eligibility requirements
and qualifications.

7.1.4

Each elected director of the Association serves for a period as set out in Directors and Officers (clause 7.1.1.2).
In a case where the Directors have been elected at an AGM, the Board may decide to change the term of office
to ensure that the Association complies with the Companies Act which requires that that at least one-third of the
Directors are elected each year.

7.2

Authority of the Board of Directors
The authority of the Association’s Board of Directors to manage and direct the business and affairs of the
Association, as set out in section 66 (1) of the Companies Act is not limited or restricted by this MOI.

7.3

Board of Directors meetings
7.3.1

The authority of the Association’s Board of Directors to consider a matter other than at a meeting, as
set out in section 74 of the Companies Act is not limited or restricted by this MOI.

7.3.2

The right of the Association’s Directors to call a meeting of the Board, as set out in section 73 (1) of the
Companies Act is not limited by this MOI.

7.3.3

The authority of the Association’s Board of Directors to conduct a meeting entirely by electronic
communication, or to provide for participation in a meeting by electronic communication, as set out in
section 73 (3) of the Companies Act is not limited or restricted by this MOI.

7.3.4

The authority of the Association’s Board of Directors to determine the manner and form of providing
notice of its meetings, as set out in section 73 (4) of the Companies Act is not limited or restricted by
this MOI.

7.3.5

The authority of the Association’s Board of Directors to proceed with a meeting despite a failure or
defect in giving notice of the meeting, as set out in section 73 (5) of the Companies Act is not limited
or restricted by this MOI.

7.3.6

The quorum requirement for a Directors’ meeting to begin, the voting rights at such a meeting, and the
requirements for approval of a resolution at such a meeting, are as set out in section 73 (5) of the
Companies Act.

20

7.4

Officers and Committees
7.4.1

The Board of Directors may appoint any officers it considers necessary to better achieve the objects of
the Association.

7.4.2

The authority of the Association’s Board of Directors to appoint committees of directors, and to delegate
to any such committee any of the authority of the Board as set out in section 72 (1) of the Companies
Act, or to include in any such committee persons who are not directors, as set out in section 72 (2)(a)
of the Companies Act is not limited or restricted by this MOI.

7.4.3

The authority of a committee appointed by the Association’s Board, as set out in section 72 (2)(b) and
(c) of the Companies Act is not limited or restricted by this MOI.

Indemnities
9.7

The authority of the Association’s Board of Directors to advance expenses to a Director, or indemnify a Director,
in respect of the defence of legal proceedings, as set out in section 78 (3) of the Companies Act is not limited or
restricted by this MOI.

9.8

The authority of the Association’s Board of Directors to indemnify a director in respect of liability, as set out in
section 78 (5) of the Companies Act is not limited or restricted by this MOI.

9.9

The authority of the Association’s Board of Directors to purchase insurance to protect the Association, or a
Director, as set out in section 78 (6) of the Companies Act is not limited or restricted by this MOI.

CHANGES
The following are proposed to be changed to the MOI.
MEMBER MEETINGS
5.9.11

In order to accurately determine the authority and rights of the proxy holder, the proxy document should preferably
be in the format issued by the Association which may be submitted in printed format or electronically.

5.12.1

The Board may, whenever it deems fit, convene an EGM for dealing with extraordinary or special business not
dealt with at an AGM, and must call such a meeting in terms of section 61(3) of the Companies Act, if –
5.12.1.1

1 (one) or more written and signed demands for such a Members Meeting are delivered to the
Association; and

5.12.1.2

each such demand describes the specific purpose for which the Members Meeting is proposed; and

5.12.1.3

in aggregate, demands for substantially the same purposes are made and signed by Members, as
of the earliest time specified in any of those demands, of at least 5 (five) % of the voting rights entitled
to be exercised in relation to the matter proposed to be considered at the Members Meeting.

5.4.4

Before any Member may participate in a Members Meeting, that Member must be in good standing, present
reasonably satisfactory identification and the meeting Chairperson must be reasonably satisfied that the right of
that person to participate and vote, either as a Member, or as a proxy of a Member, has been reasonably verified.

5.6.2

A Members Meeting may not begin and a matter to be decided at the Members Meeting may not begin to be
considered, unless a quorum is present within 15 (fifteen) minutes of the time specified for the commencement of
the meeting. The meeting Chairperson has the right to extend the 15 (fifteen) minute period by a reasonable
amount of time to allow for exceptional circumstances as described in the Companies Act.

5.14.2.3 Unless a poll is demanded before or on the declaration of the result of a show of hands, a declaration by the
meeting Chairperson that a motion has, on a show of hands, been carried or defeated, must be entered in the
minute book of the Association and is conclusive evidence of the fact, without proof of the number or proportion
if the votes recorded in favour of or against such motion.
5.15.1

The Chairperson of the Board should preside as Chairperson at all Members Meetings. If the Chairperson is not
present within 15 (fifteen) minutes of the scheduled time for the start of the Members Meeting or in the event of
such Chairperson’s inability or unwillingness to act, the Board can appoint one of its directors present at the
Members Meeting to fulfil this function. If the Board intends making use of a person other than a Board member
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to chair the Members Meeting, the Members present shall be afforded the opportunity to nominate and elect the
meeting Chairperson by show of hands by ordinary resolution.
5.15.2

The Chairperson must:
5.15.2.5 Ensure that all Members and others entitled to speak are able to express their views about matters
contained to the agenda only without unnecessary disturbance or interruption;

FINANCIAL
6.1.4

6.4.7

6.4.8

6.6.1

Budgets
Subject to the hereinafter stated provisions, the levies payable by the Members will be determined by dividing the
net budgeted expenditure by the number of levy paying Units, excluding the Units registered in the name of the
Association.
Debt
Where a Member is in arrears with payment of any Debt the Association is, in addition to the provisions of Financial
(clauses 6.4.1 and 6.4.2) supra, entitled to enforce such recovery proceedings and exercise such other legal
remedies as are available to the Association in terms of the MOI and/or Rules, or at law.
In the event of the Directors seeking legal advice, taking any legal steps and/or implementing any legal
proceeding, the Association shall be entitled to recover from the offending Member on an attorney and own client
scale the costs thereof, together with all relevant disbursements.
Accounts / Inspection of Document
The Association’s audited annual financial statements, register of Members, MOI and Rules, and minutes of Board
meetings shall be open for inspection by Members at the office of Management at all reasonable times during
normal business hours of the Association, subject to the following provisions:
6.6.1.1

should a Member require copies of documentation which are not prohibited from being reproduced by
any relevant legislation or confidentiality provisions, such request for copies shall be submitted to the
Directors in Writing, and the Directors shall be entitled to levy a reasonable fee, subject to section 26
of the Companies Act, in respect of the administration for such request, including the cost of any copies;

DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS
7.1.1

The Board of Directors of the Association shall consist of at least 3 (three) directors and not more than 7 (seven)
directors for the portfolios of Chairperson, Legal, Finance, Security, Environment and Country Club; who shall
7.1.1.1

be elected by the Members at a Members Meeting, or where applicable by way of a Round Robin
Resolution;

7.1.1.2

serve for a term as envisaged in Directors and Officers (clause 7.1.7); and

7.1.2

the Chief Executive Officer (CEO) who may be appointed as ex officio Director by the Directors mentioned in
7.1.1.

7.1.12

Should a vacancy occur in the office of Chairperson, the Board of Directors will elect a new Chairperson from the
existing Directors and co-opt an additional Director to the vacancy, provided that the Director elected to act as
Chairperson shall not hold dual portfolios.

7.1.14

If no nominations to fill the vacancies are received by the closing date for nominations in terms of Directors and
Officers (clause 7.1.13), further nominations may be called by the Electoral Committee.

7.5.11

The appointment of a committee must be effected in Writing with duly defined rights, powers and duties in the
form of Terms of Reference to be approved and revised annually by the Board of Directors after the AGM.

7.5.14

The minutes of meetings of each committee must be finalised according to the Terms of Reference.

7.9

The Chairperson should preside at all meetings of the Board of Directors and in the event of such Chairperson
not being present within 15 (fifteen) minutes of the scheduled time for the start of the meeting or in the event of
such Chairperson’s inability or unwillingness to act, a Chairperson should be appointed by the remaining Directors
for such meeting.
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RULES
8.1

The Directors may make, amend or repeal Rules as contemplated in this MOI and in sections 15(3) to 15(5) of
the Companies Act, which Rules may include –
8.1.1

conduct Rules and schedules of transgressions and penalties;

8.1.2

architectural and construction Rules; and

8.1.3

such other Rules or directives as the Board may deem fit.

DISPUTE RESOLUTION
11.2

Only after a Member has exhausted the remedies provided in the MOI and after the dispute has been submitted
by a Member in terms of Dispute Resolution (clause 11.1) and decided by the meeting, may a Member lodge
such a dispute as provided for in the Community Schemes Act and the dispute resolution provisions of the
Community Schemes Ombud Services will then apply.

23
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24

Signature of Chairperson

MEMORANDUM OF INCORPORATION
INDEX

Page number

Definitions
Clause 1

Incorporation and Nature of the Association

Clause 2

General Provisions

Clause 3

Membership and Related Matters

Clause 4

Rights and Obligations of Members

Clause 5

Members Meetings

Clause 6

Financial

Clause 7

Directors and Officers

Clause 8

Rules

Clause 9

Indemnities

Clause 10

Delivery of Notices

Clause 11

Dispute Resolution

25

Definitions
A.

In this Memorandum of Incorporation, save where the contrary is expressly stated or appears from the context, the
following words and / or phrases shall have the following meanings ascribed thereto
a.

“Association”

means the Company, Silver Lakes Homeowners
Association NPC, and “HOA” shall have a cognate
meaning;

b.

“Auditor”

means the auditors of the Association, being a
person accredited to perform an audit in terms of
the Auditing Professions Act, No. 26 of 2005;

c.

“Chairperson”

means the Chairperson of the Board of Directors;

d.

“Clearance Certificate”

means a certificate as envisaged in Sales and
transfer of properties (clause 6.5.3);

e.

“Clubhouse”

means the Clubhouse complex situated in the
Township;

f.

“Communal Property”

means property of the Association which Members
may use, subject to this MOI and any Rules and /
or directives applicable thereto;

g.

“Community Scheme Ombud Service”

means the service established in terms of the
Community Schemes Act;

h.

“Community Schemes Act”

means the Community Schemes Ombud Services
Act, No. 9 of 2011;

i.

“Companies Act”

means the Companies Act, No. 71 of 2008;

j.

“Debt”

means any amount howsoever arising, owed by a
Member to the Association, including but not limited
to amounts owed in respect of levies, special levies,
statutory levies, interest, penalties, clubhouse
services, golf club services and legal fees on an
attorney and own client scale;

k.

“Deeds Act”

means the Deeds Registries Act, No. 47 of 1937;

l.

“Deliver”

means delivery of any notice, letter and/or other
document either physically or electronically to the
Member
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at

the

address

recorded

in

the

Association’s register of Members;
m.

“Directors”

means the Directors of the Association (including
any ex-officio and co-opted Directors), who shall for
the purpose of the Companies Act be the Directors
of the Association, and a reference to the “Board”
or “Board of Directors” shall be to the Directors in
meeting;

n.

“Electoral Committee”

means a Committee established in accordance with
this MOI and the Rules of the Association, to attend
to the functions delegated to it by the Board or
under this MOI or the Rules;

o.

“Golf Course”

means the Golf Course situated in the Township;

p.

“Management”

means any person or body appointed by the Board
to

undertake

certain

administrative

and

management functions of the Association;
q.

“Member”

means a Member of the Association, as referred to
more fully in Membership and related matters,

r.

“Members Meeting”

means any general meeting of the Members, as
contemplated in this MOI;

s.

“MOI”

means the Memorandum of Incorporation of the
Association;

t.

“Notice”

means any written communication in notification
from the Association or its authorised delegate to a
member, an individual or entity;

u.

“Resolution”

means an ordinary resolution or a special resolution
as defined in the Companies Act, and adopted or
to be adopted at a Members Meeting;

v.

“Resident”

means a person living on the Estate, including
without limitation a tenant who has been officially
registered to stay on the Estate;

w.

“Round Robin Resolution”

means a resolution submitted to Members for
adoption as envisaged in section 60 of the
Companies Act and Members Meetings (clause
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5.12.4) of this MOI;
x.

“Rules”

means rules made, amended or repealed from time
to time by the Board, relating inter alia to the
management of the Estate and the conduct of the
Members, Residents, and their guests, employees
and invitees (which Rules shall include without
limitation conduct rules and architectural and
constructions rules); and "governance rules", which
are rules as envisaged in section 15(3) of the
Companies Act;

y.

“Sectional Titles Act”

means the Sectional Titles Act, No. 95 of 1986;

z.

“Sectional Titles Schemes Act”

means the Sectional Titles Schemes Management
Act, No. 8 of 2011;

aa.

“Sectional Title Unit”

means a unit as described in the Sectional Titles Act,
including without limitation primary sections and
utility sections;

bb.

“Special Resolution”

means a resolution being a resolution adopted at a
Members Meeting with the support of at least 75%
of the voting rights exercised on the resolution by the
Members present;

cc.

“Township”

means the Township of Silver Lakes comprising of
phases as referred to in the diagrams registered with
the Surveyor General as follows:
Phase 1 (Silver Lakes): SG No A5867/1992;
Phase 2 (Silver Lakes Ext 1): SG No 9521/2000;
Phase 2 (Silver Lakes Ext 2): SG No 9522/2000;
Phase 2 (Silver Lakes Ext 3): SG No 6337/2001;
Phase 2 (Silver Lakes Ext 4): SG No 6338/2001;
Phase 3 (Willow Acres Ext 3): SG No 2458/2002;
Phase 3 (Willow Acres Ext 4): SG No 2459/2002;
(Phase 3 (Willow Acres Ext 3): SG No 2458/2002
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and Phase 3 (Willow Acres Ext 4): SG No
2459/2002 shall collectively be known as the
‘Game Reserve’ or 'Nature Reserve’); and
“Estate” shall have a cognate meaning; to
Township;
dd.

“Unit”

means an erf, whether consolidated or comprising
a subdivision, as improved or unimproved and
including any outbuildings; or a Sectional Title Unit
(excluding any Sectional Title Unit in the Sectional
Title Scheme commonly known as Anni-Pad,
Scheme No. 75/2006); and whether used for
residential or business purposes, or both, and
further as may be defined in terms of the applicable
Town Planning Scheme with respect to the
Township;

ee.

“Writing” or “Written”

means written, printed, typewritten, lithographed,
telefaxed, electronically or any other process
producing words in a visible form.

B.

In this MOI, save where the contrary is expressly stated or appears from the context, a.

words signifying the singular shall include the plural and vice versa;

b.

words signifying one gender shall include the others;

c.

any words defined in the Companies Act and not defined hereunder shall bear the same meaning in this
MOI in relation to matters referred to herein;

d.

a reference to any Act shall include any amendment thereto or Act in substitution therefore;

e.

the headings to the clauses in this Memorandum of Incorporation are for reference purposes only and
shall not be taken into account in the interpretation of the provisions in this Memorandum of
Incorporation;

f.

any reference to days shall be a reference to the days of the week, i.e., Mondays to Sundays, and any
reference to business days shall be a reference to the days of the week excluding Saturdays, Sundays and
South African public holidays.

g.

any reference to being 'present’ at a meeting means to be present in person, or able to participate in
the meeting by electronic communication, or to be represented by a proxy who is present in person or
able to participate in the meeting by electronic communication;
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h.

any reference to a Member “in good standing” means a status of a Member having no Debts due and
payable to the Association, at the date of the determination of the status.

CLAUSES
1

Incorporation and Nature of the Association
1.1

Incorporation
1.1.1

The Association is a non-profit company, as defined in the Companies Act.

1.1.2

The Association is subject to and governed by:
1.1.2.1

the unalterable provisions of the Companies Act, that are applicable to nonprofit companies;

1.1.2.2

the alterable provisions of the Companies Act, that are applicable to non-profit
companies, subject to any limitation, extension, variation or substitution set out
in this MOI.

1.2

Objects and Powers of the Association
1.2.1

The Objects of the Association are those set out in Incorporation and Nature of the
Association (clause 1.2.4) and, except to the extent necessarily implied by the stated objects,
the purposes and powers of the Association are not subject to any restriction, limitation or
qualification, as contemplated in section 19 (1)(b)(ii) of the Companies Act.

1.2.2

The Association is not subject to any provision contemplated in section 15 (2)(b) or (c) of the
Companies Act.

1.2.3

Upon dissolution of the Association, its net assets must be distributed in the manner
determined in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act.

1.2.4

The objects of the Association are the following:
1.2.4.1

To serve the community group interests of the Members and to maintain and
develop security, aesthetic and environmental standards for the Estate.

1.2.4.2

Develop and promote the short- and long-term sustainability of the residential
and wildlife nature of the Estate and all ancillary objects which are necessary to
achieve these objects, including the carrying on of operations of the Golf
Course, Clubhouse and Game Reserve situated in the Township;
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1.2.5

The Association1.2.5.1

must apply all its assets and income, however derived, to advance its stated
objects, as set out in this MOI; and

1.2.5.2

subject to Incorporation and Nature of the Association (clause 1.2.5.1), may
1.2.5.2.1

acquire and hold securities issued by a profit company; or

1.2.5.2.2

directly or indirectly, alone or with any other person, carry on
any business, trade or undertaking consistent with or ancillary to
its stated objects.

1.3

MOI and Rules
1.3.1

This MOI may be altered or amended only in the manner set out in section 16, 17 or 152
(6) (b) of the Companies Act.

1.3.2

The authority of the Association’s Board of Directors to make Rules for the Association, as
contemplated in section 15 (3) to (5) of the Companies Act is not limited or restricted in any
manner by this MOI.

1.3.3

The Board must publish any Rules made in terms of section 15 (3) to (5) of the Companies
Act by Delivering a copy of those Rules to each Director and Member.

1.3.4

The Association must publish a notice of any alteration of the MOI or the Rules, made in
terms of section 17 (1) of the Companies Act by delivering a written copy physically or
electronically.

1.4

Optional provisions of the Companies Act, do not apply
The Association does not elect, in terms of section 34 (2) of the Companies Act, to comply voluntarily
with the provisions of Chapter 3 of the Companies Act.

1.5

Members of the Association
The Association has Members, who are all in a single class, being voting Members, each of whom has
an equal vote in any matter to be decided by the Members of the Association, subject to the provisions
of this MOI.

2

General Provisions
2.1

The Association must not, directly or indirectly, pay any portion of its income or transfer any of its
assets, regardless how the income or asset was derived, to any person who is or was an
incorporator of the Association, or who is a Member or Director, or person appointing a Director, of
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the Association, except2.1.1

as reasonable remuneration for goods delivered or services rendered to, or at the direction
of, the Association; or

2.1.2

payment of, or reimbursement for, expenses incurred to advance a stated object of the
Association;

2.1.3

as a payment of an amount due and payable by the Association in terms of a bona
fide agreement between the Association and that person or another;

2.1.4

as a payment in respect of any rights of that person, to the extent that such rights are
administered by the Association in order to advance a stated object of the Association; or

2.1.5
2.2

in respect of any legal obligation binding on the Association.

Despite any provision in any law or agreement to the contrary, upon the winding-up or dissolution of
the

Association, only present Members of the Association are entitled to the net value of the

Association after its obligations and liabilities have been satisfied.
2.3

Any proposal to dispose of all or the greater part of the assets or undertaking of the Association
or to amalgamate or merge with another non-profit company, must be approved by Members in
a manner comparable to that required of profit companies in accordance with s ection 112 and
113 of the Companies Act, respectively.

2.4

In terms of the conditions of establishment of the Township, the Association has the right to operate an
access control system to verify the identity of all persons entering and exiting the Township in accordance
with its main object to enhance the security of all residents. All Members and residents will have free
access to the Township on verification of valid identification.

3

Membership and related matters
3.1

Membership of the Association is limited to any person who is, in terms of the Deeds Act, reflected in
the records of the deed’s registry concerned as the registered owner of a Unit in the Township. A
person so reflected as the registered owner of a Unit, subject to proof to the contrary, is deemed to be
registered owner thereof.

3.2

A person becomes a Member of the Association upon transfer of a Unit into his name and such
membership continues until the Member ceases to be the owner of a Unit unless such Member owns
any other Unit(s).

3.3

In the event of any sale of a Unit, the Member must procure that the following conditions of title are
recorded in the offer to purchase and / or deed of sale and brought over in the new title deed in terms
of which any purchaser takes title to the relevant Unit:
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“Every owner of the Unit, or any subdivision thereof, or any interest therein, or any Unit
thereon, as defined in the Sectional Titles Act, shall automatically become and shall remain
a Member of the Association and be subject to its Memorandum of Incorporation and
Rules, until he ceases to be an owner as aforesaid.
Neither the Unit nor any subdivision thereof, or any interest therein, nor any Unit thereon,
shall be transferred to any person who has not bound himself to the satisfaction of such
Association to become a Member of the Association.
The owner of the Unit, or any subdivision thereof, or any interest therein, or any Unit
thereon as defined in the Sectional Titles Act, shall not be entitled to transfer the Unit or
any subdivision thereof, or any interest therein, or any Unit thereon, without a clearance
certificate from the Association which certifies that the provisions of the Memorandum of
Incorporation of the Association have been complied with.
The term “Association” in the aforesaid conditions of title shall mean the Silver Lakes
Homeowners Association NPC (1992/004661/08), and the definitions in the
Memorandum of Incorporation shall apply to the said conditions.”
In the event where the Registrar of Deeds require the amendment of such conditions, in
any manner in order to effect registration of a Unit, the purchaser hereby agrees to such
amendment.”
3.4

Concurrently with every offer to purchase and / or deed of sale in respect of a Unit in the Township,
every prospective Member must also sign a consent in the prescribed form wherein he consents to his
membership of the Association.

3.5

The fact that a person ceases to be a Member of the Association because of the transfer of a Unit
to another person, does not release such Member from any liability to the Association in respect of
any Debt, the cause of which arose prior to the transfer of such Unit, nor otherwise relieve such
erstwhile Member from any other obligations owed to the Association during the period of his
membership.

3.6

Where a Unit is owned by more than 1 (one) person all the registered owners of that Unit are
deemed to be collectively 1 ( one) Member of the Association and have the rights and obligations
of 1 (one) Member of the Association; provided however that all co-owners of any Unit are jointly
and severally liable for the due performance of any obligation to the Association.

3.7

Where a Unit is owned by more than 1 (one) person, such co-registered owners shall designate 1 (one)
of them to represent the others as Member. A power of attorney must be provided to the Association
evidencing such authority, without derogating from the rights of such Member to provide a separate
authority (proxy) for purposes of any Members Meeting.

3.8

Where a Member is a legal entity (company, close corporation, trust or other entity, whether
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incorporated or unincorporated) such Member must designate a person to represent it with respect to
the Association. A power of attorney must be provided by the legal entity to the Association evidencing
the authority of the person, without derogating from the rights of such Member to provide a separate
authority (proxy) for purposes of any Members Meeting.
3.9

Where a Member is a legal entity (company, close corporation, trust or other entity, whether
incorporated or unincorporated), the shareholders, Directors, Trustees and/or members of such legal
entity shall be personally liable, jointly and severally with such Member, for the due performance by
the Member of all its obligations in terms of the MOI and/or Rules.

3.10

A registered owner of the Unit may not resign as a Member of the Association.

3.11

The Association will maintain at its registered office, alternatively at the office of Management, a
register of Members of the Association as provided in item 1(9) of Schedule 1 to the Companies Act.

3.12

The register of Members will be open to inspection on reasonable notice during normal business
hours of the Association.

3.13

Each Member will be required to provide the Association with Written details of his service address for
physical service, and an email address for email service.

3.14

For purposes of legal action, the physical address of the Unit of a Member will be the domicilium citandi
et executandi of the Member.

If he wishes to change such domicilium address he must give Written

notice to that effect to the Association. If the said domicilium of the Member is changed to an address
which is not in Pretoria, the Member agrees to the jurisdiction of the Magistrates Court of Pretoria.
3.15

The domicilium citandi et executandi of the Association for purposes of legal action is 27 Muirfield
Boulevard, Silver Lakes, 0054.

3.16

The domicilium citandi et executandi for any tenant / occupier of a Unit for purposes of legal action is
the address of the Unit.

3.17

A Member, and not the Association, remains solely responsible for the accuracy of information
concerning such Member and provided to the Association and such Member is liable for all
consequences resulting from any inaccurate information furnished.

4

Rights and obligations of Members
4.1

Rights of Members
4.1.1

Representation by concurrent proxies
The right of a Member of the Association to appoint persons concurrently as proxies, as set
out in section 58 (3)(a) of the Companies Act is not limited, restricted or varied by this MOI.
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4.1.2

Authority of proxy to delegate
The authority of a Member’s proxy to delegate the proxy’s powers to another person, as set
out in section 58 (3)(b) of the Companies Act is not limited or restricted by this MOI.

4.1.3

Requirement to deliver proxy instrument to the Association
The requirement that a Member must deliver to the Association a copy of the instrument
appointing a proxy before that proxy may exercise the Member’s rights at a Members Meeting,
as set out in section 58 (3)(c) of the Companies Act is varied by this MOI to the extent that it
is preferred that the proxy instrument is delivered 48 hours before the time.

4.1.4

Deliberative authority of proxy
The authority of a Member’s proxy to decide without direction from the Member whether to
exercise, or abstain from exercising any voting right of the Member, as set out in section 58
(7) of the Companies Act is not limited or restricted by this MOI.

4.1.5

Record date for exercise of Member rights
If, at any time, the Association’s Board of Directors fails to determine a record date, as
contemplated in section 59 of the Companies Act, the record date for the relevant matter is
as determined in Members Meetings (clause 5).

4.2

Obligations of Members
4.2.1

Subject to Directors and Officers (clause 7) below, Members must elect Directors annually at
a Members Meeting of the Association or by way of Round Robin Resolution, envisaged in
Members Meetings (clause 5.12.3).

4.2.2

Members should use their best endeavours to further the interests of the Association in
pursuance of its objects. Members must refrain from bringing the Association in disrepute and
refrain from unauthorised use of the trademarks of the Association.

4.2.3

Members must diligently and promptly comply with the obligations imposed in terms of this
MOI and observe all provisions of this MOI and the Rules referred to in Rules. Members
must further take all reasonable steps to ensure compliance t herewith by their families,
employees, agents, contractors, tenants, visitors, trusted individuals, guests and in the case
of any Member who conducts any form of business or profession on or from a Unit, which
may only be done with the consent of the Association, his customers, clients, patients or other
patrons. Despite the aforesaid, Members are liable at all times for the conduct of –
4.2.3.1

their families, employees, agents, contractors, tenants, visitors, trusted
individuals, guests and in the case of any Member who conducts any form of
business or profession on or from a Unit, which may only be done with the
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consent of the Association, his customers, clients, patients or other patrons; or
4.2.3.2

in the case of Members who are juristic persons and Trusts, also their directors,
shareholders, members, trustees, beneficiaries and such other representatives
and / or related or inter-related persons as may be applicable in the
circumstances;

4.2.4

If despite written demand by the Association, a Member fails or refuses to comply with any
aspect of the MOI and Rules or to repair and maintain a Unit owned by that Member in a
neat and tidy condition and state of good repair, 4.2.4.1

the Association may remedy the Member’s failure and recover the reasonable
cost of doing so from that Member; provided that in the case of an emergency,
no demand or notice need be given to the Member concerned; and / or

4.2.4.2

the Member shall be liable for a penalty, as determined by the Board from time
to time.

4.2.5

A Member m u s t n o t let or otherwise part with occupation of such Member’s Unit,
whether temporarily or otherwise, unless such proposed tenant or occupier of the Unit has
agreed in Writing –
4.2.5.1

to be bound by and observe the terms and conditions of this MOI including
the Rules referred to in Rules; and

4.2.5.2

that his or her domicilium citandi et executandi for purposes of legal action is
the address of the Unit;

such obligations to comprise a stipulatio alteri (contract f o r t h e b e n e f i t of a third party)
in favour of the Association, without derogating from the liability and responsibility of the
Member for the acts and omissions of such proposed tenant or occupier as referred to in this
MOI.
4.2.6

The owner of a Unit may not subdivide an erf or erect a second dwelling on the same erf,
irrespective of whether consent is granted by any lawful authority, unless the prior and explicit
written approval of the Association has been obtained.

4.2.7

The owner of a Unit may not rezone an erf or in any way change the use for which an erf has
been zoned, whether by way of rezoning or a consent use or otherwise, irrespective of whether
consent is granted by any lawful authority, unless the prior and explicit written approval of the
Association has been obtained.

4.2.8

A business, or any part thereof, may not be conducted from a Unit without the prior written
consent of the Association having been obtained and provided further that all conditions of
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this MOI, the Rules of the Association, the relevant town planning scheme and/or title deed
have been complied with.
4.2.9

A Member or any other occupier of a Unit may not:
4.2.9.1

Contravene the provisions of any law or by-law relating to the use of a Unit;

4.2.9.2

Contravene the conditions of title applicable to the Unit; or

4.2.9.3

Construct or place any structure or building improvement on a Communal
Property, it being the intention that only the Association shall be entitled to do
so.

4.2.10

A Member is liable for and must pay to the Association all legal costs and disbursements (as
taxed on an attorney and own client scale or agreed with the Member) incurred by the
Association in enforcing compliance with this MOI, the Rules or the Companies Act.

4.2.11

A Member is obliged to ensure that information of and concerning such Member, and held
by the Association, is accurate, up to date and true. Should any change occur with regards
to such information, a Member is obliged to duly and within 7 (seven) days from date of
change, inform the Association thereof in Writing.

4.3

The rights and obligations of a Member shall not be capable of being ceded and/or assigned, in whole
or in part, nor otherwise be transferable, provided that nothing in this MOI shall prevent a Member from
ceding the Member’s rights in terms of this MOI as security to the mortgagee of that Member’s Unit.

4.4

A Member is not entitled to any of the privileges of membership of the Association, including without
limitation the right to vote at a Members Meeting, unless and until the Member has paid every Debt,
from whatsoever cause arising, due and payable by the Member to the Association.

5

Members Meetings
5.1

Requirement to hold meetings
The Association is required, in addition to such meetings specifically required by the Companies Act, to
hold the Members Meetings contemplated in this MOI.

5.2

Members’ right to call a meeting
The right of Members to call a meeting, as set out in section 61 (3) of the Companies Act, is not altered
by this MOI.

5.3

Location of Members Meetings
The authority of the Association’s Board of Directors to determine the location of any Members Meeting,
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and the authority of the Association to hold any such meeting, as set out in section 61 (9) of the
Companies Act is not limited or restricted by this MOI.
5.4

Notice of Members Meetings
5.4.1

Each Members Meeting must be called by Written notice of at least 15 (fifteen) business days
before the date set for the Members Meeting concerned.

5.4.2

The notice convening each a Members Meeting must specify the place, the day and hour of
the Members Meeting and must otherwise contain details of the business, including where
relevant, special business, to be conducted at the Members Meeting.

5.4.3

In the event that special business is to be conducted at a Members Meeting, the notice
convening the Members Meeting shall contain adequate motivation and information to
enable the Members to make an informed decision.

5.4.4

Before any Member may attend or participate in a Members Meeting, that Member must be
in good standing, present reasonably satisfactory identification and the meeting Chairperson
must be reasonably satisfied that the right of that person to participate and vote, either as a
Member, or as a proxy of a Member, has been reasonably verified.

5.4.5

The record date for Members Meetings will be the last day upon which notice of the Members
Meeting may be given.

5.5

Electronic participation in Members Meetings
The authority of the Association to conduct a meeting entirely by electronic communication, or to provide
for participation in a meeting by electronic communication, as set out in section 63 of the Companies
Act, is not limited or restricted by this MOI.

5.6

Quorum for Members Meetings
5.6.1

The quorum requirement for a Members Meeting to begin, is 7% (seven percent) of the
Members of the HOA as at the record date of the Meeting.

5.6.2

A Members Meeting may not begin and a matter to be decided at the Members Meeting may
not begin to be considered, unless a quorum is present within 15 (fifteen) minutes of the time
specified for the commencement of the meeting. The meeting Chairperson has the right to
extend the 15 (fifteen) minute period by a reasonable amount of time to allow for exceptional
circumstances as described in the Companies Act.

5.6.3

If within 15 (fifteen) minutes, or such extended time as allowed by the meeting Chairperson,
from the time specified for the holding of a Members Meeting, a quorum is not present, the
Members Meeting shall be postponed without motion, vote or further notice for 1 (one) week,
at the same place and time. If at the adjourned Members Meeting a quorum is not present
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within 15 (fifteen) minutes from the time appointed for holding the Members Meeting, the
Members present constitute a quorum.
5.6.4

For the purposes of establishing a quorum, Units registered in the name of the Association is
not taken into account and the Association is not be considered to be a Member.

5.6.5

After a quorum has been established for a Members Meeting, or for a matter to be considered
at a Members Meeting, the Members Meeting may continue, or the matter may be
considered, so long as at least 1 (one) Member with voting rights entitled to be exercised at
the Members Meeting, or on that matter, is present at the Members Meeting.

5.7

Adjournment of Members Meetings and Further Provisions
5.7.1

A Members Meeting, or the consideration of any matter being debated at the Members
Meeting, may be adjourned from time to time without further notice, subject to Members
Meetings (clause 5.7.2) below, on a motion supported by Members entitled to exercise, in
aggregate, a majority of the voting rights5.7.1.1

held by all of the Members who are present at the Members Meeting at the
time; and

5.7.1.2

that are entitled to be exercised on at least one matter remaining on the agenda
of the Members Meeting, or on the matter under debate, as the case may be.

5.7.2

An adjournment of a Members Meeting, or of consideration of a matter being debated at the
Members Meeting, 5.7.2.1

may be either5.7.2.1.1

to a fixed time and place; or

5.7.2.1.2

until further notice,

as agreed at the meeting; and
5.7.2.2

requires that a further notice be given to Members only if the meeting
determined that the adjournment was 'until further notice', as contemplated in
Members Meetings (clause 5.7.2.1.2) above.

5.7.3

No business must be transacted at any adjourned Members Meeting other than the business
which failed to be transacted at the Members Meeting from which the adjournment took
place.

5.8

Maximum period allowed for an adjournment of Members Meetings
The maximum period allowable for an adjournment of a Members Meeting is as set out in section 64
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(12) of the Companies Act, without variation.
5.9

Proxies
5.9.1

A Member may be represented at a Members Meeting by a proxy, who need not be a
Member. A Member may appoint more than 1 (one) proxy per Unit the Member owns. A
proxy may delegate such proxy’s vote to another proxy.

5.9.2

The Association must provide each Member with a proxy invitation for a specific Members
Meeting, which remain valid until the end of the Members Meeting, or any postponement
thereof.

5.9.3

In the event of a trust, company or close corporation resolving to authorise a natural person,
who is not a related or interrelated person (as defined in the Companies Act), to attend, speak
and vote in person or by proxy at a Members Meeting, a written resolution should accompany
a duly completed proxy instrument.

5.9.4

The instrument used by Members to appoint a proxy must be in Writing, dated and duly signed
by the Member concerned (or such Member’s appointed agent duly authorised in Writing).

5.9.5

Proxies will be accepted via a designated Association e-mail address in accordance with the
Electronic Communications and Transactions Act, No. 25 of 2002.

5.9.6

In addition to Members Meeting (clauses 5.9.4 and 5.9.5) above, the Association may
provide a platform to Members to submit proxies in the prescribed format via a secure
electronic portal.

5.9.7

A proxy instrument, other than the proxy invitation instrument issued by the Association, issued
by a Member remains valid for:
5.9.7.1

1 (one) year after the date on which it was signed; or

5.9.7.2

any longer or shorter period expressly set out in the appointment, unless it is
revoked in a manner contemplated in the Companies Act or expires earlier as
contemplated in Members Meetings (clause 5.9.2) above for proxies issued by
the Association.

5.9.8

A proxy invitation issued by the Association remains valid only until the end of the meeting for
which it was intended.

5.9.9

The Electoral Committee’s ruling on the validity of any proxy instrument is final and binding
unless reviewed by a competent authority.

5.9.10

A vote given in accordance with the terms of a proxy shall be valid notwithstanding the death
or insolvency of the principal prior to the time of voting, or subsequent revocation of the
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proxy, provided, however, that no intimation of the death or insolvency, or revocation, should
have been received by the Association and the proxy at any time prior to the vote being taken
in respect of which the proxy exercise such vote.
5.9.11

In order to accurately determine the authority and rights of the proxy holder, the proxy
document should preferably be in the format issued by the Association which may be
submitted in printed format or electronically.

5.10

Members resolutions
5.10.1

For an ordinary resolution to be adopted at a Members Meeting, it must be supported by
more than 50 (fifty) % of the voting rights exercised on the resolution by Members present at
the Members Meeting.

5.10.2

For a special resolution to be adopted at a Members Meeting, it must be supported by at
least 75 (seventy-five) % of the voting rights exercised on the resolution by Members present
at the Members Meeting.

5.10.3

In addition to those matters set out in section 65 (11) of the Companies Act, a special
resolution adopted at a Members Meeting is required for the following matters to be
determined by the Association:
5.10.3.1

The subdividing, sale, purchase or amending the zoning of any immovable
property owned by the Association;

5.11

Annual General Meeting (“AGM”)
5.11.1

The Association must convene and hold an AGM once in every calendar year, but not more
than 15 (fifteen) months after the previous AGM.

5.11.2

The notice convening the AGM must be Delivered to the Members and must contain an
agenda of the business to be conducted, which may include inter alia the following business:
5.11.2.1

presentation of the Chairperson’s report;

5.11.2.2

presentation of the report by the Audit & Risk Committee;

5.11.2.3

presentation of the report by the Social, Ethics and Governance Committee;

5.11.2.4

presentation of Directors’ Reports, Auditor’s Report and audited Annual
Financial statements for the previous financial year;

5.11.2.5

presentation of the administrative and capital budgets for the next financial year
and the determination of levies and the approval thereof;

5.11.2.6

the appointment of the Association’s Auditors and the approval of the
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remuneration payable to the Auditors;
5.11.2.7

the remuneration of the Directors as more fully dealt with in Directors and
Officers;

5.11.2.8
5.12

any other relevant business.

Extraordinary General Meeting (“EGM”) and Round Robin Resolutions
5.12.1

The Board may, whenever it deems fit, convene an EGM for dealing with extraordinary or
special business not dealt with at an AGM, and must call such a meeting in terms of section
61(3) of the Companies Act, if –
5.12.1.1

1 (one) or more written and signed demands for such a Members Meeting are
delivered to the Association; and

5.12.1.2

each such demand describes the specific purpose for which the Members
Meeting is proposed; and

5.12.1.3

in aggregate, demands for substantially the same purposes are made and
signed by Members, as of the earliest time specified in any of those demands,
of at least 5 (five) % of the voting rights entitled to be exercised in relation to
the matter proposed to be considered at the Members Meeting.

5.12.2

An EGM may be held at a date, time and place as the Directors may determine, subject to
the provisions of the Companies Act read together with this MOI.

5.12.3

The Board may, as an alternative to calling an EGM, and insofar as is practical and in
accordance with the provisions of section 60 of the Companies Act, 5.12.3.1

submit a resolution for consideration to the Members entitled to exercise voting
rights in relation to the resolution; and

5.12.3.2

such resolution may be voted on in Writing by the Members entitled to exercise
voting rights in relation to the resolution within 20 (twenty) business days after
the resolution was submitted to them.

5.12.4

A resolution contemplated in Members Meetings (clause 5.12.3) is referred to as a Round
Robin Resolution and 5.12.4.1

will have been adopted if it is supported by persons entitled to exercise sufficient
voting rights for it to have been adopted as an ordinary or special resolution,
as the case may be, as a properly constituted Members Meeting; and

5.12.4.2

if adopted, has the same effect as if it had been approved at a Members
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Meeting.
5.12.5

Despite any other provision in this MOI to the contrary, an election of Directors that could be
conducted at a Members Meeting, may instead be conducted by written polling to all of the
Members entitled to exercise voting rights in relation to the election of Directors.

5.12.6

Within 10 (ten) business days after adopting a resolution submitted as contemplated in
Members Meetings (clause 5.12.3), the Association must deliver a statement describing the
results of the vote, consent process or election to every Member who was entitled to vote on
or consent to the resolution, or vote in the election of Directors, as the case may be.

5.13

Resolutions and amendments thereof
5.13.1

Every motion and every amended motion proposed for adoption as a resolution by a
Members Meeting must be seconded and if not so seconded, must be deemed not to have
been proposed.

5.13.2

A motion proposed for adoption may only be amended at a Members Meeting in order to
correct a patent error in spelling, punctuation, reference, grammar or similar defect on the
face of the document itself.

5.14

Voting
5.14.1

Voting Rights
5.14.1.1

At every Members Meeting, every Member is entitled to vote in person or by
proxy [as determined in Members Meeting (clause 5.9)] and has 1 (one) vote
for each Unit registered in such Member’s name.

5.14.1.2

For the purposes of any vote, the votes of any Units registered in the name of
the Association are considered abstentions.

5.14.2

Voting Determination
5.14.2.1

At any Members Meeting a motion put to the vote must be decided on a show
of hands unless –
5.14.2.1.1

a poll is proposed by the meeting Chairperson; or

5.14.2.1.2

demand for such vote is made by –
5.14.2.1.2.1 at least five persons having the right to vote on that
matter, either as a Member or a proxy representing
a Member; or
5.14.2.1.2.2 a person who is, or persons who together are,
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entitled, as a Member or proxy representing a
Member, to exercise at least 10% of the voting
rights entitled to be voted on that matter.
5.14.2.2

A poll must be taken in the form of a ballot, which may be done in writing or
electronically.

5.14.2.3

Unless a poll is demanded before or on the declaration of the result of a show
of hands, a declaration by the meeting Chairperson that a motion has, on a
show of hands, been carried or defeated, must be entered in the minute book
of the Association and is conclusive evidence of the fact, without proof of the
number or proportion of the votes recorded in favour of or against such motion.

5.14.2.4

Voting for a change to the MOI may be done with 1 (one) vote to approve all
changes, or where there is any objection, then the changes will be voted on
individually.

5.14.2.5

A demand for a poll may be withdrawn.

5.14.2.6

If a poll is demanded, it must be taken in such a manner as the meeting
Chairperson directs, and the result of the poll is deemed to be the resolution of
the Members Meeting at which the poll was demanded.

5.14.2.7

Scrutineers must be appointed by a show of hands at the Members Meeting to
determine the results of the poll.

5.14.2.8

A poll demanded with respect to any adjournment must be taken forthwith.

5.14.2.9

A poll demanded on any other question must be taken at such time as the
meeting Chairperson directs.

5.14.2.10

The demand for a poll must not prevent the continuation of the Members
Meeting for the transaction of any business other than the question upon which
the poll has been demanded.

5.14.2.11

Unless any Member present in person or by proxy at a Members Meeting, prior
to closure of the Members Meeting, objects to the correctness or validity of the
procedure at such Members Meeting, the Members Meeting shall in all respects
be deemed to have been properly and validly constituted and conducted.

5.15

Conduct of Meetings
5.15.1

The Chairperson of the Board should preside as Chairperson at all Members Meetings. If the
Chairperson is not present within 15 (fifteen) minutes of the scheduled time for the start of the
Members Meeting or in the event of such Chairperson’s inability or unwillingness to act, the
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Board can appoint one of its directors present at the Members Meeting to fulfil this function.
If the Board intends making use of a person other than a Board member to chair the Members
Meeting, the Members present shall be afforded the opportunity to nominate and elect the
meeting Chairperson by show of hands by ordinary resolution.
5.15.2

The Chairperson must:
5.15.2.1

Maintain order, regulate the orderly expression of views and guide Members
and other participants through the business of the Members Meeting in
accordance with the conduct of Members Meetings;

5.15.2.2

Ensure that all motions and amendments proposed are within the scope of the
notice and powers of the Members Meeting;

5.15.2.3

Ensure that the Association’s MOI, Rules, the minute books and any other
official documents relevant to the items of business on the agenda are available
at the Members Meeting;

5.15.2.4

Act fairly, impartially and courteously to all Members and others entitled to
attend the Members Meeting;

5.15.2.5

Ensure that all Members and others entitled to speak are able to express their
views about matters contained to the agenda only without unnecessary
disturbance or interruption;

5.15.2.6

Adjourn the Members Meeting at the Chairperson’s discretion, when it is not
able to complete or continue with its business;

5.15.2.7

Make decisions on points of procedure;

5.15.2.8

Settle disputes by giving rulings on points of order;

5.15.2.9

Surrender the chair to a temporary Chairperson for the elections part of the
Members Meeting where the Chairperson stands for re-election.

5.16

Minutes of Members Meetings
5.16.1

The Directors shall cause minutes of each Members Meeting to be kept, which minutes must
be reduced to writing within 60 (Sixty) days and certified as correct by the Chairperson at the
next Members Meeting.
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6

Financial
6.1

Budgets
6.1.1

The Association will prepare separate budgets for the administrative and capital maintenance
funds comprising itemised estimates of the anticipated income and expenses for presentation
at the AGM.

6.1.2

The budgets shall be sufficient to meet the Association’s necessary and other reasonably
foreseeable administrative and capital maintenance expenses and shall also cater for annual
and otherwise non-recurring costs, including a separate provision in respect of reserve funds,
which budgets shall further specify separately the estimated surplus or deficit, if any, carried
forward from the preceding financial year.

6.1.3

The administrative fund must be used to fund the day-to-day operating expenses of the
Association for a particular financial year.

6.1.4

Subject to the hereinafter stated provisions, the levies payable by the Members will be
determined by dividing the net budgeted expenditure by the number of levy paying Units,
excluding the Units registered in the name of the Association.

6.1.5

The Association must prepare a written Capital Maintenance Plan for the maintenance,
repair, addition and replacement of communal property, for adoption by Members at an
AGM, setting out:
6.1.5.1

The capital items expected to require maintenance, repair, additions and
replacement within the next 3 (three) years; and

6.1.5.2
6.1.6

The estimated cost of the maintenance, repair, additions and replacement.

The Capital Maintenance Fund must be used for the cost of maintenance, repair,
improvement, additions and replacement of capital items of the communal property and for
any unexpected essential capital costs not budgeted for the current year. The Directors must
report to each AGM the extent to which the approved capital maintenance fund had been
applied.

6.1.7

The administrative and capital maintenance funds must be accounted for and reported on
separately. The Board shall furnish Members with interim accounts of both funds at the end
of each quarter. Expenditure of reserve funds must be communicated and duly motivated to
Members with at least 30 (thirty) days’ notice prior to incurring the expenditure.

6.1.8

The Directors shall, in their normal administration and management of the Association, not
exceed the budgets as approved, nor increase the levies or impose any additional levies or
raise any special levies, other than as provided for in Financial (clause 6.2.1), with respect to
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any non-essential expenditure, unless a due motivation has been made available to Members
and such additional levies and/or special levies, as the case may be, have been approved by
the Members at a Members Meeting.
6.1.9

The budget must be tabled at the AGM for adoption by the Members, in the form as tabled
or with such amendments or modifications and restrictions as the Members may resolve at
the AGM.

6.1.10

The budget must be Delivered to Members and copies must be available for collection at the
offices of Management not later than 15 (fifteen) business days prior to the date of the AGM.

6.2

Levies
6.2.1

The Association may, on the authority of a written Board resolution:
6.2.1.1

Increase the contributions due by Members by a maximum of the Consumer
Price Index (“CPI”) at the end of a financial year to take account of anticipated
increased liabilities of the Association pending the approval of budgets at a
Members Meeting, which increase will remain effective until Members receive
notice of the contributions due by them for the next financial year as approved
by a Members Meeting; provided that the Directors must give notice of such
increased contributions similar to Financial (clause 6.2.1.3). Any difference
between the CPI increase and levies approved at a Members Meeting will be
adjusted accordingly on Member statements within 30 (thirty) days.

6.2.1.2

Recover from Members in the form of a specified additional levy any amounts
imposed upon the Association by any relevant authority in terms of any
legislation, where such liabilities were not provided for at the time of the
approval of the prevailing budget. At least 30 (thirty) days’ notice of the effective
date of such additional levy will be given.

6.2.1.3

The Association must advise each Member, in Writing, 30 (thirty) days before
the increase and after ratification at the AGM, of the amount of the levies
payable by such Member for the affected financial year, which notice must:
6.2.1.3.1

State that the Member has an obligation to pay the specified
contribution and charges; and

6.2.1.3.2

Specify the due date for each payment; and

6.2.1.3.3

State that interest at a rate specified in the notice will be payable
on any overdue contributions and charges; and

6.2.1.3.4

Include details of the dispute resolution process that applies in
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respect of disputed contributions and charges.
6.2.1.4

Members will be obliged to pay any newly imposed levies with effect from the
date stipulated in the Written notice as Delivered to the Member, consequent
upon the approval of the budget.

6.2.1.5

The annual levies are payable either upfront or in equal monthly instalments,
due in advance on the first day of each and every month of each financial year.

6.2.1.6

Additional levies and special levies must similarly be payable over the period
indicated by the Association in its Written notice Delivered to Members.

6.2.2

Differentiated and Weighted Levies
6.2.2.1

The Directors are entitled to differentiate with regard to the levy responsibility
attaching to any Unit and/or to weight the levies payable in respect of any Unit
(these rights extending to any additional levies and special levies).

6.2.2.2

In differentiating or weighting as aforesaid, the Directors may have regard to
the nature, extent of occupation, type of Unit, use of the Unit (residential and/or
business), the zoning of the Unit, the size/composition of the erf and such other
relevant criteria as the Directors may in their sole discretion determine,

6.2.2.3

In effecting a determination of differentiated or weighted levies, the Directors
may take into account and apply, to the extent deemed relevant, inter alia the
following principles and prescriptions:
6.2.2.3.1

Whether there are costs that can directly be allocated to a Unit,
and thereby to the Member (as owner of the Unit) in respect of,
inter alia, municipal and other local authority’s service and other
charges (which are not provided for in the Unit levies payable by
the Member);

6.2.2.3.2

A proportion of the costs relating to the Estate generally should
be assigned to all Units (including undeveloped erven) equitably;

6.2.2.3.3

Whether it is necessary to impose additional levies in respect of a
Unit due to the zoning of the Unit and / or where any business is
conducted on or from the Unit;

6.2.2.3.4

Whether a Sectional Title Unit is a primary section (designed to
be used for human occupation) or a utility section (designed not
to be used for human occupation, such as a storeroom,
workshop, parking garage or other utility area, not being a
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primary section);
6.2.2.3.5

Whether levies are paid by way of prepayments, cash payments,
card payments, and/or payments by debit order;

6.2.2.3.6

disclose such differentiated or weighted levies in the annual
budget.

6.2.2.4

The Directors shall exercise their discretion reasonably, taking into account the
provisions as herein above set out, and such other relevant criteria as the
Directors consider necessary.

6.2.2.5

A Member shall be entitled to Deliver an objection in Writing to the Association
within not more than 30 (thirty) days after delivery of the Written notification of
differentiated/weighted levies payable by such Member (as the owner of the
affected Unit) and the following further provisions shall apply in respect thereof:
6.2.2.5.1

the Directors shall not entertain any objection which is not
received within the aforementioned prescribed period;

6.2.2.5.2

the Directors shall review the determination with respect to the
affected levy and take into account the objection received;

6.2.2.5.3

the complainant Member shall be entitled to be provided with the
calculation and determination as effected by the Directors;

6.2.2.5.4

the Directors shall convene, as soon as reasonably possible, a
meeting with the complainant Member (and should there be more
than 1 (one) complainant, those complainants collectively) and
hear such further representations as the complainant Member
may wish to make;

6.2.2.5.5

the Directors shall, in consequence of such processes, either reject
the complaint (and confirm the determination of the effected
levies) or review the determination and Deliver their Written
determination to the complainants within a reasonable period;

6.2.2.5.6

in all events the Directors’ determination (whether confirming the
determination or revising same), shall be final and binding upon
the Association and the affected complainant Member.

6.2.2.6

The aforementioned shall not preclude any Member from approaching a
competent court for the review of the Directors’ final decision.
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6.2.3

Building penalty levies
6.2.3.1

The Directors shall be empowered to impose penalty levies on Members who
have failed to comply with the obligation to build within the prescribed time
periods, as contemplated in the Rules, which levies shall be payable in addition
to levies normally applicable to a Unit.

6.3

Insurance
The insurance cover of the Association must follow a proper risk assessment and provide adequate
cover against replacement value, standard risks, and the CSOS Act prescribed amounts of public liability
and fidelity insurance. The Association must obtain a replacement valuation at least every 5 (five) years
of all buildings and improvements to the communal property it must insure and adjust the insurance
values accordingly.

6.4

Debt
6.4.1

Members are liable for, and must pay interest on any Debt due to the Association, at a rate
as published in the notice referred to in Financial (clause 6.2.1.3.3), such interest to be
compounded from the due date to the date of actual payment, both days inclusive.

6.4.2

Where payment of any amount raised or Debt is not received in full on or by the due date,
including dishonoured cheques or debit orders, the Association are, in addition to the levying
of interest as stipulated in Financial (clause 6.2.1.3.3), entitled to charge a 10 (ten) % latepenalty fee in respect of the total debt due on each such occurrence, such fee to be added
to the levy account. The default may in addition be listed with a recognised credit bureau.

6.4.3

Payments must be allocated as follows: first to outstanding interest, then to legal and
collection costs, then to penalties and finally to levies.

6.4.4

Any Member whose Debt is in arrears for a period in excess of 30 (thirty) days may not
proceed with any building construction until the arrear Debts have been settled in full, and
no building plans in anticipation of any construction will be approved by the Association until
the aforesaid full settlement of Debt.

6.4.5

The Debt will be payable to the Association free of exchange, deduction or commission.

6.4.6

The obligation of a Member to pay levies must terminate upon such Member ceasing to be
a Member, without prejudice to the Association’s rights to recover any Debt.

6.4.7

Where a Member is in arrears with payment of any Debt the Association is, in addition to the
provisions of Financial (clauses 6.4.1 and 6.4.2) supra, entitled to enforce such recovery
proceedings and exercise such other legal remedies as are available to the Association in
terms of the MOI and/or Rules, or at law.
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6.4.8

In the event of the Directors seeking legal advice, taking any legal steps and/or implementing
any legal proceeding, the Association shall be entitled to recover from the offending Member
on an attorney and own client scale the costs thereof, together with all relevant disbursements.

6.4.9

In the event that a Member is in default of a judgement in respect of any Debt, the Association
may approach a relevant court of law to declare the Unit owned by the Member specially
executable and saleable in order to recover all arrear Debt.

6.4.10
6.5

The Board has the right to agree to debt settlement plans with a Member.

Sales and transfer of properties
6.5.1

A Member’s successor in title (to a Unit) must be liable, as from the date upon which the
successor becomes a Member pursuant to the transfer of that Unit to such successor, to pay
the levies, including any special levies attributable to that Unit with effect from the date of
transfer. The Association furthermore reserves the right to equitably adjust and accrue levies
and special levies to consolidated or subdivided properties.

6.5.2

In circumstances where a Member has sold or otherwise disposed of a Unit, he is obliged to
inform the Management in Writing of the impending transfer, and must confirm the date on
which such transfer is registered in the name of the Member’s successor in title in order to
enable the Association to determine the date of responsibility for payment of levies and any
other amounts comprising of a Debt.

6.5.3

A Member may not transfer a Unit without first obtaining a Clearance Certificate from the
Association, confirming:
6.5.3.1

the full particulars of the Member’s successor in title and acknowledgement that
the successor will become a Member of the Association and will adhere to the
MOI and all Rules has been furnished;

6.5.3.2

that this MOI and all Rules have been complied with;

6.5.3.3

that all levies (including payment of 3 (three) months levies in advance) have
been paid; and

6.5.3.4

that any other amounts comprising of a Debt have been paid up to the end of
the month during which such contemplated registration of transfer of such Unit
will take place.

6.5.4

Management is entitled to levy an administration fee (to be determined by the Association
from time to time) when issuing any Clearance Certificate and/or consent to allow registration
of a mortgage bond over the purchaser/owner’s property and similarly, when issuing an
extension of the clearance certificate.
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6.6

Accounts / Inspection of Document
6.6.1

The Association’s audited annual financial statements, register of Members, MOI and Rules,
and minutes of Board meetings shall be open for inspection by Members at the office of
Management at all reasonable times during normal business hours of the Association, subject
to the following provisions:
6.6.1.1

should a Member require copies of documentation which are not prohibited
from being reproduced by any relevant legislation or confidentiality provisions,
such request for copies shall be submitted to the Directors in Writing, and the
Directors shall be entitled to levy a reasonable fee, subject to section 26 of the
Companies Act, in respect of the administration for such request, including the
cost of any copies;

6.6.2

The Directors must procure that the Association’s books of account are written up and
maintained in accordance with all legal requirements as prescribed in terms of the Companies
Act and must otherwise in and about the conduct of the Association’s business, ensure
compliance with all applicable legislation, whether fiscal or otherwise.

6.6.3

The Auditors must be required to complete the annual audit of the Association within 3 (three)
months of the financial year-end of the Association and must otherwise be entitled to conduct
such interim audits and/or examine the accounts of the Association as directed by the
Directors.

6.6.4

The appointment and duties of the Auditors must be in conformity with the Companies Act,
and the appointment and remuneration of the Auditors are to be made and confirmed at
each AGM.

7

Directors and Officers
7.1

Office of the Directors
7.1.1

The Board of Directors of the Association shall consist of at least 3 (three) directors and not
more than 7 (seven) directors for the portfolios of Chairperson, Legal, Finance, Security,
Environment and Country Club; who shall
7.1.1.1

be elected by the Members at a Members Meeting, or where applicable by way
of a Round Robin Resolution;

7.1.1.2
7.1.2

7.1.3

serve for a term as envisaged in Directors and Officers (clause 7.1.7); and

the Chief Executive Officer (CEO) who may be appointed as ex officio Director by the
Directors mentioned in 7.1.1.

In addition to satisfying the qualification and eligibility requirements set out in section 69 of
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the Companies Act, to become or remain a Director of the Association, a person must satisfy
the additional eligibility requirements and qualifications.
7.1.4

Each elected director of the Association serves for a period as set out in Directors and Officers
(clause 7.1.1.2). In a case where the Directors have been elected at an AGM, the Board may
decide to change the term of office to ensure that the Association complies with the
Companies Act which requires that that at least one-third of the Directors are elected each
year.

7.1.5

A Director must be a natural person, hold suitable expertise as required for the designated
portfolio, and except for the ex officio Director, must be a Member of the Association or a
duly authorised spouse of such Member or the duly authorised representative of a Member
of the Association where such Member is not a natural person, as referred to more fully in
Membership and related matters (clause 3.9).

7.1.6

A Director, by acceptance of the Director’s appointment to the office as such, is deemed to
have agreed to be bound by all the provisions of the MOI.

7.1.7

Save as set out in Directors and Officers (clauses 7.1.2 and 7.1.11), each Director, except
the CEO, will continue to hold office as such from the date of such Director’s election until
the end of the second AGM following such election, at which Members Meeting and subject
to the hereinafter set out provisions, each Director shall be deemed to have retired from office
as such but will be eligible for re-election to the Board of Directors. The CEO will hold office
for the duration of the CEO’s appointment agreement, and subject to Directors and Officers
(clause 7.5.1).

7.1.8

Notwithstanding the provisions of Directors and Officers (clause 7.1.1), the Directors shall be
entitled to co-opt 1 (one) further Director to assist the Board of Directors with respect to any
functions in terms of the aforementioned designated portfolios (or such other portfolios as the
Directors shall determine), such co-opted Director, to enjoy the same powers and functions
as the duly elected Directors, subject however to any such co-opted Director’s appointment
terminating on the date of the next Members Meeting.

7.1.9

The principle as enunciated in Directors and Officers (clause 7.1.7) whereby elected Directors
hold office as such for the period as stated, has the effect that there is no obligation on any
Director to stand down until such Director’s term of office has expired, subject to Directors
and Officers (clause 7.1.5) above. This does not derogate from the right of any Director to
resign, at any time, or to stand down at the AGM following upon the AGM at which the
Director was elected.

7.1.10

A Director(s) will be deemed to have vacated such Director’s office upon such Director:
7.1.10.1

having become ineligible or disqualified to act as a Director in terms of the

53

Companies Act;

7.1.11

7.1.10.2

being removed from office as provided for in section 71 of the Companies Act;

7.1.10.3

being disentitled to exercise a vote in terms of the MOI; and / or

7.1.10.4

having submitted such Director’s resignation in Writing to the Association.

Upon any vacancy occurring in the Board of Directors prior to the next AGM, the vacancy in
question must be filled by a person nominated and co-opted by the remaining Directors for
the time being.

7.1.12

Should a vacancy occur in the office of Chairperson, the Board of Directors will elect a new
Chairperson from the existing Directors and co-opt an additional Director to the vacancy,
provided that the Director elected to act as Chairperson shall not hold dual portfolios.

7.1.13

The nomination of a Director must be in Writing, in the prescribed format, accompanied by
the written consent of the person nominated and delivered to the Association service address
by no later than the date as announced by the Association prior to the Members Meeting or
a Round Robin Resolution is submitted.

7.1.14

If no nominations to fill the vacancies are received by the closing date for nominations in
terms of Directors and Officers (clause 7.1.13), further nominations may be called by the
Electoral Committee.

7.1.15

In an election of Directors, the declaration of the voting results by the meeting Chairperson
shall be provisional pending the declaration of the Electoral Committee on the integrity of the
election process as provided for in the Rules.

7.1.16

Directors are entitled to reasonable remuneration for services rendered in their capacities as
such as determined by the Members at a Members Meeting and are further entitled to be
reimbursed in respect of all reasonable and vouched expenses necessarily incurred by them
respectively in or about the performance of their duties as Directors.

7.2

Authority of the Board of Directors
The authority of the Association’s Board of Directors to manage and direct the business and affairs of
the Association, as set out in section 66 (1) of the Companies Act is not limited or restricted by this MOI.

7.3

Board of Directors meetings
7.3.1

The authority of the Association’s Board of Directors to consider a matter other than at a
meeting, as set out in section 74 of the Companies Act is not limited or restricted by this MOI.

7.3.2

The right of the Association’s Directors to call a meeting of the Board, as set out in section
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73 (1) of the Companies Act is not limited by this MOI.
7.3.3

The authority of the Association’s Board of Directors to conduct a meeting entirely by
electronic communication, or to provide for participation in a meeting by electronic
communication, as set out in section 73 (3) of the Companies Act is not limited or restricted
by this MOI.

7.3.4

The authority of the Association’s Board of Directors to determine the manner and form of
providing notice of its meetings, as set out in section 73 (4) of the Companies Act is not
limited or restricted by this MOI.

7.3.5

The authority of the Association’s Board of Directors to proceed with a meeting despite a
failure or defect in giving notice of the meeting, as set out in section 73 (5) of the Companies
Act is not limited or restricted by this MOI.

7.3.6

The quorum requirement for a Directors’ meeting to begin, the voting rights at such a meeting,
and the requirements for approval of a resolution at such a meeting, are as set out in section
73 (5) of the Companies Act.

7.4

Officers and Committees
7.4.1

The Board of Directors may appoint any officers it considers necessary to better achieve the
objects of the Association.

7.4.2

The authority of the Association’s Board of Directors to appoint committees of directors, and
to delegate to any such committee any of the authority of the Board as set out in section 72
(1) of the Companies Act, or to include in any such committee persons who are not directors,
as set out in section 72 (2)(a) of the Companies Act is not limited or restricted by this MOI.

7.4.3

The authority of a committee appointed by the Association’s Board, as set out in section 72
(2)(b) and (c) of the Companies Act is not limited or restricted by this MOI.

7.5

Powers and Functions of Directors
Unless otherwise resolved by way of a Special Resolution at any Members Meeting, Directors are
authorised and empowered to:
7.5.1

appoint and dismiss the CEO;

7.5.2

delegate powers to the CEO (including the power to appoint and dismiss employees other
than senior employees, the latter which will require prior Board approval);

7.5.3

institute legal proceedings to protect the objects and rights of the Association, enforce the
MOI and/or Rules and defend any legal proceedings brought against the Association where
deemed appropriate by them;
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7.5.4

open and conduct banking accounts for purposes of the Association’s business;

7.5.5

disburse, from the bank accounts such operational and capital expenditure as approved in
the budget and as otherwise may be authorised by an AGM;

7.5.6

enforce compliance with the provisions of this MOI and the Rules and, in the event of noncompliance, to impose sanctions and penalties in terms of the Rules;

7.5.7

enter into contracts necessary for the purposes of the objects of the Association and giving
effect to the powers of the Association in its MOI and implementation of this MOI.

7.5.8

Co-opt subject matter experts and other professionals to assist the Board as necessary.

7.5.9

Appoint committees with respect to the following functions:

7.5.10

7.5.9.1

Aesthetics & Architecture;

7.5.9.2

Audit & Risk;

7.5.9.3

Country Club;

7.5.9.4

Electoral Committee;

7.5.9.5

Environment;

7.5.9.6

Golf Committee;

7.5.9.7

Health & Safety;

7.5.9.8

Security;

7.5.9.9

Social, Ethics & Governance; and

7.5.9.10

such other committee(s) as deemed necessary by the Board.

Delegate to such committees such powers and authorities as may be considered necessary
by the Directors for purposes of fulfilling any functions and exercising the rights and/or
discharging the duties imposed upon the Directors.

7.5.11

The appointment of a committee must be effected in Writing with duly defined rights, powers
and duties in the form of Terms of Reference to be approved and revised annually by the
Board of Directors after the AGM.

7.5.12

Such committees may only function subject to any limitation as to its duration and membership
by the Board.

7.5.13

The Directors may, on furnishing reasonable grounds therefor, withdraw or suspend any of
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the rights, powers, duties and membership so delegated.
7.5.14

The minutes of meetings of each committee must be finalised according to the Terms of
Reference.

7.5.15

Each committee should meet as frequently as deemed necessary or as otherwise directed by
the Directors.

7.5.16

The Directors must ensure that at least 1 (one) Director serves on each committee except the
committee overseeing elections of Directors.

7.6

The remuneration of Directors must be approved at least every 2 (two) years at an AGM by a Special
Resolution as per section 66(9) of the Companies Act.

7.7

The Directors may use their discretion in terms of the interpretation and enforcing of the MOI and Rules,
which discretion must always be applied in the best interests of the Association.

7.8

The Directors may meet to attend to their business, adjourn, and otherwise regulate their meetings, as
they deem in the best interest of the Association, subject to the provisions of the MOI.

7.9

The Chairperson should preside at all meetings of the Board of Directors and in the event of such
Chairperson not being present within 15 (fifteen) minutes of the scheduled time for the start of the
meeting or in the event of such Chairperson’s inability or unwillingness to act, a Chairperson should be
appointed by the remaining Directors for such meeting.

7.10

A majority of the Directors must be present at a meeting before a vote may be called at a meeting of
the Directors.

7.11

Each Director is entitled to 1 (one) vote. Any motion passed by the Board of Directors shall be carried
by a simple majority.

7.12

Where a Director has a personal interest or a conflict of interest in respect of any matter before the
Board, the said Director is entitled to attend any meeting of the Board at which such matter is proposed
to be discussed or decided, however, such Director must recuse himself or herself from any deliberations
on the issue and not be entitled to vote in respect of the matter in which the Director has a personal
interest or conflict of interest.

7.13

Any Director who has such a personal interest or conflict of interest regarding any matter as mentioned
in Directors and Officers (clause 7.12), is obliged to disclose such personal interest or conflict of interest
to the Board forthwith.

7.14

A resolution signed by the majority the Directors shall be valid in all aspects as if it had been duly passed
at a meeting of the Board of Directors.

7.15

Subject to Directors and Officers (clauses 7.5.2, 7.5.9.10 and 7.16), a Director shall not be entitled to

57

appoint any alternate to function in such Director’s stead for any purpose nor by proxy or otherwise
appoint any other person to fulfil such Director’s functions and duties. Despite the aforesaid, a Director
may still appoint another Director as proxy to attend and vote at a Director’s meeting in such Director’s
stead.
7.16

A Director may not otherwise delegate or sub-delegate any of such Director’s obligations, save as
approved by a majority of the (other) Directors.

7.17

The Directors must cause the minutes of each Board Meeting to be kept in accordance with sections
73(6) and 73(7) of the Companies Act, which minutes of Board meetings must be reduced to Writing
within 7 (seven) days.

7.18

Copies of the minutes of each meeting will be made available to each Director within 14 (fourteen)
days of the meeting to which such minutes relate.

7.19

All minutes of Directors meetings shall, after certification, be placed in the Directors minute book which
shall be kept by Management in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act relating to the
keeping of minutes of meetings of directors of companies.

7.20

The Directors’ board meetings minute book shall be open for perusal at all reasonable times by any
Director, the Auditors and Members.

7.21

Subject to the provisions of this MOI, the proceedings of any Directors’ meeting may be conducted in
such reasonable manner and form as the Chairperson may direct.

8

Rules
8.1

The Directors may make, amend or repeal Rules as contemplated in this MOI and in sections 15(3) to
15(5) of the Companies Act, which Rules may include –

8.2

8.1.1

conduct Rules and schedules of transgressions and penalties;

8.1.2

architectural and construction Rules; and

8.1.3

and such other Rules or directives as the Board may deem fit.

The Directors may make, amend or repeal any Rules by publishing the Rules, amendment or repeal
thereof as provided for in Rules (clause 8.6).

8.3

Any Rule, or any amendment or repeal thereof, as contemplated in Rules (clause 8.2) takes effect –
8.3.1

10 (Ten) business days after the Rules is filed in terms of section 15 (3) (b) of the
Companies Act; or

8.3.2

the date, if any, specified in the Rule.
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8.4

Rules, amendments or repeals thereof, will be binding and have validity on an interim basis from the
time it takes effect until it is put to a vote at the next Members Meeting of the Association, and on a
permanent basis only if it has been ratified by ordinary resolution at the Members Meeting. Any failure
to ratify the Rules, amendments or repeals thereof does not affect the validity of anything done in terms
of those interim Rules, amendments or repeals during the period that they had an interim effect as
provided in the Companies Act.

8.5

If a Rule that has been filed as contemplated in section 15 (3) (b) of the Companies Act, is subsequently
–
8.5.1

Ratified as contemplated in Rules (clause 8.4) above, the Association must file a notice of
ratification within 5 (Five) business days, as prescribed in section 15 (5) (a) of the Companies
Act; or

8.5.2

not ratified when put to a vote –
8.5.2.1

the Association must file a notice of non-ratification within 5 (Five) business days
after the vote, as prescribed in section 15 (5) (b) (i);

8.5.2.2

the Association’s Board may not make a substantially similar Rule within the
ensuing 12 (Twelve) months, unless it has been approved in advance by ordinary
resolution of the Members.

8.6

The Directors shall ensure that Management delivers or otherwise publishes the Rules and Schedule of
Transgressions and Penalties in a manner which brings same to the attention of the Members, each
Member nevertheless being responsible for ensuring that he is in possession of a current set of Rules
obtainable from Management’s offices.

The Directors shall further ensure that the Rules are filed, as

required in section 15 (3) (b) of the Companies Act.
8.7

The Directors are responsible for the enforcement of all Rules and Schedule of Transgressions and
Penalties and, for this purpose, may impose a system of fines or penalties as they deem fit.

8.8

The Directors are entitled to implement such fines or penalties, in addition to those fines or penalties
stipulated in the Schedule of Transgressions and Penalties, in respect of non-compliance with or other
breach of the Rules and/or with respect to a breach of the obligations imposed upon Members, visitors
and all other classes of entrants to the Estate in terms of this MOI, as determined by the Directors from
time to time.
8.8.1

Transgressions: Any act or omission deemed a transgression by the Board whether indicated
as a transgression and/or carrying a fine or penalty or not will be subject to the imposition of
a fine or penalty or other sanction in the discretion of the Board.

8.8.2

Persistent Transgressions: Persistent transgressions may result in higher fines or penalties
and/or legal action at the discretion of the Board.
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8.9

Any fines or penalties levied against Members in terms of the Rules is a Debt due to the Association and
added to the levy account and is payable together with the levies due at the commencement of the
month following upon the month during which such fine or penalty was imposed.

9

Indemnities
9.1

Every Director and member of Management, is indemnified by the Association against all costs, losses
and expenses (inclusive of travelling expenses), which such person or persons may reasonably and
necessarily incur or become liable for by reason of any contract entered into or by any act or deed done
by such person or persons in good faith in the discharge of their respective duties and obligations to
the Association.

9.2

The provisions as set out in Indemnities (clause 9.1) also apply insofar as every co-opted Director and
member of any committee appointed by the Directors is concerned and the Association indemnifies all
such persons accordingly.

9.3

Without prejudice to the generality of the a foregoing, the Association, subject to section 78 of the
Companies Act, indemnifies every Director, servant, agent and employee of the Association against all
losses of whatsoever nature incurred arising out of any bona fide act, deed or letter done or written by
such Director, servant, agent and employee of the Association jointly or severally in connection with the
discharge of the duties of such Director, servant, agent and employee of the Association.

9.4

Members conversely indemnify the Association (including Management) and their respective officers,
employees and agents in respect of any claims, damages or losses (including costs and interest) suffered
or sustained as a result of any unlawful act, negligence (including any act or omission) and/or as a
result of any breach of the provisions of this MOI and/or the Rules, by the Member, the Member’s
family, employees, agents, contractors, subcontractors, tenants (and other occupiers of the Unit), guests
and visitors (including any customer, client or patient) and which act, omission and/or breach occurs,
if relevant, in and about the Estate.

9.5

Every person as a precondition to entry to the Estate, indemnifies and hold harmless the Association
(and Management) and their respective officers, employees and agents in respect of any claims,
damages or losses including any personal injury or other harm occurring or arising in or about the
Estate.

9.6

The Directors are entitled, subject to the provisions of section 78 of the Companies Act, to obtain
insurances pertaining to any liability or risk which they as Directors may have in performing their duties
in respect of the Association.

9.7

The authority of the Association’s Board of Directors to advance expenses to a Director, or indemnify a
Director, in respect of the defence of legal proceedings, as set out in section 78 (3) of the Companies
Act is not limited or restricted by this MOI.
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9.8

The authority of the Association’s Board of Directors to indemnify a director in respect of liability, as set
out in section 78 (5) of the Companies Act is not limited or restricted by this MOI.

9.9

The authority of the Association’s Board of Directors to purchase insurance to protect the Association,
or a Director, as set out in section 78 (6) of the Companies Act is not limited or restricted by this MOI.

10

Delivery of Notices
10.1

Any notice or other communication in Writing must be Delivered by the Association to the Member at
the address of the Unit unless the Member has notified the Association in Writing of any other address
for delivery.

10.2

Except in the case of any notice of any Members Meeting, the period of which is prescribed by this MOI,
any notice served by registered post is deemed to have been Delivered on the 7th (seventh) day following
dispatch.

10.3

Notwithstanding any provisions to the contrary contained in this MOI, any notice or other written
communication served by any other means (by hand, facsimile or e-mail transmission) shall be deemed
to have been duly Delivered where receipt has been acknowledged by the addressee on the date of
delivery or transmission.

10.4

A notice or other communication dispatched by e-mail is deemed to be good notice for all purposes,
provided, however, that any legal processes is, nevertheless, required to be served at the Member’s
physical address.

11

Dispute Resolution
11.1

A Member who disputes that he has committed a breach of any obligation in terms of this MOI and/or
the Rules, may be obliged to Deliver a submission as set out in the Rules under Dispute Resolution, in
Writing, to the Association.

11.2

Only after a Member has exhausted the remedies provided in the MOI and after the dispute has been
submitted by a Member in terms of Dispute Resolution (clause 11.1) and decided by the meeting, may
a Member lodge such a dispute as provided for in the Community Schemes Act and the dispute
resolution provisions of the Community Schemes Ombud Services will then apply.

11.3

Neither the Association nor the affected Member is prevented from seeking any urgent or interim relief
from a competent Court.
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Silver Lakes Homeowners Association
Condensed Version
Preamble.
These pages provide a condensed version of all the additions and changes made to the Rules to eliminate the need for
Members to read through the whole of the Rules. These pages have been verified to be a correct reflection of the additions
and changes to the base document.
The proposed additions and changes to the Rules are based on several reasons, which includes but are not limited to
clarifying a rule; a change in legislation; splitting and elaborating a rule for an easier understanding of what is required;
making the Rules more objective and eliminating grey areas; addressing a practice that have been applied for years but
never put in the Rules; or further improving the previously approved Rules.
Grammatical changes or the use of better wording in the Rules which may not have a material impact are not noted in this
document.
The following additions and changes to the Rules are proposed, which changes include proposals intended for the CGM on
30 March 2020 which meeting was postponed due to COVID-19, along with other changes that were identified by the
board during the year. The proposals were considered by the board and includes legal input, contributions received from
members during workshops facilitated in 2020 and 2021, proposals submitted in writing by 22 January 2021 and input
provided by the various board committees. The board considered all the proposals and where it was meaningful, legal and
to the best interest of the members on the estate, the changes were incorporated. The opportunity was also given to the
Social, Ethics and Governance Committee to make comment before the board made their final decision as included in the
pack.
Special notes are inserted to better explain the reason for some of the more complex reasons for the need for the addition
and change to the Rules.

ADDITIONS
The following are proposed to be added to the Rules.
INTRODUCTION
1.7

The MOI provides that Rules may be implemented by the Directors of the SLHOA. These Rules:
1.7.1

will be presented and ratified (endorsed) at the Annual General Meeting of the members as provided for
in the MOI;

1.7.2

have interim power and anything done in terms of the interim rules remain valid even if not ratified;

1.7.3

are binding between the Association and every member and resident;

1.7.4

are the responsibility of the SLHOA management and ultimately the Board of Directors to ensure the
implementation and enforcement of the Rules and consequently the penalties for breaches of these Rules.

1.10 Any reference in this document to “Rules” refer to this revision and is supported by other officially approved
documents.
CONDUCT RULES
2.30 Loud music emanating from a golf cart causing a disturbance is not permitted.
2.37 The portion of Erf 169, as indicated on the registered Surveyor General Plan, number 3901/2015, may only be used
for emergency vehicles.
2.41 The walking of dogs in the game reserve is strictly forbidden.
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2.47 Estate Agents wishing to sell or rent out property on the Estate must be issued with an access system pin by the member
before they can enter the Estate to conduct business on the Estate.
RULES PERTAINING TO ESTATE, DISTRICT, REGIONAL, PROVINCIAL OR NATIONAL EMERGENCIES
3.1

In cases of Estate, District, Regional, Provincial or National Emergencies, the Association through the board of
directors reserves the right to interpret and align applicable Association Rules with any mandates or regulations issued
by the authorities to serve the intended purpose of the mandate or regulations.

ENVIRONMENTAL RULES
4.19 To prevent pollution of the dams, water from aquatic systems must not be emptied into any storm water system or into
the Estate dams or streams.
HOME BUSINESS RULES
5.3

Tenants wishing to conduct an enterprise from the rental property need to obtain written approval from the Member
for this activity. Thereafter, along with the submission of the Member’s approval the same process and fees will apply
as is the case with a Member. The approval from the Member must include a condition relating to the automatic
lapsing of the approval should the tenant conducting the enterprise breach the rules pertaining to home enterprises
and fails to remedy the breach upon receiving an instruction to do so.

5.8

Persons conducting an enterprise from home and who wishes to display or advertise a service or product on the Estate
requires the prior written permission of the Association and must submit a detailed proposal to the Association. The
proposed advertisement must provide details pertaining to the appearance, size and proposed location. The
Association reserved the right to remove advertisements which have not been approved by the Association and/or
impose a penalty.

SECURITY SYSTEM RULES
6.12 It is mandatory for persons working or residing on the Estate to be enrolled in the electronic biometric access system
to gain access to the Estate.
6.13 Persons falling in the following categories should be enrolled in the access system:
6.13.1 Adult licenced vehicle operators residing on the Estate.
6.13.2 Learner licenced vehicle operators residing on the Estate.
6.13.3 Adult persons residing on the Estate.
6.13.4 Adult persons employed by members and businesses on the Estate.
6.13.5 Adult persons registered as “frequent visitors” or “trusted individuals” by the Member.
6.14 Children under the age of 14 may not be enrolled in the electronic biometric access system, while children between
the ages of 14 and 18 may only be enrolled with the explicit written permission of their parents.
6.15 All persons working or residing on the Estate must take care that they conduct themselves with decorum as any or all
their actions may be recorded by the CCTV system in common areas. In entering the Estate, all persons doing so
have accepted the terms of entry and have consented to the use of CCTV monitoring of their movements in and
around the Estate.
6.16 Members must ensure that their home burglar alarms are kept in a sound working condition and comply with any
rules which the Association may make with regard thereto from time to time. Alarms or sirens must not unduly disturb
neighbours (i.e. be silent to the outside environment).
GOLF COURSE UTILISATION AND CONDUCT RULES
7.1

The golf course in its entirety, with the exception of golf cart paths, is closed between the hours of 23h00 and 4h00
to all persons except for the security, maintenance and emergency staff. Transgressors may be subject to a penalty.

SPECIAL NOTE – This closure of the course is required to reduce vandalism which occurs within this period of time and
helps to identify potential culprits pro-actively.
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7.7

Cyclists are restricted to the cart paths only and may not cycle or push a bicycle on any of the play areas of the golf
course at any time.

CHANGES
The following are proposed to be changed to the Rules.
INTRODUCTION
1.1

These Rules (“the/these Rules”), including the Schedule of Transgressions & Penalties are made under the provisions
of the Companies Act 71 of 2008, (the Act) as amended and the clauses of the Memorandum of Incorporation
(“MOI”) pertaining to Rules.

1.12 These Rules replace and supersede all previously issued Rules and is ratified by the Association, and will be binding
and have effect in the interim as provided for in law.
1.13 As far as it concerns the Estate, its environment and its facilities, members are responsible and ultimately accountable
for their own actions and those of their visitors, tenants, occupants, employees, service providers, contractors and
invitees. Any Rule applicable to a member will be equally in context be applicable to their visitors, tenants, occupants,
employees, service providers, invitees, trusts, beneficiaries (in the event the owner being a trust and shareholders in
the event the owner being a legal person) and will be so applicable even if the Rule does not have a specific reference
to them.
1.14 Where the consent, agreement or permission of the Association is required, the request will:
1.14.1

refer to the reason for the consent, agreement or permission required; and

1.14.2

in the event of the refusal or withholding of such consent, agreement or permission the onus will be on the
Member to prove that the refusal or withholding of the consent, agreement or permission was
unreasonable.

CONDUCT RULES
2.7

Members may not encroach/intrude past the cadastral boundaries of their erf with any construction. This, for example,
applies where the property owner violates the property rights of his neighbour by building or extending the structure
or landscaping (either quickly or creeping over a period of time) to the neighbour’s land or communal property.

2.10 Piloted aircraft such as drones, hovercrafts or any other remote-controlled flying objects may not be used on the Estate
unless the prior written consent of the Association has been obtained, which consent would need to comply with the
requirements of the South African Civil Aviation Authority Act, 40 of 1998, and the applicable regulations.
2.15 A Member must ensure that their unoccupied property is secured and that the property and utilities will be maintained
during the period of vacancy, failing which, the Association reserves the right to maintain any aspect of the Unit at
the Member's expense payable on demand. Where needed, the required swimming pool safety features must be
functional, be in place and comply with the National Building Regulations and any other rules or regulations
applicable to swimming pools.
2.16 In the case of incomplete buildings, the Association may at any time assess the situation from a safety, security,
maintenance and aesthetics point of view, and at its discretion impose a penalty, and/or commence legal action to
remedy any deficiency identified to ensure compliance with the Rules. The Member concerned will be responsible for
all costs in this regard which is payable on demand.
2.18 The level of noise emanating from a member’s Unit must be at a reasonable level so as not to be cause the raising
of complaints from their neighbours. From 23:00 the activities should not be audible from outside the boundary of
the Unit.
2.19 Electric power tools, lawnmowers, grass trimmers, outdoor power equipment and the like used for private
maintenance purposes shall only be allowed between the following hours:
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Monday to Friday
Saturday
Sundays and public holidays

07:00 to 18:00
08:00 to 13:00
09:00 to 12:00

Essential communal property maintenance by the Association is exempt from the aforementioned times.
2.23 Members agree that the Association shall have the right to impose penalties in consequence of a contravention of
the Road Traffic Act. Such penalty shall not be deemed a fine in terms of the Road Traffic Act, but a penalty
contractually agreed to between Members and the Association.
2.25 Parents and guardians of children are solely responsible for the children’s safety and for ensuring that the children
are made aware of the dangers relating to the use of streets. All drivers are held responsible for moderating their
speed and driving style to the likelihood of children and others being encountered on the roads within the Estate.
2.27 All privately owned golf carts must be registered annually with the Association against payment of the prescribed fee
and the registration sticker issued to the owner must be visibly displayed on the cart.
2.28 Golf carts may only be driven by drivers in possession of a drivers’ or learners’ license for a vehicle or motorcycle.
SPECIAL NOTE – Persons with a valid driver learner’s license is deemed to have satisfied the regulatory requirements and
the Estate’s requirements to responsibly operate a motorised vehicle.
2.35 Vehicles with after factory-fitted noisy exhaust systems are prohibited from being used as this will create excessive and
unreasonable noise.
2.41 The walking of dogs in the veld, pathways or gravel road in the game reserve is strictly forbidden.
2.42 The owner of any domesticated animal is responsible for the picking up and removing of the animal’s faecal matter
and must do so anywhere outside the boundaries of the member’s unit. Owners walking their pets must carry a bag
with them for the picking up and removing of their animal’s faecal matter. Failure to comply with this rule may lead
to penalties being imposed against the member.
2.46 A Member may not make their Unit available for communal / shared or short term accommodation by different
groups or individuals, unless the Unit is registered as a guest house with the Association and the City of Tshwane.
SPECIAL NOTE – Due to an influx of short-term letting, unauthorised commune living and the provision of Air BnB rentals
and the express adverse impact of such on the security risk of the Estate, it is deemed necessary to prevent these types of
operations.
ENVIRONMENTAL RULES
4.3

Sidewalk trees may not be damaged or removed without the consent of the Association. The cost of the approved
removal will be for the account of the Member.

4.5

Caravans, mobile campers, trailers, boats, building material, generators, tools, engine and vehicle parts, vehicles in
disrepair or unserviceable vehicles, as well as any pet housing, must be located out of view or be screened from view,
as per the minimum requirements of the Association, from the street, golf course or game reserve areas.

4.24 The game reserve and all areas next to the dam in the game reserve is out of bounds from sunset to sunrise.
HOME BUSINESS RULES
5.6

The Member conducting an enterprise from home may not employ more than two enterprise employees unless
approved.

5.7

Other than for guests visiting a member for social reasons, the vehicles of employees, clients and other visitors to the
home enterprise must be accommodated on the premises and must not be allowed to park on the road reserve /
sidewalks, street or on adjacent property.
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5.13 In addition to points already noted, a Member who wishes to operate a Guest House also needs to comply with the
following:
5.13.2 The proposed development will have a residential character.
GOLF COURSE UTILISATION AND CONDUCT RULES
7.1

The golf course in its entirety, with the exception of golf cart paths, is closed between the hours of 23h00 and 4h00 to
all persons except for the security, maintenance and emergency staff. Transgressors may be subject to a penalty.

During golfing hours
7.4

Non-golfers must strictly remain on the cart paths between 06:15 and 18:00 and must take extreme caution to be
aware of golf balls in flight.

After golfing hours
7.16 With the exception of the greens, tee boxes and sand bunkers, Members are welcome to use the course for
recreational activities such as walking, jogging, or exercising pets on a leash while activities such as the riding of
bicycles or any recreational activities that may cause damage to the golf course are not permitted.
DISCIPLINARY AND GENERAL CONDUCT RULES
8.6

The provisions of the rules to enforce discipline does not preclude any party from seeking urgent relief.

ADVERTISING RULES
10.3 Advertisements, other than sponsorships or official information shared by the Association, may not be exhibited or
distributed at the gatehouses, Clubhouse or anywhere else on the estate.
DISPUTE RESOLUTION
Disputes between Members and the Association
12.2.1

A Member or any person covered under the Community Scheme Ombud Service Act, 2011 (in this clause
collectively “Member”) who disputes that he has committed a breach of any obligation in terms of the MOI and/or
the Rules and associated penalty that accompanies the breach, will Deliver a dispute submission, in Writing, to
the Directors within 14 (fourteen) business days from the date of the Notice as contained in the Notice Delivered
to the affected Member.

12.2.1

The written dispute submission must provide reasons for disputing the breach, alternatively provide mitigating
circumstances or reasons in mitigation of the breach or for a reduction in the penalty or penalty amount.

12.2.3

In the event of a Member failing to submit a written submission within the 14 business days to the Directors, the
Member may within 30 calendar days from the date of the Notice include in the member’s submission of dispute
a request for condonation of the late submission.

SPECIAL NOTE – It may be difficult for members to timeously file a written dispute with the HOA for various reasons. The
change allows for the member to ask for condonation of the late submission in their submissions.
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RULES
SILVER LAKES HOMEOWNERS ASSOCIATION NPC
1.

INTRODUCTION
Preamble
1.1.

These Rules (“the/these Rules”), including the Schedule of Transgressions & Penalties are made
under the provisions of the Companies Act 71 of 2008, (the Act) as amended and the clauses of
the Memorandum of Incorporation (“MOI”) pertaining to Rules.

1.2.

Living in the Estate means being part of a community where conduct is managed through a set of
accepted and reasonable Rules which promotes a secure and high-quality lifestyle for residents of
Units in the Estate and to reasonably ensure a harmonious living environment without interfering
with one another’s enjoyment thereof and that is to the benefit of all.

1.3.

The Rules are deemed to be reasonable, binding and equally applicable to all Members without any
form of discrimination. The Rules are considered to be neither restrictive, nor punitive, but is rather
seen as a judicious framework to safeguard and promote appropriate and fair interaction to the
benefit of all.

1.4.

Any act of commission or omission deemed a transgression of the MOI or Rules whether indicated
as a transgression and/or carrying a penalty or not will be subject to the imposition of a penalty or
other appropriate sanction at the discretion of Silver Lakes Homeowners Association NPC
(“SLHOA”), or hereinafter referred as “the Association” as defined in the MOI.

1.5.

Persistent or continual transgressions by a person may result in the levying of higher penalties and/or
taking legal action at the discretion of the Association against that person.

1.6.

Any waiver, relaxation, extension of time, delay or failure (collectively “Relaxation”) by the
Association in exercising any right under these Rules will not be construed as a waiver of that right
and will not operate as an estoppel (the principle which precludes a person from asserting something
contrary to what is implied by a previous action or statement of that person or by a previous pertinent
judicial determination) against the Association or affect the ability of the Association subsequently to
exercising or enforcing any of its rights and the obligations of any Member, nor will any Relaxation
constitute a waiver of any other right. The waiver of any right under these Rules will be binding on
the Association only to the extent that the waiver has been reduced to writing and signed by the duly
authorised representative(s) of the Association.

1.7.

The MOI provides that Rules may be implemented by the Directors of the SLHOA. These Rules:
1.7.1.

will be presented and ratified (endorsed) at the Annual General Meeting of the members
as provided for in the MOI;

1.7.2.

have interim power and anything done in terms of the interim rules remain valid even if
not ratified;

1.7.3.

are binding between the Association and every member and resident;

1.7.4.

are the responsibility of the SLHOA management and ultimately the Board of Directors to
ensure the implementation and enforcement of the Rules and consequently the penalties
for breaches of these Rules.

Interpretation
1.8.

Unless the context otherwise indicates, the words and phrases as used or referred to in these Rules
will bear the same meaning as ascribed to such words and phrases in the MOI or the Act.
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1.9.

All Rules must be read in conjunction with the MOI. In the event of any conflict between the provisions
of these Rules and the provisions of the MOI, the provisions of the MOI will prevail.

1.10. Any reference in this document to “Rules” refer to this revision and is supported by other officially

approved documents.
1.11. The terms, conditions, rights, promises, undertakings, covenants, restraints, obligations and

provisions contained, conferred or imposed under these Rules (and all of which are for convenience
referred to as “provisions“) are severable and divisible as to each provision, or part thereof, and
should any provision be found to be invalid or unenforceable by a competent court, such a finding
will, subject to the order of such court, not affect the validity and/or enforceability of the remaining
provisions or parts thereof.
1.12. These Rules replace and supersede all previously issued Rules and is ratified by the Association, and

will be binding and have effect in the interim as provided for in law.

Members’ obligation
1.13. As far as it concerns the Estate, its environment and its facilities, members are responsible and

ultimately accountable for their own actions and those of their visitors, tenants, occupants,
employees, service providers, contractors and invitees. Any Rule applicable to a member will be
equally in context be applicable to their visitors, tenants, occupants, employees, service providers,
invitees, trusts, beneficiaries (in the event the owner being a trust and shareholders in the event the
owner being a legal person) and will be so applicable even if the Rule does not have a specific
reference to them.
Consent procedure
1.14. Where the consent, agreement or permission of the Association is required, the request will:

2.

1.14.1.

refer to the reason for the consent, agreement or permission required; and

1.14.2.

in the event of the refusal or withholding of such consent, agreement or permission the
onus will be on the Member to prove that the refusal or withholding of the consent,
agreement or permission was unreasonable.

CONDUCT RULES
Member
2.1.

Members are obliged to ensure that:
2.1.1.

Litter, rubble or refuse may not be dumped or discarded anywhere in the Estate except in
a container designated for such purpose.

2.1.2.

Any natural or communal space visited must be left clean of any litter.

2.1.3.

Drunk or disorderly conduct in any communal area of the Estate is not allowed.

2.1.4.

Fires may not be started in any communal areas with the exception of gas braais in certain
specifically demarcated communal areas.

2.1.5.

Fishing may only take place during designated times and in designated areas by members
registered with the Country Club.

2.1.6.

Flora as well as any natural features such as dead wood, rocks and items of
archaeological significance may not be damaged, removed or moved from any common
area or heritage site.
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2.1.7.

Fauna may not be chased, trapped or interfered with in any way except by the Association
in the carrying out of its conservation duties.

2.1.8.

The slaughtering of animals or butchery activities is prohibited in the Estate.

2.1.9.

They comply with the Municipal by-laws and refrain from using fireworks, in any manner
whatsoever, within the Estate.

2.1.10.

They do not burn any rubbish on the Estate.

2.1.11.

Vandalism of whatsoever nature is not perpetrated by them.

General
2.2.

Directors, managers and staff of the Association will be treated courteously and with due respect by
Members, invitees and clients. Members shall not interfere with nor give instructions to any officers,
employees, agents or contractors. Any complaints should be addressed in writing to Management.

2.3.

A Member will maintain the exterior, garden and sidewalk of his Unit, failing which, the Association
reserves the right to impose a penalty and/or appoint a contractor to remedy any deficiency identified
to ensure compliance with the Rules. The Member concerned will be responsible for all reasonable
costs in this regard, which will be payable on demand.

2.4.

Members are requested that flora or weeds declared as noxious, the information of which is available
on the website of the Association, are not allowed to grow in their gardens.

2.5.

A person may not bath, swim, operate a boat of any type or kind or practice any other type of watersports in the dams or public area. A person must prevent their domesticated animals from swimming
or playing in the dams or water in communal areas.

2.6.

The Association shall entertain no claims for damages of whatsoever nature or from whatsoever
cause arising from golfers, golf balls or fauna. Accordingly, the Association cannot be held
accountable for the damage that was caused a Member’ property.

2.7.

Members may not encroach/intrude past the cadastral boundaries of their erf with any construction.
This, for example, applies where the property owner violates the property rights of his neighbour by
building or extending the structure or landscaping (either quickly or creeping over a period of time)
to the neighbour’s land or communal property.

2.8.

A person may not enter or encroach onto the areas demarcated as heritage sites except for a person
who has written consent from the Association for the purpose of archaeological maintenance or
research.

2.9.

Any encroachment onto common areas will be removed by the Association. The cost of which will
be for the account of the offending Member. If it becomes necessary for the Association to seek a
Ruling from a Court or the Community Schemes Ombud, then the costs of so doing will be payable
by the Member concerned.

2.10. Piloted aircraft such as drones, hovercrafts or any other remote-controlled flying objects may not be

used on the Estate unless the prior written consent of the Association has been obtained, which
consent would need to comply with the requirements of the South African Civil Aviation Authority
Act, 40 of 1998, and the applicable regulations.
2.11. Members installing exterior lights for security or ambient purposes must ensure that these lights are

directed or shielded in such a way as not to disturb or cause a nuisance or discomfort to their
neighbours or fauna.
2.12. A Member’s use of any communal areas, including the clubhouse complex, golf course, play parks

and game reserve, is at all times entirely at their own risk.
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2.13. Without limitation thereto, the Association will not be held liable for any damage or harm caused to

any person or property which arises from their use of the Golf Course and any other communal
areas.
2.14. A Member may not allow the installation or use of any swimming pool pumps, swimming pool

heating apparatus, air-conditioners, cold storage rooms, water features, or any motorised
equipment which has not been placed and installed in such a way that it will not cause any undue
noise or nuisance to neighbours or fauna. When in doubt, the guidance of the Estate Management
of the Association must be sought prior to the installation.

2.15. A Member must ensure that their unoccupied property is secured and that the property and utilities

will be maintained during the period of vacancy, failing which, the Association reserves the right to
maintain any aspect of the Unit at the Member's expense payable on demand. Where needed, the
required swimming pool safety features must be functional, be in place and comply with the National
Building Regulations and any other rules or regulations applicable to swimming pools.
2.16. In the case of incomplete buildings, the Association may at any time assess the situation from a

safety, security, maintenance and aesthetics point of view, and at its discretion impose a penalty,
and/or commence legal action to remedy any deficiency identified to ensure compliance with the
Rules. The Member concerned will be responsible for all costs in this regard which is payable on
demand.
Good neighbourliness
2.17. Members and their employees or visitors must not conduct any activities which cause any disturbance

or nuisance to fellow Members.
2.18. The level of noise emanating from a member’s Unit must be at a reasonable level so as not to be

cause the raising of complaints from their neighbours. From 23:00 the activities should not be
audible from outside the boundary of the Unit.
2.19. Electric power tools, lawnmowers, grass trimmers, outdoor power equipment and the like used for

private maintenance purposes shall only be allowed between the following hours:
Monday to Friday
Saturday
Sundays and public holidays

07:00 to 18:00
08:00 to 13:00
09:00 to 12:00

Essential communal property maintenance by the Association is exempt from the aforementioned
times.
2.20. Camping is not allowed in communal areas on the Estate.

Use of the streets
2.21. All roads in the Estate are public roads and are subject to the relevant road traffic ordinances and

bylaws. A golf cart is not regarded as a vehicle that may be driven on public roads.
2.22. The speed limit is 40 kilometres per hour in Glen Eagles Drive and 30 kilometres per hour in every

other area of the Estate. Extreme caution should be taken near designated children’s play areas and
in the game reserve. Strict enforcement will apply.
2.23. Members agree that the Association shall have the right to impose penalties in consequence of a

contravention of the Road Traffic Act. Such penalty shall not be deemed a fine in terms of the Road
Traffic Act, but a penalty contractually agreed to between Members and the Association.
2.24. Only licensed drivers may operate and drive engine-powered vehicles that are licensed in terms of

Road Traffic Act and Bylaws.
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2.25. Parents and guardians of children are solely responsible for the children’s safety and for ensuring

that the children are made aware of the dangers relating to the use of streets. All drivers are held
responsible for moderating their speed and driving style to the likelihood of children and others
being encountered on the roads within the Estate.
2.26. Motor vehicles, motorcycles, bicycles, scooters and the like are permitted to be driven only on the

demarcated roads of the Estate. Parks, road reserves/sidewalks, the golf course and unmarked
nature reserve areas are off limits except for Association vehicles performing official duties.
2.27. All privately owned golf carts must be registered annually with the Association against payment of

the prescribed fee and the registration sticker issued to the owner must be visibly displayed on the
cart.
2.28. Golf carts may only be driven by drivers in possession of a drivers’ or learners’ license for a vehicle

or motorcycle.

2.29. Golf carts are only permitted to travel on the public roads in the Estate for the shortest route on and

off the golf course. Golf carts must be fitted with front and rear lights if used anywhere after sunset.
2.30. Loud music emanating from a golf cart causing a disturbance is not permitted.
2.31. With the exception of golf carts and Association maintenance vehicles, no other vehicles will be

permitted on the golf course.
2.32. Golfers and other pedestrians crossing streets at demarcated crossing areas in the Estate have the

right of way.
2.33. The riding of bicycles are permitted on cart paths, but not allowed to be ridden anywhere on the

play areas of the golf course. Golfers, other pedestrians and golf carts have the right of way.
2.34. Quad bikes are not permitted to be driven anywhere on the Estate.
2.35. Vehicles with after factory-fitted noisy exhaust systems are prohibited from being used as this will

create excessive and unreasonable noise.

2.36. Members’ visitors may not park in the streets or on pavements, in any way that obstruct vehicular or

pedestrian traffic.
2.37. The portion of Erf 169, as indicated on the registered Surveyor General Plan, number 3901/2015,

may only be used for emergency vehicles.
Pets & domesticated animals
2.38. The municipal bylaws relating to the keeping of animals will apply and no more than three dogs or

three cats may be kept on a property. Permission may be granted by the Association for temporary
housing, which permisison first needs to be obtained.
2.39. Poultry, racing pigeons, aviaries, rabbits, wild animals, livestock or the like are not permitted to be

kept by Members on the Estate, whether as pets or otherwise.
2.40. Dogs must at all times be kept on a leash when being walked on the communal areas of the Estate.
2.41. The walking of dogs in the natural areas, pathways or gravel road in the game reserve is strictly

forbidden.
2.42. The owner of any domesticated animal is responsible for the picking up and removing of the animal’s

faecal matter and must do so anywhere outside the boundaries of the member’s unit. Owners
walking their pets must carry a bag with them for the picking up and removing of their animal’s
faecal matter. Failure to comply with this rule may lead to penalties being imposed against the
member.
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2.43. Members must ensure that their dogs and cats are either microchipped or are fitted with collars and

a disc reflecting the stand number, owner’s name and telephone number. Unidentified dogs and
cats found roaming will be removed to an appropriate pet facility or the SPCA, the cost of which will
be for the Member’s account.
2.44. The Association shall have the right to demand that a resident remove a pet should such pet become

a continuous nuisance or a danger in the Estate.
Tenants / occupiers
2.45. In the event of breaches of these Rules by any tenant and/or occupant, or any invitee or client of a

Member, the Member as owner of the Unit will be held liable for the breach and any penalty imposed
for the breach by the Association in terms of the Rules.
2.46. A Member may not make their Unit available for communal / shared or short term accommodation

by different groups or individuals, unless the Unit is registered as a guest house with the Association
and the City of Tshwane.
Property transaction
2.47. Estate Agents wishing to sell or rent out property on the Estate must be issued with an access system

pin by the member before they can enter the Estate to conduct business on the Estate.
2.48. The Member and their estate agent will ensure that a prospective purchaser or tenant receives a

copy of the Rules, and that a copy signed by the purchaser or tenant is included as an annexure in
any deed of sale or lease agreement concluded with such purchaser or tenant.
2.49. The purchaser or tenant must provide a written acknowledgment to the Association that they have

received a copy of the Rules before their resident’s access rights to the Estate will be granted by the
Association. This can be done by signing the acknowledgement letter provided by the Association
during the establishment of access to the Estate.
2.50. Private or estate agent “for sale”, “to let”, “sold” or the like signage may not be erected anywhere

in the Estate.
2.51. Door-to-door calls (“cold calling”) of residents by estate agents or any other marketing agent is

prohibited.
2.52. Only show houses “by appointment” are permitted. Clients will be collected from the security gate,

escorted to the appropriate property and escorted back out the gate.

3.

RULES PERTAINING TO ESTATE, DISTRICT, REGIONAL, PROVINCIAL OR NATIONAL
EMERGENCIES
3.1.

4.

In cases of Estate, District, Regional, Provincial or National Emergencies, the Association through
the board of directors reserves the right to interpret and align applicable Association Rules with any
mandates or regulations issued by the authorities to serve the intended purpose of the mandate or
regulations.

ENVIRONMENTAL RULES
Ensuring a pleasing streetscape
4.1.

Each Member is responsible for maintaining the area between the kerb stone of the road and the
cadastral boundary of his Unit.
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4.2.

Members shall maintain grass, trees, plants and shrubs that have been planted on the sidewalks by
the Association. To maintain a unified aesthetic appearance, all street corners will predominantly
consist of lawn and trees.

4.3.

Sidewalk trees may not be damaged or removed without the consent of the Association. The cost of
the approved removal will be for the account of the Member.

4.4.

Garden fences, walls and outbuildings forming part of the streetscape must be kept in a good
condition at all times.

4.5.

Caravans, mobile campers, trailers, boats, building material, generators, tools, engine and vehicle
parts, vehicles in disrepair or unserviceable vehicles, as well as any pet housing, must be located
out of view or be screened from view, as per the minimum requirements of the Association, from the
street, golf course or game reserve areas.

4.6.

Industrial and heavy duty industrial vehicles may not be parked or stored in the Estate unless
completely screened out of sight on the member’s property. Construction vehicles, plant and
equipment for construction will be parked on the site within a screened area.

4.7.

Members may not allow vegetation or any other objects to be planted, erected or placed in the road
reserve between the edge of the kerb stone of the road bordering the road surface and the cadastral
boundary of the Unit in a manner which is likely to obstruct fire hydrants or impair the visibility of
vehicular traffic movement.

4.8.

Concrete balls, whether decorative or otherwise, are not permitted anywhere on the road reserve as
they can roll into the street and cause damage to vehicles. Such items shall be removed by the
Association at the cost of the Member and the Member shall have no claim against the Association
for any loss.

Waste Management
4.9.

Members must ensure that their home refuse bin may request replacement or additional bins from
the Association and will be invoiced separately for these bins and their removal at a rate as
determined by the Association.

4.10. Refuse bins must be maintained in a hygienic and dry condition, free of foul odours and effluent

from washing of bins must be discharged into the sewer system of the Unit and not onto pavements
or the roads.
4.11. For the purpose of having the refuse collected, Members must place such bins on the sidewalk only

on the designated days of collection and must promptly return such bins inside his stand boundary
out of plain sight when the refuse has been collected. The first bin is included as part of the levy.
4.12. Members may request replacement or additional bins from the Association and will be invoiced

separately for these bins and the servicing thereof at a rate as determined by the Association.
4.13. Members must only make use of the refuse collection service provider contracted by the

Association. The cost for refuse collection will be included in the member’s levy account.
4.14. Members are encouraged to make use of the Association’s recycling programme, the cost of which

is included in the levy account.
4.15. The same rules regards hygiene and placement for collection as above applies for recycling.
4.16. Members can buy recycling bins from the Association and the same rules pertaining to hygiene

practises and placement for collection as mentioned above apply.
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Sewage and storm-water
4.17. Sewage must discharged into the sewerage reticulation system and not into the stormwater

reticulation system, streams or dams in the Estate and must comply with local municipal authority
regulations. Water from an irrigation system, swimming pool, water feature, jacuzzi, fish pond,
basement or sump must either be discharged evenly onto the natural ground inside the boundaries
of the Unit or if capable into a Unit’s greywater system and not onto or via the road surfaces.
4.18. Members must not extract water from the waterways, dams or sink wells, drill boreholes or extract

subterranean water from their Unit.
4.19. To prevent pollution of the dams, water from aquatic systems must not be emptied into any storm

water system or into the Estate dams or streams.
4.20. Where necessary members must obtain a written agreement and consent from adjacent owners of

Units and especially adjacent owners of lower lying Units regarding the management of storm water.
Members with lower lying Units may not unreasonably refuse to accept storm water from higher lying
Units in accordance with Local Municipal Authority requirements. Where needed, application can
be made to the Local Authority to install an appropriate sub-soil drain on the road reserve of the
Unit, which installation shall comply with engineering specifications, and the costs of which shall be
for the account of the Member.
4.21. Members with prior arrangement by the Association must allow access to their Units for the

Associations’ representative or appointed competent person to perform the appropriate inspection
to ensure compliance with the Rules or to perform essential maintenance work. In this regard
members indemnify the Association, its representative and/or its designated competent person from
liability for damage caused to Units during an inspection or maintenance procedure.
Specific rules in respect of the nature reserve
4.22. Feeding of wild animals by Members is strictly prohibited. Wild animals are potentially dangerous

and special care should be taken when in close proximity to them. Neither the Association, nor its
directors, servants, agents, employees or appointees shall be liable for any death, injury or loss
sustained as a result of any person or property being in any way harmed by any wild animal on the
Estate.
4.23. Night game viewing is not allowed.
4.24. The game reserve and all areas next to the dam in the game reserve is out of bounds from sunset

to sunrise.
4.25. Hiking is only allowed on demarcated hiking trails.
4.26. Motorised vehicles may not be used on the hiking or cycling trails and bicycle riding is restricted to

the cycling trails.
4.27. The braai facilities of Units must be so designed and used in such a manner in order to avoid veld

fires.
4.28. Members are prohibited from keeping any free ranging exotic birds.
4.29. Members noting any fauna in distress must report it as soon as possible to the Security Control Room

and must refrain from assisting it unless requested to do so by a staff member of the Association.

4.30. No loud music or excessive noise allowed.
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5.

HOME BUSINESS RULES
Home enterprise
5.1.

Members may not conduct an enterprise (business or professional activity) from a Unit or any part
thereof without applying for the consent of the Association and provided further that all requirements
and conditions of the relevant town planning scheme and property title deed have been complied
with.

5.2.

Any Member wishing to conduct an enterprise from home must complete the prescribed form and
submit the form and pay the prescribed fees to the Association for it to consider the application and
in writing approve or decline the application.

5.3.

Tenants wishing to conduct an enterprise from the rental property need to obtain written approval
from the Member for this activity. Thereafter, along with the submission of the Member’s approval
the same process and fees will apply as is the case with a Member. The approval from the Member
must include a condition relating to the automatic lapsing of the approval should the tenant
conducting the enterprise breach the rules pertaining to home enterprises and fails to remedy the
breach upon receiving an instruction to do so.

5.4.

Any enterprise must comply with the criteria and conditions specified, as amended from time to time
by the Association, and with any conditions applicable in terms of legislation and the municipal bylaws.

5.5.

The total floor space utilised in respect of such home enterprise in a Unit must not exceed a total of
60m² (sixty square metres).

5.6.

The Member conducting an enterprise from home may not employ more than two enterprise
employees unless approved.

5.7.

Other than for guests visiting a member for social reasons, the vehicles of employees, clients and
other visitors to the home enterprise must be accommodated on the premises and must not be
allowed to park on the road reserve / sidewalks, street or on adjacent property.

5.8.

Persons conducting an enterprise from home and who wishes to display or advertise a service or
product on the Estate requires the prior written permission of the Association and must submit a
detailed proposal to the Association. The proposed advertisement must provide details pertaining to
the appearance, size and proposed location. The Association reserved the right to remove
advertisements which have not been approved by the Association and/or impose a penalty.

5.9.

In the event of a failure to comply and to remain in non-compliance with the above provisions and,
in particular any criteria and condition specified by the Association in its written approval or in its
prescribed application form, the Association will instruct the Member or tenant to cease the enterprise
operations within a specified time. Failure to comply with this instruction will result in the imposing
of penalties, and/or legal action against the Member by the Association.

Guesthouses
5.10. For the purpose of these Rules, a guesthouse means:
5.10.1.

any building or buildings, offering accommodation facilities with or without meals to
transient resident guests;

5.10.2.

it must not have more than 16 guest rooms; and

5.10.3.

it is managed by the owner or host who must reside on the same property;

5.10.4.

it can include a dining and conference facility for the exclusive use of resident guests but
does not include any building mentioned in the Town Planning Scheme definitions of a
“place of refreshment”, “place of amusement”, “social hall” and “adult premises”.
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5.11. Members acknowledge that the Estate is a residential estate and that:
5.11.1.

Prospective Guest House operators must submit to the Association a detailed copy of
their intended application to the Local Municipal Authority to operate a guest house in
order for the Association to consider consenting to the application, which application
requires the following information:
5.11.1.1. A detailed site and building plan, indicating the allocation of the total floor
area of the proposed guesthouse.
5.11.1.2. The residential unit of the host/owner must be indicated on the site and
building plan and each guest room must be numbered.
5.11.1.3. All parking and landscaped areas must be indicated on the site plan at a
ratio of one parking space for every guest room and two parking spaces for
the owner/host.
5.11.1.4. The development shall only be accommodated on a site that has sufficient
area to allow for guest accommodation and car parking without adversely
affecting the amenity of neighbouring residences.

5.11.2.

All legitimate guesthouses must be registered with the Association and the owners must
submit to the Association a detailed copy of the Local Authority approval for registration
purposes.

5.11.3.

Guesthouses operating in the Estate without the prior approval of the Local Authority will
be reported by the Association to the Local Authority for closure. Such guesthouses will
be issued with the prescribed penalties and the Association reserves the right to obtain
a court order to interdict against the continued operation of the guesthouse.

5.12. The Member must ensure that their guesthouse is accredited by a reputable and graded Bed &

Breakfast Association and by the National Grading Council Association and remains accredited.
The proof of accreditation must be submitted to the Association by the Member within 6 (six) months
of commencement of the operation and thereafter on request.
5.13. In addition to points already noted, a Member who wishes to operate a Guest House also needs to

comply with the following:
5.13.1.

All facilities, functions and meals will be for the sole use of registered transient guests.

5.13.2.

The proposed development will have a residential character.

5.13.3.

Activities (excluding arrivals and departures) on the site should in general be confined to
normal office hours.

5.13.4.

Delivery areas should not be unsightly or noisy. All loading and off-loading activities will
take place at the Unit.

5.13.5.

Parking areas will be as approved by the Association, as far as possible considering the
amenity of the neighbours.

5.13.6.

Only one enterprise sign board can be displayed on the property with the prior written
approval of the Association. This sign board will not have dimensions exceeding 460mm
x 600mm.

5.13.7.

Live music, noisy entertainment and dance facilities must not be provided in the Unit.
Musical and other noise that radiate from the premises must not be audible beyond the
property boundaries. Public functions or parties are not allowed at the Unit.
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5.13.8.

The Member must have a condensed Association approved version of the Rules available
for all guests and ensure that all employees are provided with a copy of the Rules of the
Association.

5.13.9.

The Member acknowledges that he is responsible for the acts and omissions of clients,
guests, employees, contractors, subcontractors, visitors and invitees. In the event of
breaches of the Rules of the Association, the Member is held liable for such breaches and
any penalty imposed by the Association in terms of the Rules.

5.13.10. Guesthouse owner Members must issue an access system pin to each of their identified

guests for access to the estate. Any abuse of the access control system may result in
forfeiture of the priviledge and the imposition of a penalty against the Member’s account.
The Association will not issue under ordinary circumstances any access cards to
guesthouse Members to enable their guests to access the Estate.
5.14. Persistent and continual breaches of the Rules may result in the Association approaching a court of

law for an order to force the permanent closure of the guesthouse business.

6.

SECURITY SYSTEM RULES
Members must comply with the security rules and other security directives as published from time to time
relating to security issues, including but not limited to access to or egress from the Estate, monitoring and
supervision of staff, and safety precautions (including with respect to children, pets, vehicles, fire prevention
and control, and emergency protocols).
6.1.

Security officials must at all times be treated respectfully and courteously and in a cooperative
manner.

6.2.

Under no circumstances will Members or any person other than security personnel, Association
directors or Association authorised personnel be allowed into the gatehouses.

6.3.

Every Member, their visitors, permanent workers, temporary workers, golf caddies, golf course staff,
contractor and subcontractor, and their representatives must comply with the access control system,
which includes, but are not limted to:
6.3.1.

Permanent workers should be registered at the Association’s enrollment office, which
application can be completed at the enrollment office or on the website before they get
their fingerprints done at the enrollment office.

6.3.2.

A temporary / casual workers will not be allowed access unless they have positive
identification and the resident completed a one day permit at the Security Office at the
gate.

6.3.3.

Visitors must be pre-cleared with a pin code.

6.4.

Members must report security related incidents to the Security Control Room as soon as possible.

6.5.

Except for senior Association staff, nobody else may authorise a deviation from the rules.

6.6.

Members may not issue instructions to security personnel.

6.7.

Members must advise their visitors to the Estate that they will need to produce either a valid original
driving license, or valid original identity book or passport for access to the Estate, failing to do so
may result in the visitors be refused entry.

6.8.

Members are required to advise security in advance of large groups of visitors by contacting the
Control Room, but still make use of the Visitor Management System by sending pin codes to visitors,
as this will enable Security to provide a more efficient service at the gate.
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6.9.

Members must refrain from making or being a party to the raising of any false alarm.

6.10. The intentional blockage or obstruction of access and egress to/from the Estate is prohibited and
appropriate action will be taken against such a person.
6.11. Members may not employ private security guards to patrol the outside of their Unit. Should private
security be required, the resident may only make use of the security company contracted by the
Association by prior arrangement and all costs will be for the account of the resident. Private security
guards may not carry unconcealed arms and may under no circumstances patrol or walk-about
outside the boundaries of a Unit.
6.12. It is mandatory for persons working or residing on the Estate to be enrolled in the electronic biometric
access system to gain access to the Estate.
6.13. Persons falling in the following categories should be enrolled in the access system:
6.13.1.

Adult licensed vehicle operators residing on the Estate.

6.13.2.

Learner licensed vehicle operators residing on the Estate.

6.13.3.

Adult persons residing on the Estate.

6.13.4.

Adult persons employed by members and businesses on the Estate.

6.13.5.

Adult persons registered as “frequent visitors” or “trusted individuals” by the Member.

6.14. Children under the age of 14 may not be enrolled in the electronic biometric access system, while
children between the ages of 14 and 18 may only be enrolled with the explicit written permission of
their parents.
6.15. All persons working or residing on the Estate must take care that they conduct themselves with
decorum as any or all their actions may be recorded by the CCTV system in common areas. In
entering the Estate, all persons doing so have accepted the terms of entry and have consented to
the use of CCTV monitoring of their movements in and around the Estate.
6.16. Members must ensure that their home burglar alarms are kept in a sound working condition and
comply with any rules which the Association may make with regard thereto from time to time. Alarms
or sirens must not unduly disturb neighbours (i.e. be silent to the outside environment).
6.17. Members who wish to enrol a “trusted individual” who are friends or family of the member, but
excluding an employee, to gain access in terms of these Rules will have to lodge the prescribed
application with the Association and sign an agreement whereby the Member and trusted individual
accept responsibility jointly and severally for the compliance of such “trusted individual” with the
Rules when the individual is visiting the Estate.

7.

GOLF COURSE UTILISATION AND CONDUCT RULES
General
The golf course and clubhouse facilities are there to be enjoyed by everyone, golfers and non-golfers alike.
The Codes of Conduct for these facilities as published by the Association must be strictly adhered to at all
times. The Association reserves the right to refuse, suspend or cancel membership of the Golf Club and/or
usage of the Clubhouse in the event of breaching the Codes of Conduct or failure to pay Debt due to the
Association.
Golf is a potentially dangerous sport for participants, spectators, residents and passers-by which requires
compliance with the following rules:
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7.1.

The golf course in its entirety, with the exception of golf cart paths, is closed between the hours of
23h00 and 4h00 to all persons except for the security, maintenance and emergency staff.
Transgressors may be subject to a penalty.

During golfing hours (06:15 to end of official play as determined by management)
7.2.

Golfers must exercise all reasonable caution during play not to cause damage to property or death
or injury to persons and may be held personally liable for such damage, death or injury.

7.3.

The in-bounds (playing) areas of the golf course, with the exception of golf cart paths, may not be
used by any person during golfing hours.

7.4.

Non-golfers must strictly remain on the cart paths between 06:15 and 18:00 and must take extreme
caution to be aware of golf balls in flight.

7.5.

For reasons of safety, non-golfers may not walk or jog, ride a bicycle or drive carts across or in any
manner traverse the golf playing areas of the course during golfing hours.

7.6.

Persons who walk, jog and cycle on the golf course cart paths do so entirely at their own risk at any
time, whether during golfing hours or not.

7.7.

Cyclists are restricted to the cart paths only and may not cycle or push a bicycle on any of the play
areas of the golf course at any time.

7.8.

Person not playing golf and walking on the cart paths are required to be silent and to keep stationary
when golfers are in the process of playing a golf shot.

7.9.

Access to the golf course for golfers will only be granted after registering at the Pro Shop prior to
play.

7.10. Golfers may not start to play golf on any hole other than the 1st or 10th
7.11. Golfers may not retrieve golf balls from or enter onto the private property of Members for any reason.
7.12. Golf practising is limited to the designated driving range and practise facilities during the designated
times. Casual playing or practising is not allowed anywhere on the golf course at any time.
7.13. Golfers playing a game of golf enjoy priority use on the golf course at all times.
7.14. Occupants of Units adjacent to the golf course must take note to be aware of being accidently struck
by a golf ball when in their gardens from golf balls in errant flight.
7.15. All person on the golf course must obey instructions from marshals and security officials at all times.
After golfing hours
7.16. With the exception of the greens, tee boxes and sand bunkers, Members are welcome to use the
course for recreational activities such as walking, jogging, or exercising pets on a leash while
activities such as the riding of bicycles or any recreational activities that may cause damage to the
golf course are not permitted.
7.17. Activities may not be undertaken closer than fifteen metres to any green, tee box or sand bunker.
Greens are the finely mowed and manicured areas where golfers finish every hole, indicated with
flag sticks in the cups. Therefore, persons with the exception of a golfer or golf course maintenance
staff or golf management are not allowed on a green, tee box or in a sand bunker.
7.18. Members may not interfere with, remove or vandalise golf course property, including out-of-bounds
markers.
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7.19. Driving Range balls are the property of the Association and may not be removed from the range
area or dams for any reason. Any range balls found elsewhere must be returned to the Pro Shop.
Range balls may not be used on the golf course.

8.

DISCIPLINARY AND GENERAL CONDUCT RULES
8.1. In the event of any breach of the MOI and/or Rules by a Member, resident, invitee, client, visitor,
occupants, contractor, subcontractor, estate agent or any other person (the “defaulting party”), the
Association will be entitled to request the defaulting party to provide an explanation, or apology in
writing; and/or

9.

8.1.1.

issue a reprimand (orally or in writing) and request such defaulting party to remedy such
breach within a prescribed time period; and/or

8.1.2.

impose a penalty as per the Schedule of Transgressions and Penalties; and/or

8.1.3.

withdraw any previously given consent applicable to the particular matter to which such
default pertains; and/or

8.1.4.

take any such further action, including legal action, as the Association may deem fit in
order to enforce the provisions of the MOI and Rules.

8.2.

Should the Association impose a penalty for a transgression by a Member then the penalty amount
will be added to the transgressing Member’s levy account. A penalty amount that is imposed against
a non-Member for a transgression, becomes payable on demand. A penalty that is imposed against
a non-Member who is a resident, representative of a Member, visitor, or guest or in any way
associated with a Member, then the penalty amount will be added to the Member’s levy account.

8.3.

The Association will be entitled to take such action and impose such penalties in terms of these Rules
as deemed in the best interest of the Estate.

8.4.

In the event of repeated breaches by a defaulting party, the Association will be entitled in terms of
the Schedule of Penalties to escalate the penalties which may be imposed in respect of such breach
in for each and every occasion that such a breach re-occurs.

8.5.

The decision of the Association regarding the enforcement of the MOI and Rules and the imposition
of any sanctions in terms of the MOI and Rules will be final and binding.

8.6.

The provisions of the rules to enforce discipline does not preclude any party from seeking urgent
relief.

8.7.

Members acknowledge that they are responsible for the acts and omissions of their family,
employees, contractors (and sub-contractors), visitors, clients and invitees, including payment of
penalties in respect of any of the aforementioned, and that the exercising by the Association of any
rights insofar as any offending party (who is not a Member) is concerned will not relieve the affected
Member from his obligations, nor abrogate from the rights of the Directors to exercise any right or
enforce any remedies against such Member arising from the offending breach of the MOI and Rules.

DIRECTOR CAMPAIGNS AND ELECTION CAMPAIGN RULES
These rules are meant to ensure fairness, keep order and preserve the integrity of the campaigns for the
election of Directors. Campaigning is defined as publicly promoting one’s candidacy in person or via
electronic means.
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Campaigning
9.1.

The Electoral Committee (“EC”) appointed by the Board will have the right to control and oversee
the campaigning and election of Directors. Candidates should maintain the “spirit of the campaign”
which is an atmosphere of friendly competition with others and respect for the election process.

9.2.

Campaigners may not violate the MOI or Rules or negatively interfere with the EC responsibility to
preserve the integrity of the election and other candidate’s campaigns.

9.3.

Door-to-door campaigning is not allowed.

9.4.

If during the campaign a candidate’s name is removed from the register of Members, such candidate
will immediately cease to campaign and his nomination will be ipso facto cancelled.

9.5.

Campaigners will not in any way utilise the Association’s resources or stage mass gatherings in
communal areas.

9.6.

If someone is unsure if a particular campaigning activity violates these Rules, he shall contact the
EC for an official interpretation, which interpretation will be final and binding.

9.7.

Candidates may not begin campaigning before the time set by the EC as the start of official
campaigning.

9.8.

Campaigners must abide by generally acceptable behaviour regarding e-mails or any other form of
electronic communication or social media and respect the privacy of Members.

9.9.

Campaigners will be personally responsible for their actions and the integrity of information
distributed by them.

9.10. The EC reserves the right to reject publication of any information deemed inappropriate.

Procedure for complaints

10.

9.11.

Complaints related to the elections must be directed in writing to the chairperson of the EC no
later than 48 hours of the announcement of the provisional election results by the chairperson of
the AGM.

9.12.

If complaints are received, the EC must conduct an investigation to determine the validity of the
complaint by applying the principles of Natural Justice and can impose any sanction deemed
appropriate, including the disqualification of a candidate. This must be completed within 2 (two)
weeks from the date of receipt of the complaint.

9.13.

The decision and remedial actions prescribed by the EC following any complaint will be final and
binding unless reviewed by a competent authority.

ADVERTISING RULES
10.1. No advertising signboards or the like shall be placed in any visible area without the prior consent of

the Association with regards to appearance, size and position.
10.2. The official community magazine (Intra Muros) is published by the Association to share events and

general information within the Estate and surrounding areas.
10.3. Advertisements, other than sponsorships or official information shared by the Association, may not

be exhibited or distributed at the gatehouses, Clubhouse or anywhere else on the estate.
10.4. The Association reserves the right to reject any material for publication in the Intra Muros.
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11.

CODE OF CONDUCT IN RESPECT OF USE OF THE CLUBHOUSE AND COMMUNAL
FACILITIES
11.1. Members and visitors who use the communal recreational facilities on the Estate will be subject to

strictly enforced rules and/or generally acceptable code of conduct as may be published from time
to time by the Association.
11.2. Repeated breaches of the rules and/or generally acceptable code of conduct pertaining to these

facilities by Members or visitors will result in the imposition of a sanction at the discretion of the
Association, which sanction may include being barred temporarily or permanently from the use of
or entering of these facilities.
11.3. The Association reserves the Right of Admission.

12.

DISPUTE RESOLUTION
12.1. Disputes between Members, tenants, invitees or occupants:
12.1.1.

Should a dispute arise, the parties involved will endeavour in the first instance to settle
such dispute and will in such circumstances exhibit due tolerance and will act reasonably
in accordance with the principles of good neighbourliness.

12.1.2.

Where such dispute cannot be resolved, should the disputant parties mutually agree, the
dispute may be referred to the Association, who will act as mediators (and not arbitrators)
should the Directors have so resolved;

12.1.3.

In the event of the matter being resolved to the satisfaction of the disputant parties as a
result of the mediation of the Directors, such settlement will be final and binding upon the
disputant parties;

12.1.4.

Where the disputant parties have elected to submit their dispute for mediation to the
Directors, the disputant parties will, in equal shares, pay the estimated reasonable costs
which will be incurred by the Directors in regard to mediation, and will have been
previously advised to the disputant parties. Should the circumstances require, the Directors
shall be entitled to call for further or “top up” payments from the parties;

12.1.5.

Should the Directors elect not to mediate with respect to the dispute the disputant parties
will be so informed and will be entitled to resolve or otherwise dispose of the dispute in
such manner as they deem necessary, whether by way of legal proceedings or arbitration,
it being expressly agreed that the Directors will not be a party to any such proceedings or
arbitration and will bear no responsibility in respect thereof.

12.2. Disputes between Members and the Association
12.2.1. A Member or any person covered under the Community Scheme Ombud Service Act, 2011

(in this clause collectively “Member”) who disputes that he has committed a breach of any
obligation in terms of the MOI and/or the Rules and associated penalty that accompanies
the breach, will Deliver a dispute submission, in Writing, to the Directors within 14 (fourteen)
business days from the date of the Notice as contained in the Notice Delivered to the
affected Member.
12.2.2. The written dispute submission must provide reasons for disputing the breach, alternatively

provide mitigating circumstances or reasons in mitigation of the breach or for a reduction
in the penalty or penalty amount.
12.2.3. In the event of a Member failing to submit a written submission within the 14 business days

to the Directors, the Member may within 30 calendar days from the date of the Notice
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include in the member’s submission of dispute a request for condonation of the late
submission.
12.2.4. Failure to deliver such a submission will be deemed that the Member has conceded the

facts in the notice and will have accepted the decision of the Association on the matter;
12.2.5. A meeting of the Directors will be convened as soon as reasonably possible after receipt of

a submission;
12.2.6. For purposes of the dispute, the Directors will be entitled to delegate any of their powers

and/or responsibilities to a committee consisting of not less than 2 (two) Directors, a
member of Senior Management, the person appointed by the Association to undertake the
administrative functions of the Association to which the penalty relates and any other
person(s) appointed by the Directors;
12.2.7. The proceedings at such a meeting of Directors and other appointees will comply with the

principles of Natural Justice and enquire into the dispute;
12.2.8. Following such meeting, the Member will be notified within a reasonable time in writing of

the decision of the meeting, which decision will be final and binding on the Member.
12.3. Should the affected Member be aggrieved by the decision of the meeting he may, within 14

(fourteen) days after receipt of delivery of written notification of the meeting’s decision, refer such a
dispute as provided for in the Community Scheme Ombud Service Act, 2011, failing which it will be
deemed that the Member has accepted the decision of the Directors.
12.4. Neither the Association nor the affected Member will be prevented from seeking any urgent or interim

relief from a competent Court.
12.5. The provisions of this clause dealing with disputes are severable from the remaining provisions of the

MOI and Rules and will continue to apply in circumstances where the affected Member ceases to be
a Member at any time after receipt of the Written notices referred to in this clause.
12.6. The Association reserves the right to apply to any competent court to enforce any of the rights of the

Association in terms of the MOI or Rules and all legal and other costs with regard to any legal
proceedings instituted by the Association against any Member will be recoverable from the Member
on an attorney and client scale where such dispute is ruled in favour of the Association.

13.

SCHEDULE OF TRANSGRESSIONS & PENALTIES
This Schedule is a guideline, amended from time to time, with additions and deletions as deemed
necessary by the Directors.

DESCRIPTION OF TRANSGRESSION
USE OF ROADS
Parking a vehicle anywhere other than in a demarcated parking bay.
Driving a golf cart without a learners license
Driving of non-licensed quad bikes anywhere in the Estate.
Driving a vehicle in an off-limit area. Driving on the golf course, in parks
and on pavements with any type of engine powered vehicle (except with a
registered golf cart on the golf course)
Driving golf carts in the Estate without lights after sunset.
Driving an unregistered golf cart anywhere in the Estate / not displaying valid
annual registration sticker
Use of vehicles and motor cycles with afterfactory-fitted noisy exhaust
systems.
DISTURBING THE PEACE
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1st Offence

2nd Offence

3rd Offence onwards

Written warning
R1,000
R 250

R 500
R1,500
R 500

R 750
R2,000
R 750

Written warning

R 500

R 750

Written warning
Written warning
(7 days to
comply)

R 500

R 750

R 500

R 750

Written warning

R 500

R 750

Noise generated by music, electronic instruments, mechanical and/or
electrical equipment, partying and the activities of Members and their
employees.
SECURITY
Unauthorised use of access cards by any person.
Unauthorised entry into the Estate by any person.
Treating the security personnel in an abusive manner.
Bringing any form of labour into the Estate without following the correct
procedures in terms of permits.
Members allowing anybody into the Estate without following access
procedures.
Tailgating i.e. gaining unauthorised access into the Estate by slipping under
the boom which was raised to allow access to previous person.
Deliberate obstruction of access/egress to/from Estate.
PETS
Barking dogs. Pets becoming a nuisance in the Estate.
Pets roaming the streets.
Dogs not on a leash.
Keeping more than three dogs or three cats.
Not removing animal faecal matter
ENVIRONMENT
Dumping of rubble, refuse or building material anywhere in the Estate.
Littering.
Burning of rubbish in the Estate.
Fauna and flora chased, trapped, harmed, removed or interfered with or
harassed in anyway.

Written warning

R1 000

R2 000

R2 000
R2 000
Written warning
R1000 per
person
R1000 per
person

R3 000
R3 000
R1 000
R2 000 per
person
R2 000 per
person

R4 000
R4 000
R2 000

R2 000

R3 000

R 250
R 250
R 500

R 500

R 750

R2 000
R200
R1 000

R2 500
R 350
R2 000

R3 000
R 500
R3 000

R1 000

R2 000

R3 000

General garden maintenance (unoccupied)

Written warning
(48 hours to
comply)

Found on any area on the golf course with the exception of the cart paths
between 23h00 and 4h30.

R4 000

Written warning
R 250
R 250
Written warning
(30 days to
comply)
R 250

Written warning
(21 days to
comply)

Vandalism.

R3 000 per person

R10 000 per incident

Dwelling unoccupied or occupied where pool safety and external
maintenance not complied with.

Illegal connections of storm water to the sewerage system. Unauthorised
pumping of water from dams or boreholes.
GOLF COURSE
Playing golf or practising on the course not part of official play.
Any activities on tee boxes, putting greens and sand bunkers not part of
official play.
Interfering with official out-of-bounds stakes.
Removing practice balls from the driving range.

R3 000 per person

R 500
R 500
R 750

R 500 per pet per month

R2 000 per month from month 1- 3
R5 000 per month from month 4-6
R10 000 per month from month 7
onwards
R1 000 per occasions 1st offence
R2 000 per occasion 2nd offence
R3 000 per occasion 3rd offence and
thereafter.
The above penalties will be raised as
well as the cost to clean the garden.
R5 000 per month

R 500

R2 000

R3 000

R1 000

R2 000

R3 000

Written warning
R 500
Cost of repair
plus R2 500

R2 000
R 1000
Cost of repair
plus R5 000

R 1 000
per person

R 2 000
per person

R3 000
R2 000
Cost of repair plus
R7 500
R 3 000
and increase by
R2 000 per occasion
after the 3rd time

GENERAL
Operating a business in the Estate without prior Local Authority and/or
Association approval.
Unauthorised advertising in the Estate.
Unauthorised flying of remotely piloted aircraft systems.
Vandalism to communal property.
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Written warning
(30 days to
comply)
R1 000
R 250
Cost of repair
plus R2 500

R5 000 per month
R2 000
R 500
Cost of repair
plus R5 000

R4 000
R1 000
Cost of repair plus
R7 500

PROPOSED ARCHITECTURAL & CONSTRUCTION RULES
INCLUDING SCHEDULE OF
TRANSGRESSIONS & PENALTIES
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Silver Lakes Homeowners Association
Condensed Version
Preamble.
These pages provide a condensed version of all the additions and changes made to the Architectural and Construction Rules
to eliminate the need for Members to read through the whole of the Rules. These pages have been verified to be a correct
reflection of the additions and changes to the base document.
The proposed additions and changes to the Architectural and Construction Rules are based on several reasons, which
includes but are not limited to clarifying a rule; a change in legislation; splitting and elaborating a rule for an easier
understanding of what is required when plans are submitted for scrutinising or an application submitted for a generator;
addressing a practice that have been applied for years but never put in the Rules; or further improving the previously
approved Rules.
Grammatical changes or the use of better wording in the Architectural and Construction Rules which may not have a material
impact are not noted in this document.
The following additions and changes are proposed to the Architectural and Construction Rules, which changes include
proposals intended for the CGM on 30 March 2020 which meeting was postponed due to COVID-19, along with other
changes that were identified by the board during the year. The proposals were considered by the board and includes legal
input, contributions received from members during workshops facilitated in 2020 and 2021, proposals submitted in writing
by 22 January 2021 and input provided by the various board committees. The board considered all the proposals and
where it was meaningful, legal and to the best interest of the members on the estate, the changes were incorporated. The
opportunity was also given to the Social, Ethics and Governance Committee to make comment before the board made their
final decision as included in the pack.
Special notes are inserted to better explain the reason for some of the more complex reasons for the need for the addition
and change to the Architectural and Construction Rules.

ADDITIONS
The following are proposed to be added to the Architectural and Construction Rules.
Introduction
1.1.

These Architectural and Construction Rules, including the Schedule of Transgressions & Penalties are made under the
provision of the Companies Act 71 of 2008, (the Act) as amended and the clauses of the Memorandum of
Incorporation (“MOI”) pertaining to Rules.

1.2.

The Architectural and Construction Rules are deemed to be reasonable, binding and equally applicable to all
Members without any form of discrimination. The Architectural and Construction Rules are considered to be neither
restrictive, nor punitive, but is rather seen as a judicious framework to safeguard and promote appropriate and fair
interaction to the benefit of all.

1.3.

Any waiver, relaxation, extension of time, delay or failure (collectively “Relaxation”) by the Association in exercising
any right under these Architectural and Construction Rules will not be construed as a waiver of that right and will not
operate as an estoppel (the principle which precludes a person from asserting something contrary to what is implied
by a previous action or statement of that person or by a previous pertinent judicial determination) against the
Association or affect the ability of the Association subsequently to exercising or enforcing any of its rights and the
obligations of any Member, nor will any Relaxation constitute a waiver of any other right. The waiver of any right
under these Rules will be binding on the Association only to the extent that the waiver has been reduced to writing
and signed by the duly authorised representative(s) of the Association.

1.4.

All Architectural and Construction Rules must be read in conjunction with the MOI and Rules.

Architectural Rules
1.34 Deviation from approved building plans without prior approval will result in penalties to be imposed as provided and
refusing approval for the building contractor to do any other construction on the Estate once the dwelling where they
deviated has been completed.
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SPECIAL NOTE – Many contractors, contrary to National Building Regulations, Local Municipal bylaws and the Rules of the
Estate build without approved plans or deviate substantially from approved plans. Even if penalised they blatantly continue
with their bad practices to the detriment of other owners and the Estate.
1.72 Pointed fences or equivalent design will not be allowed as these may cause injury to animals.
Generators
SPECIAL NOTE – The rules under Generators have been included to make clear distinction between the process for the
approval of large generators, the requirements for small generators and when they may be used.
2.14 The owner of a Unit will not permanently install power generators without the prior written approval of the Association
and in compliance with the specifications as laid down by the Association.
2.15 Any generator may only be operated during times when the main power supply to the Estate has been interrupted
and then only between the hours of 06h00 to 23h00. Alternative power supply systems should be used for medical
reasons when the generators are not allowed to be operated.
2.16 A generator may only be tested during the hours and days when electrical power tools may be used.
2.17 Small or portable electrical power generators do not need the official approval of the Association. The following
needs to be adhered to:
2.17.1

Must be positioned and operated in such way to diminish the effect of the noise and pollution hazards to
neighbours and to the homeowner.

2.17.2

The supply of electrical power by portable electrical power generators to the home must be done in such a
way to reduce the risks normally associated with such a supply.

2.18 Large generators to be installed as a permanent additional feature to a Unit requires specific written approval from
the Association. In order for the approval to be considered the Association requires that the following information,
detail and specifications accompany the application:
2.18.1 The area demarcated within the Unit boundaries where the device is to be installed.
2.18.2 The measures considered to be implemented to ensure the silent operation of the device in order not to
create a noise nuisance.
2.18.3 Additional measures to be employed in the event of the device becoming a noise nuisance.
2.18.4 Measures taken to expel the exhaust gasses generated by the device to diminish pollution effects and to
comply with residential area regulations.
2.18.5 Measures taken to ensure applicable regulatory and rule compliance with regard to electrical installations,
plumbing installations and gas installations.
2.18.6 Architectural drawings as needed to approve the installation for municipal and other authority approvals.
2.18.7 Device specifications including compliance with national technical standards if needed and noise output
levels.
2.18.8 Screening or structural design elements and drawings as needed to ensure a pleasing garden scape.
2.18.9 Consent notes from facing and adjoining boundary neighbours, prior installation.
2.18.10 After the installation and subsequent to an immediate after install testing a further consent note from the
neighbours regarding the installation.
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Construction Rules
2.34 Members may not remove natural materials such as plants and rocks from the communal areas of the golf course,
game reserve or the communal estate without written authorisation from the Association.

CHANGES
The following are proposed to be changed to the Architectural and Construction Rules.
Definitions
1.7

Construction work: means any work above or under-ground in connection with the construction, erection, alteration,
renovation, repair, demolition, dismantling of or addition to a building or structure.

Architectural Rules
1.16 The Association’s Architectural & Aesthetics Committee (“AAC”) will scrutinise building plan submissions intended for
submission to the Municipality for compliance with the Rules.
1.20 Four sets of paper copies of proposed building plans, coloured to Local Authority specifications, shall be submitted
to the Association, together with official SLHOA plan application forms which will consist of the Plan Application,
Home Enterprise, Contactors Registration, SACAP Compliance Certificate and Form 1 of SANS 10400.
1.20.1

One of the four sets must be rendered to best highlight the aesthetics for assessment by the Association. A
separate 3D colour copy is recommended.

1.20.2

One set of the four sets of the Association approved plans, with street elevation rendered in colour of the
proposed dwelling, shall be held by the Association for record purposes.

1.20.3

The remaining three sets of the building plans approved by the Association must thereafter be submitted to
and approved by the Local Authority before any construction work may commence.

1.20.4

One set of the Local Authority approved plans must be lodged with the Association for record purposes
prior to the commencement of Site Preparation.

1.20.5

The stamped approval of the Association on the plans is valid for 12 months from the date thereof.

SPECIAL NOTE – The Rules have been amended to clearly indicate the requirements and the order of submissions of building
plans, the required approvals and the subsequent requirements to avoid any doubt and unknowingly incurring penalties.
1.24 Although the HOA is not in support of building line relaxations, a member may apply for one building line relaxation.
Written application with motivation for such relaxation, together with the written comments of all the Members who
own adjacent Units that are affected, shall be submitted to the Association for approval prior to submitting same to
the Local Authority.
SPECIAL NOTE – Clarity is given about the application of this rule. Although the local authorities may approve more than
one building line relaxation, SLHOA will only allow one in order to avoid an increase of coverage on the estate.
1.25 The natural ground contour of any Unit may not be increased in height by more than 0.500 meters measured from
the highest point on the cadastral boundary. Permission to change the contours of an Erf requires approval by the
Association and then the Local Authority prior to the commencement of any earthworks.
1.26 Written comments from all Members of neighbouring Units affected are required, which comments shall be
accompanied by the signature of all such Members on both the building plans and the application forms. If a
neighbour has no comment or wants to object, they must sign an endorsement to this effect and submit their objection
directly to the Local Authority. A copy of this document needs to be lodged with the SLHOA at the same time.
1.28 In the event that construction in terms of any plans approved by the Association does not commence within twelve
(12) months of date of the approval thereof by the Association, such approval shall lapse and the Member shall be
required to resubmit plans for approval to the Association and Local Authority. If there was a change of ownership
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of an adjacent affected property, the written comments (signing of building plans and application forms) of the new
Member shall be obtained. In the event of such resubmission, the prescribed plan scrutiny fees shall again be payable.
1.29 Should a Unit which is a vacant stand be sold, the purchaser m u s t commence the construction of a dwelling
thereon within 24 (twenty-four) months from the date of registration of such stand into the name of the purchaser.
SPECIAL NOTE – The change of the Rule provides clarity in that the period to complete construction of a new dwelling on a
vacant stand is 24 months from the date of registration into the new owners name.
1.30 Construction work shall commence and be completed within the period as stipulated below from Commencement
Date as defined in the Architectural and Construction Rules, failing which, penalties will be imposed by the Association
in terms of the rules.
1.30.1
1.30.1.1
1.30.1.2

Alterations & additions:
Building area up to 120 square metres:
Building area greater than 120 square meters:

within 6 months
within12 months.

1.30.2
1.30.2.1
1.30.2.2
1.30.2.3

New dwelling:
Building area up to 800 square metres:
Building area 800 – 1500 square meters:
Building area greater than 1500 square meters

within 12 months;
within 18 months;
within 24 months.

SPECIAL NOTE – Following the change to Rule 1.29 to allow for a total period of 24 months for the commencement of
construction of a new dwelling on a property clarification is provided that certain property sizes must be developed in certain
timeframes. Thus construction of a new dwelling must commence within 24 months of the transfer into the name of the new
owner. This means that if construction commences in month 23 since transfer and the property is up to 800sqr then
construction must substantially be completed within 12 months therefrom. Based on the example the dwelling is to be
completed within 35 months since transfer. Additions and alterations to existing properties even if newly transferred do not
have a 24 month grace period to commence construction and must be completed within the periods stipulated under 1.30.1
1.39 A full set of HOA and municipal approved plans are required when a property is sold. If the Member has an outdated
set of plans, then the matter has to be resolved between the parties to the transaction and the HOA will not be held
accountable in any manner with regards to the sales transaction.
1.40 If the owner of a unit is aware that is there is no formal set of HOA and municipal approved plans, then they would
need to have a full set of as-built plans prepared for approval should they wish to make any alterations to their
property, the cost of which would be for the person submitting the plans.
1.41 The Member shall appoint a competent designer registered with the South African Council for the Architectural
Profession (“SACAP”) to prepare the required building plans and application forms for a proposed new dwelling.
Minor works including built structures to an existing dwelling may be facilitated by Draftsmen, Senior Technicians and
other similarly qualified practitioners.
1.45 Roofing materials for patios, carports and outbuildings shall blend in with the main dwelling and needs to be designed
by an appropriate qualified practitioner and approved by the Architectural and Aesthetics Committee before
installation. Temporary material such as shade netting is not allowed.
1.48 Earthy colours are encouraged to be used on the estate.
1.60 Galvanized elements such as doors, garage doors, roof sheeting, rainwater goods, patio roofs, landscaping
materials, etc. shall not be allowed as a singular element, but consideration will be given with the elements as part
of an overall design.
1.70 Members with Units located in the nature reserve are required to use natural materials, colours and elements in the
design of their properties and fences to enhance the natural feel of the area.
Construction Rules
2.3

Valid certificates of compliance in terms of the Construction Regulations and the Occupational Health and Safety Act
must be lodged monthly with the Association during the construction period. The Association is compelled to report
non-compliance.
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2.5

The Association has the right to suspend with due notice any building activity that is in material breach of the Rules
or the National Building Act and its Regulations, and shall not be liable for any losses, damages or claims whatsoever
sustained by a Member, resident, contractor or sub-contractor as a result thereof.

2.10 Should earthworks, excavations, core or soil sampling be required prior to building plans having being approved, an
application for such permission for such works must be submitted in writing to the Association. All holes from such
activities shall be back-filled immediately to avoid injury.
2.19 Unless otherwise agreed to by the Association or its appointed representative, construction activity is limited to the
following hours:
Monday to Friday 07:00 to 18:00
Saturday
08:00 to 13:00
SPECIAL NOTE – The rules reduces the intrusion of construction activities on members’ peace and tranquillity.
2.25 The construction site shall be kept clean, properly screened in the prescribed manner and controlled at all times. In
the event that the contractor fails to keep the site clean and tidy, the Association may impose penalties and/or arrange
that the site be cleaned, which cost will be recovered from the Member.
2.33 Contractors working in the nature reserve shall respect the environment and stay clear of the game as well as the
heritage sites at all times.
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Architectural and Construction Rules
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1.

ARCHITECTURAL RULES
Introduction
1.1.

These Architectural and Construction Rules, including the Schedule of Transgressions & Penalties
are made under the provision of the Companies Act 71 of 2008, (the Act) as amended and the
clauses of the Memorandum of Incorporation (“MOI”) pertaining to Rules.

1.2.

The Architectural and Construction Rules are deemed to be reasonable, binding and equally
applicable to all Members without any form of discrimination. The Architectural and Construction
Rules are considered to be neither restrictive, nor punitive, but is rather seen as a judicious
framework to safeguard and promote appropriate and fair interaction to the benefit of all.

1.3.

Any waiver, relaxation, extension of time, delay or failure (collectively “Relaxation”) by the
Association in exercising any right under these Architectural and Construction Rules will not be
construed as a waiver of that right and will not operate as an estoppel (the principle which
precludes a person from asserting something contrary to what is implied by a previous action or
statement of that person or by a previous pertinent judicial determination) against the Association
or affect the ability of the Association subsequently to exercising or enforcing any of its rights and
the obligations of any Member, nor will any Relaxation constitute a waiver of any other right.
The waiver of any right under these Rules will be binding on the Association only to the extent
that the waiver has been reduced to writing and signed by the duly authorised representative(s)
of the Association.

1.4.

All Architectural and Construction Rules must be read in conjunction with the MOI and Rules.

Definitions:
1.5.

“Commencement date”

means the date on which approved construction work
commences;

1.6.

“Construction period”

means the period from commencement date to the completion
date as indicated on the practical completion certificate issued
by the architect;

1.7.

“Construction work”

means any work above or under-ground in connection with
the construction, erection, alteration, renovation, repair,
demolition, dismantling of or addition to a building or
structure.

1.8.

“Final completion date”

means the date of issue of the “final completion” certificate
issued by the architect;

1.9.

“Occupation date”

means the date of issue of the Certificate of Occupation by the
Local Authority and a copy lodged with the SLHOA;

1.10.

“Practical Completion date”

means the date of issue of the “practical completion” certificate
by the architect;

1.11.

“Site”

means the land or place where the works will be executed;

1.12.

“Site induction”

means a compulsory meeting arranged by the Member and
appointed contractor with the Association, as per the
requirements set out in the official SLHOA Contractor
Registration Form;

1.13.

“Site possession”

means the date on which the contractor takes possession of the
site for the approved construction work;

1.14.

“Site preparation”

means site identification and survey, clearing for site
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establishment, erection of professional board and builders
shed, placement of chemical toilet, water connection, site
screening to specification, setting out of structures, basic
earthworks, cut and fill, excavations of foundations, and
placing of reinforcing steel;
1.15.

“Size of dwelling”

means the calculated total covered gross floor area of the
dwelling, garages and outbuildings.

Approval process
1.16. The Association’s Architectural & Aesthetics Committee (“AAC”) will scrutinise building plan
submissions intended for submission to the Municipality for compliance with the rules.
1.17. It is recommended that concept plans (drawings) be submitted to the Association by the Member
prior to the submission of detailed working drawings to assist the Member with a faster and more
cost-effective approval process at both the Association and the Local Authority.
1.18. All building plans submitted for approval to the Association must comply with:
1.18.1.

Association Rules;

1.18.2.

All other relevant legislation, rules, regulations and by-laws.

1.19. The Association’s prescribed building plan scrutiny fee as well as the refundable builders deposit is
payable in full to the Association by the Member upon submission of building plans.
Building plans
1.20. Four sets of paper copies of proposed building plans, coloured to Local Authority specifications,
shall be submitted to the Association, together with official SLHOA plan application forms which will
consist of the Plan Application, Home Enterprise, Contactors Registration, SACAP Compliance
Certificate and valid registration certificate and Form 1 of SANS 10400.
1.20.1.

One of the four sets must be rendered to best highlight the aesthetics for assessment by
the Association. A separate 3D colour copy is recommended.

1.20.2.

One set of the four sets of the Association approved plans, with street elevation rendered
in colour of the proposed dwelling, shall be held by the Association for record purposes.

1.20.3.

The remaining three sets of the building plans approved by the Association must thereafter
be submitted to and approved by the Local Authority before any construction work may
commence.

1.20.4.

One set of the Local Authority approved plans must be lodged with the Association for
record and control purposes prior to the commencement of Site Preparation.

1.20.5.

The stamped approval of the Association on the plans is valid for 12 months from the
date thereof.

1.21. The set of building plans shall include a site plan to appropriate scale which shall indicate:
1.21.1.

The cadastral boundaries of the Erf, relevant north point, all building lines, all servitudes,
the outlines of the ground and first storey floor layouts, outlines of outbuildings, municipal
sewer line and connection point, internal sewer lines, road reserve (pavement) and existing
trees, driveway, street name, contour lines (1.0 metre intervals), flood lines, existing and
new boundary walls with access gates, position of washing lines, and position of yard
walls and screen walls.
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1.21.2.

The position of outdoor structures including water features, gazebos and play structures.
Such outdoor structures shall compliment the design of the dwelling. When evaluating any
plans, the Association shall consider privacy and aesthetics.

1.21.3.

The position of swimming pools and jacuzzies. Special attention shall be given to privacy,
water drainage and safety requirements i.e. fencing, walls, safety access gates. The
position of pool heaters, pool pumps and their filters must be indicated on the site plan,
and the Association reserves the right to insist that pool pumps, pool heating apparatus
and the like must be contained and/or screened in order to prevent noise disturbance.

1.21.4.

The management of storm water drainage. Special attention shall be given to low lying
Units in accordance with Town Planning Scheme requirements.

1.22. Perspective views and photographs/images may be requested by the Association prior to final
approval of any building plans.
1.23. In the event that the Association considers any building plans or designs to be contrary to the
aesthetic character of the Estate, or considers same to be insensitive towards neighbours and the
environment, the Association may direct the Member to make such reasonable alterations to such
designs as it deems fit, and the Member shall comply with such directions.
1.24. Although the HOA is not in support of building line relaxations, a member may apply for one building
line relaxation. After written application with motivation for such relaxation, together with the written
comments of all the Members who own adjacent Units that are affected, shall be submitted to the
Association for approval consideration prior to submitting same to the Local Authority.
1.25. The natural ground contour of any Unit may not be increased in height by more than 0.500 meters
measured from the highest point on the cadastral boundary. Permission to change the contours of
an Erf requires approval by the Association and then the Local Authority prior to the commencement
of any earthworks.
1.26. Written comments from all Members of neighbouring Units affected are required, which comments
shall be accompanied by the signature of all such Members on both the building plans and the
application forms. If a neighbour has no comment or wants to object, they must sign an endorsement
to this effect and submit their objection directly to the Local Authority. A copy of this document needs
to be lodged with the SLHOA at the same time.
1.27. Design and layout of the entire Unit shall be considered from the outset. Special consideration shall
be given to privacy of affected neighbouring properties' living areas and preservation of existing
natural features on site, i.e. existing flora and topography.
1.28. In the event that construction in terms of any plans approved by the Association does not commence
within twelve (12) months of date of the approval thereof by the Association, such approval shall
lapse and the Member shall be required to resubmit plans for approval to the Association and Local
Authority. If there was a change of ownership of an adjacent affected property, the written comments
(signing of building plans and application forms) of the new Member shall be obtained. In the event
of such resubmission, the prescribed plan scrutiny fees shall again be payable.
1.29. Should a Unit which is a vacant stand be sold, the purchaser m u s t commence the construction
of a dwelling thereon within 24 (twenty-four) months from the date of registration of such stand
into the name of the purchaser.
1.30. Construction work shall commence and be completed within the period as stipulated below from
Commencement Date as defined in the Architectural and Construction Rules, failing which, penalties
will be imposed by the Association in terms of the rules.
1.30.1.

Alterations & additions:
1.30.1.1.
Building area up to 120 square metres:
1.30.1.2.
Building area greater than 120 square meters:
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within 6 months
within12 months.

1.30.2.

New dwelling:
1.30.2.1.
1.30.2.2.
1.30.2.3.

Building area up to 800 square metres:
Building area 800 – 1500 square meters:
Building area greater than 1500 square meters

within 12 months;
within 18 months;
within 24 months.

1.31. The Association shall under exceptional circumstances and on good cause shown be entitled to
grant a reasonable extension of the above time limits and only on receipt of a written motivation by
the Member, together with comments of affected adjacent Members. Approval will be considered by
the Board if supported by the Architectural and Aesthetics Committee.
1.32. The relevant Local Authority will ultimately remain responsible for the final approval of all building
plans in terms of Local Authority and other regulations. The Association accepts no responsibility for
approved plans, other than for approval of compliance with the Estate Rules and aesthetic
requirements.
1.33. Members may not deviate from approved building plans. Should any deviation or amendment be
contemplated or become necessary to any building plans after such plans have been approved,
building activity must be ceased and the Association is to be notified forthwith and amended plans,
clearly setting out the nature of the deviation and/or amendment shall be submitted for approval to
the Association and Local Authority. Additional plan scrutiny fees shall be payable.
1.34. Deviation from approved building plans without prior approval will result in penalties to be imposed
as provided and refusing approval for the building contractor to do any other construction on the
Estate once the dwelling where they deviated has been completed.
1.35. All building plans (including building plans in respect of any additions and/or alterations to existing
structures, dwellings or outbuildings) shall be prepared in accordance with the Architectural and
Construction Rules and must be approved by the Association prior to the submission to the Local
Authority for approval and commencement of any construction work. Members may not seek any
plan approval from the Local Authority without the prior approval of the plans by the Association.
1.36. Upon completion of all construction work, and prior to the release of the contractor’s building
deposit, the Member shall complete the prescribed form available from the Association and arrange
for a final inspection of the work by the Association.
1.37. The Member shall only be entitled to apply for a refund of the contractor’s building deposit once a
certificate of practical completion of the works has been formally issued by the architect /
architectural practitioner or an Occupation Certificate has been issued by the Local Authority.
1.38. Occupation is only permitted once an Occupation Certificate has been obtained from the Local
Authority, of which a copy must be lodged forthwith with the Association.
1.39. A full set of HOA and municipal approved plans are required when a property is sold. If the Member
has an outdated set of plans, then the matter has to be resolved between the parties to the transaction
and the HOA will not be held accountable in any manner with regards to the sales transaction.
1.40. If the owner of a unit is aware that is there is no formal set of HOA and municipal approved plans,
then they would need to have a full set of as-built plans prepared for approval should they wish to
make any alterations to their property, the cost of which would be for the person submitting the
plans.
Architectural requirements
1.41. The Member shall appoint a competent designer registered with the South African Council for the
Architectural Profession (“SACAP”) to prepare the required building plans and application forms for
a proposed new dwelling. Minor works including built structures to an existing dwelling may be
facilitated by Draftsmen, Senior Technicians and other similarly qualified practitioners.
1.42. The area of the main ground storey dwelling, excluding garages and outbuildings, shall not be less
than 220m².
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1.43. Dwellings shall conform to Association acceptable architectural standards and not interfere with or
detract from the general aesthetic appearance of the neighbourhood.
1.44. Only metal roofing materials such as “Chromadek” or a similar type of manufacturer pre-coated
roof sheeting may be used with the express prior approval of the Association.
1.45. Roofing materials for patios, carports and outbuildings shall blend in with the main dwelling and
needs to be designed by an appropriate qualified practitioner and approved by the Architectural
and Aesthetics Committee before installation. Temporary material such as shade netting is not
allowed.
1.46. Outbuildings and additions shall blend in a complimentary manner with the original design and style
of the dwelling, in elevation, finish and materials used.
1.47. Exterior plumbing installations shall not be visible from any street, golf course, adjacent neighbouring
properties and/or the nature reserve area. Drainage ducts shall be suitably and aesthetically
integrated into walls.
1.48. Earthy colours are encouraged to be used on the estate.
1.49. Sectional Title Units shall not be repainted with a colour that differs to the original colour without
the consent of the Members' Body Corporate. The colour scheme of Sectional Title Units shall be
uniform.
1.50. Approval for any external aesthetic or internal structural changes to Sectional Title Units shall only
be approved by the Association if approved by all the Members owning such Sectional Title Units in
accordance with the Sectional Titles Act, the Sectional Titles Schemes Management Act or any other
relevant Act.
1.51. Geysers and/or their piping may not be visible from any street, golf course and/or the nature reserve
area and screening thereof must be professionally done. Air-conditioners, solar panels, satellite
dishes and/or antennas should be positioned in on aesthetically pleasing fashion.
1.52. Specific aesthetic consideration shall be given to the design of parapets, fascias, copings, eaves,
roof trim, rainwater goods and roofing materials in general as well as the design and layout of
paving. No half brick and/or imprint paving is permitted on driveways or garden areas visible from
any frontage.
1.53. Entrances into kitchens, sculleries and domestic quarters must lead off a lobby and are to open into
a screened yard.
1.54. Yard and screen walls must be minimum 2.100 metres high and street boundary walls must be
maximum 1.8 metres high and shall match the design of the main building. Yard gates must not be
of a see-through material.
1.55. Dwellings shall not exceed two storeys above ground, irrespective of height; and such two storeys
shall not be interpreted to include basements and/or mezzanine levels. The impact of a second
storey on the right to privacy of adjacent Members, and the impact on the views from adjacent
dwellings shall be considered when building plans of dwellings having a second storey are scrutinised
by the Association.
1.56. Basements shall comply with the Town Planning Scheme requirements and the two third / one third
principle (on average shall be 2.100 metres below natural ground level). Underground basements
shall not protrude above natural ground level.
1.57. The Association may require a Member to alter or improve his road reserve / sidewalk landscaping
to promote high aesthetics standards for the Estate.
1.58. The diverse nature of neighbourhoods should give rise to a varied treatment of street boundaries.
In order to create a degree of visual integrity, boundary wall design shall be strictly controlled in
accordance with the following provisions:
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1.58.1.

Maximum permissible height of steel fencing is 1.200 metres high. Maximum permissible
height of brick columns separating the steel fencing panels is 1.500 metres high.

1.58.2.

All side boundary walls and fences must match the design of the main building. Should
the height of the aforementioned wall exceed 1.830 metres, the National Building Act
and Regulations must be complied with.

1.58.3.

Fences not allowed include, but are not limited to, wire fences, razor fences, devils fork,
precast walls, picket fences or temporary wooden fences.

1.58.4.

Street boundary walls, constructed of any materials whatsoever, shall not cover more than
30% (thirty percent) of the total street frontage (access frontage) of the Unit. On corner
stands, boundary walls, constructed of any materials whatsoever, shall not cover more
than 50% (fifty percent) of the total street frontage of the Unit.

1.58.5.

Stepped or setback, non-linear (non-straight line) walls are preferred in order to enhance
the streetscape. The setback portion of the wall shall be see-through (i.e. not solid).

1.58.6.

Maximum permissible height of street boundary walls is 1.830 meters and maximum
permissible height of columns is 2.100 meters measured from natural ground level on the
street elevation of the cadastral boundary.

1.58.7.

Retaining walls shall be designed by a competent professional. Adequate provision must
be made for waterproofing and water drainage. External finishing on both sides shall
match the design of the dwelling.

1.58.8.

Boundary wall foundations shall not encroach the cadastral boundaries of the property.

1.59. Temporary carports and lean-to roofs are not permitted. Carports and roofs are to be designed to
form an integral part of the house design.
1.60. Galvanized elements such as doors, garage doors, roof sheeting, rainwater goods, patio roofs,
fencing, landscaping materials, etc. shall not be allowed as a singular element, but consideration
will be given with the elements as part of an overall design.
1.61. Movable or immovable temporary habitable structures e.g. Wendy house or shacks may not be
erected.
1.62. Application must be made to the Association for the erection of non-habitable structures such as
storage sheds and must comply with specific minimum specifications of the Association. The written
comments of the adjacent Members are required.
1.63. Dolls houses (defined as a toy house or playhouse only large enough for small children to ploy in)
of a permanent or semi-permanent nature must be adequately screened and may not be visible from
any street, golf course and/or the nature reserve area. Such dolls houses may only be used solely
for the purposes of children play.
Special additional design criteria for golf course frontage units
1.64. Units west of the 18th hole are subject to a 17-metre building line of which the first 7 metres is
reserved for use in favour of the golf course. Units west of the 8 th hole are subject to a 15-metre
building line of which the first 5 metres is reserved for use in favour of the golf course. These 7metre and 5-metre areas may only to be used for golf course purposes, and may not be used for
any boundary walls, structures or private gardens. Encroachments will be summarily removed by
the Association at the cost of the Unit owner.
1.65. Special Aesthetics and Design Rules are applicable to all golf course frontage Units. No deviation
from the approved building plans, landscape plans and site development plans shall be allowed
without the prior written approval of the Association.
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1.66. Golf ball safety nets are not permitted. Members are to ensure adequate provision is made in the
design of the dwelling and garden to protect their property and persons. Members are reminded
that the Association accepts no liability for any damage to property or harm or death of persons
arising from any cause associated with the use of the golf course
1.67. Only grass and endemic trees shall be planted in the golf course frontage servitude where no
boundary walls exist, and then only with the prior written consent of the Association. No existing
trees may be removed from this area. Landscape plans for this area must be submitted to the
Association for approval prior to any work to be facilitated.
1.68. Members are encouraged to refrain from building solid linear boundary walls in order to preserve,
blend with, complement and enhance an open front with the golf course and surrounding Units.
1.69. Only approved boundary walls and/or fencing shall be allowed and on the demarcated Unit
cadastral boundary or building line. The specifications in regard to such boundary walls are as
follows (all measurements are measured from the natural ground level of the cadastral boundary on
the golf course side):
1.69.1.

The maximum total height of steel palisade or similar fencing shall be 1.200 metres high.

1.69.2.

The maximum height of columns separating steel panels is not to exceed 1.500 metres.

1.69.3.

The maximum height of the bottom section (solid wall) shall be 0.500 meters.

1.69.4.

The position, design and materials used for boundary walls shall be determined strictly in
consultation with the Association, and shall be approved by the Association.

1.69.5.

No fencing with sharp points is permitted.

1.69.6.

Side boundary walls shall only be built up to the demarcated golf course building lines
applicable to each Unit. Such walls shall be stepped and the last 5 metres up to the golf
course building line shall be a maximum of 1.200 metres high for palisade wall fencing
or similar with the columns maximum height not exceeding 1.500 metres high.

1.69.7.

Regular maintenance and repair of walls by Members is paramount.

Special additional design criteria for units located in the nature reserve
1.70. Members with Units located in the nature reserve are required to use natural materials, colours and
elements in the design of their properties and fences to enhance the natural feel of the area.
1.71. Only Association approved boundary walls and/or fencing shall be allowed. For walls facing the
nature reserve, the same design and standard as required for golf course Units shall apply.
1.72. Pointed fences or equivalent design will not be allowed as these may cause injury to animals.
1.73. No open swimming pools, Jacuzzi installations or the like are permitted.
1.74. The position, design and materials used for boundary walls shall be determined in consultation with
the Association and shall be approved by the Association. Boundary walls facing the game reserve
may not create a continuous linear boundary between the Units and the nature reserve.
1.75. No boundary fencing such as game-repellent wire fencing will be allowed that may cause harm to
the game and wildlife. Vertical standards in fencing shall not exceed 70 millimetres apart and top
ends shall be closed with horizontal flat or round elements to prevent injuries to wildlife.
1.76. Any encroachment onto communal property will be summarily removed by the Association at the
Member’s cost.
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Conditions with regard to granny flats
1.77. All granny flats are subject to the provisions of the prevailing Tshwane Town Planning Scheme.
1.78. Granny flats must match the aesthetics of the main dwelling to appear as one unit, share a common
vehicular access with the main dwelling and may have only 1 (one) kitchen.
1.79. The area of a granny flat may not exceed the maximum permitted in terms of the Tshwane Town
Planning Scheme.

2.

CONSTRUCTION RULES
Introduction
The primary intention of these rules is to ensure that all construction activity in the Estate shall be conducted
with the minimum of inconvenience and disruption to residents and to ensure compliance with the rules.
2.1.

The rules governing construction activity are binding on all Members and invitees, their contractors
and sub-contractors.

2.2.

Members are obliged to, and assume responsibility for, their building contractors being made aware
of the rules and that same are strictly complied with. The Member remains liable for any breach of
the rules by his building contractors and for any penalties issued.

2.3.

Valid certificates of compliance in terms of the Construction Regulations and the Occupational
Health and Safety Act must be lodged monthly with the Association during the construction period.
The Association is compelled to report non-compliance.

2.4.

Members are required to include these Rules in their entirety in any building contracts concluded in
respect of any Unit on the Estate.

2.5.

The Association has the right to suspend with due notice any building activity that is in material
breach of the Rules or the National Building Act and its Regulations, and shall not be liable for any
losses, damages or claims whatsoever sustained by a Member, resident, contractor or sub-contractor
as a result thereof.

2.6.

All persons who undertake any construction activity are required to complete the prescribed
application and/or registration forms and submit same with payment of the relevant fees and
deposits as may be applicable to the Association, prior to commencing any construction activity.
This includes:
2.6.1. Builders Deposit (Refundable)
2.6.2. Contractors’ Code of Conduct
2.6.3. Induction form

2.7.

Members and residents are furthermore obliged to ensure that their contractors complete and sign
the relevant application forms for access rights (for each person) and to submit same to the
Association prior to the granting of any access rights by the Association or the Member.

2.8.

The Member and/or resident is obliged to obtain written confirmation from any contractor confirming
that they have received a copy of the rules and confirming that they, their sub-contractors and
employees, are bound by same, and confirming further that the Association shall be entitled to
enforce such rules against them, and to levy any penalties in terms of the rules.
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Site preparation
2.9.

Before the contractor may commence construction work of any nature, the site must be professionally
screened on all sides with the prescribed site screening, with a lockable access gate according to
the specifications of the Association. The Member or his contractor shall be liable for all costs
regarding such prescribed screening. All screening must be maintained during the entire construction
period to comply with the minimum standards.

2.10. Should earthworks, excavations, core or soil sampling be required prior to building plans having
being approved, an application for such permission for such works must be submitted in writing to
the Association. All holes from such activities shall be back-filled immediately to avoid injury.
2.11. No construction work shall commence unless a legal water connection is installed on site. The
Association reserves the right to inspect the water meter and report to the legal authorities if it is
found that the meter has been tampered with.
2.12. No earthworks, excavations or construction work shall commence unless an approved chemical site
toilet has been installed in an acceptable position. The entrance to the toilet shall be acceptably
screened and the toilet shall be maintained in a clean and hygienic condition at all times.
2.13. The Member shall ensure that the construction site is controlled, made and kept safe at all times in
accordance with the Occupational Health and Safety.
Generators
2.14. The owner of a Unit will not permanently install power generators without the prior written approval
of the Association and in compliance with the specifications as laid down by the Association.
2.15. Any generator may only be operated during times when the main power supply to the Estate has
been interrupted and then only between the hours of 06h00 to 23h00. Alternative power supply
systems should be used for medical reasons when the generators are not allowed to be operated.
2.16. A generator may only be tested during the hours and days when electrical power tools may be used.
2.17. Small or portable electrical power generators do not need the official approval of the Association.
The following needs to be adhered to:
2.17.1.

Must be positioned and operated in such way to diminish the effect of the noise and
pollution hazards to neighbours and to the homeowner.

2.17.2.

The supply of electrical power by portable electrical power generators to the home must
be done in such a way to reduce the risks normally associated with such a supply.

2.18. Large generators to be installed as a permanent additional feature to a Unit requires specific written
approval from the Association. In order for the approval to be considered the Association requires
that the following information, detail and specifications accompany the application:
2.18.1.

The area demarcated within the Unit boundaries where the device is to be installed.

2.18.2.

The measures considered to be implemented to ensure the silent operation of the device
in order not to create a noise nuisance.

2.18.3.

Additional measures to be employed in the event of the device becoming a noise
nuisance.

2.18.4.

Measures taken to expel the exhaust gasses generated by the device to diminish pollution
effects and to comply with residential area regulations.

2.18.5.

Measures taken to ensure applicable regulatory and rule compliance with regard to
electrical installations, plumbing installations and gas installations.
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2.18.6.

Architectural drawings as needed to approve the installation for municipal and other
authority approvals.

2.18.7.

Device specifications including compliance with national technical standards if needed
and noise output levels.

2.18.8.

Screening or structural design elements and drawings as needed to ensure a pleasing
garden scape.

2.18.9.

Consent notes from facing and adjoining boundary neighbours, prior installation.

2.18.10. After the installation and subsequent to an immediate after install testing a further consent
note from the neighbours regarding the installation.
General
2.19. Unless otherwise agreed to by the Association or its appointed representative, construction activity is
limited to the following hours:
Monday to Friday 07:00 to 18:00
Saturday
08:00 to 13:00
2.20. Contractor personnel are not permitted in the Estate outside the above hours. No contractor or his
personnel shall overnight on a building site.
2.21. No construction activity is permitted in the Estate on any public holiday or during the annual builder’s
holiday as determined by the Association.
2.22. Deliveries from suppliers must occur during the limited construction activity hours as set out above.
2.23. No contractor personnel are permitted to leave the construction site, enter or exit the Estate unless
being transported by the contractor.
2.24. The contractor shall provide a waste skip or similar for rubbish or building rubble disposal. Waste
skips shall be serviced weekly. No dumping is permitted anywhere in the Estate.
2.25. The construction site shall be kept clean, properly screened in the prescribed manner and controlled
at all times. In the event that the contractor fails to keep the site clean and tidy, the Association may
impose penalties and/or arrange that the site be cleaned, which cost will be recovered from the
Member.
2.26. Building materials offloaded by a supplier may not encroach onto the road reserve / sidewalk or
road and must be moved onto the site immediately by the contractor. Building material and rubble
must not be allowed to remain on the road reserve / sidewalk or road and it is the contractor’s and
Member’s responsibility to clear these areas of all such materials and/or rubble immediately and by
no later than 17h00 each day.
2.27. Building boards as prescribed by the Association and in compliance with the Occupational Health
and Safety Act (warning and safety signs) must be erected prior to the commencement of any
construction work. Such boards are to be erected on the site itself and not on the road
reserve/sidewalk. Sub-contractors’ boards are not permitted. All boards must be removed
immediately upon completion of construction.
2.28. The Member and the contractor shall be liable for any damage to the Estate arising from their
building activity or any delivery associated therewith, including (but not limited to) damage to
pavements, kerb stones, roads, vegetation on the road reserve, and damage to private or
Association property.
2.29. The Association shall be entitled to levy the applicable penalties against Members, contractors
and/or subcontractors with respect to contravention of any of the rules.
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2.30. The Association has the right to deny or limit access to the Estate to any contractor or subcontractor
in breach of the rules; each contractor and subcontractor, by the acceptance of the rules hereby
waives any right of retention that they may have over their construction work, material and the like
for purposes of the rules, insofar as the Association is concerned.
2.31. Furthermore, the right of the Association to restrict access to a contractor or sub-contractor who is
in breach, as aforementioned, applies to the entire Estate, notwithstanding the fact that any such
contractor and/or sub-contractor is building on more than one site within the Estate and that any
breach has been committed with respect to only one such site.
2.32. No blasting and no use of explosives may occur anywhere in the Estate without the prior written
authority of the Association and Local Authority and, if so permitted, must be carried out in strict
compliance with all relevant legislation and with due regard for the rights and safety of persons and
property surrounding the site.
2.33. Contractors working in the nature reserve shall respect the environment and stay clear of the game
as well as the heritage sites at all times.
2.34. Members may not remove natural materials such as plants and rocks from the communal areas of
the golf course, game reserve or the communal estate without written authorisation from the
Association.
2.35. A contractor may not secure a building site with razor wire or similar fencing during or after the
construction period.
2.36. Electric fences of any kind may not be erected by Members within the Estate boundaries.
2.37. Members residing along the electrified boundary fence in conjunction with the Association must keep
the fence clear of any vegetation or foreign objects. Members must advise their visitors of the
dangers pertaining to electric fences. Members, on receipt of reasonable notice from the Association
that maintenance are to be performed on the electric fence must l allow security staff to enter their
Units. Members must also allow security staff access to their Units on demand in cases of emergency
repairs to the electric fence.
2.38. No fires shall be allowed in the Estate by contractors and their employees on or off construction
sites.
2.39. All heritage sites on the Estate are out of bounds to all building contractors, workers, construction
vehicles, plant, machinery and materials. No dumping, no parking and no pause area for staff
permitted.

3.

SCHEDULE OF TRANSGRESSIONS & PENALTIES
This Schedule is a guideline, amended from time to time, with additions and deletions as deemed
necessary by the Directors.

DESCRIPTION OF TRANSGRESSION

1st Offence

2nd Offence

3rd Offence onwards

Contractors working outside permitted times.

R1 000

R2 000

R3 000

Contractor workers leaving their specified building site on foot not
transported to and from building sites by contractor vehicle.

R 500

R 750

R1 000

R1 000 per
week

R1 000 per
week

R1 000 per week

R2 000 per
week

R3 000 per week

CONTRACTORS

Contractors not having a chemical toilet or skip on site.

Written warning
Contractors not keeping their sites clean, tidy & properly screened.

(48 hours to
comply)
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Fires lit on building sites by contractors and/or their employees.

R500

R500

R500

BUILDING WORK
R2 000 per month from month 1-2
Exceeding building time limits.

R5 000 per month from month 3-6
R10 000 per month from month 7 onwards

Vacant stand on which development has not commenced within 24 months
of registration. (Note: building time limits penalties to be added where
applicable).

R5 000 per month from month 1-6
R10 000 per month from month 7 onwards
R3 000 per month from month 1-2

Non-compliance with building and architectural guidelines.

R5 000 per month from month 3 onwards
R5 000 per incident and the risk of being banned on the
Estate.

Building without approved plans / deviating from approved plans

R10 000 for any other incident and the risk of being banned
on the Estate.
Written warning

Encroachments onto communal property.

(7 days to
comply)
Written warning

Wendy houses, shacks and other structures in contravention of the Rules.

(7 days to
comply)

R5 000 per month

R2 000 per month from month 1-2
R5 000 per month from month 3

R10, 000 and report the incident to the City of Tshwane for
legal action.

Illegal water and electrical connections.
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PROXY FORM CGM
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PROXY FORM CGM – PAGE 1 OF 1
This Proxy Form is for use by Members of the Association (“Members”) at the Constitutional General Meeting of the Members
(“Constitutional General Meeting” or “CGM”) to be held on Tuesday, 22 June 2021 at 19h00 by virtual meeting, Silver Lakes
Golf and Wildlife Estate.
I/We (Please print name in full)
of (please insert stand number)

being a Member of the Association do hereby appoint:

(Insert Proxy name in full)

1.

or failing him / her

(Insert Proxy name in full)

2.

or failing him / her

3. The Chairperson of the CGM
As my/our proxy to attend, speak and vote for me on my/our behalf, as indicated below at the CGM of the Association and any
adjournment thereof:
RESOLUTION:

In Favour

Against

Abstain

SPECIAL RESOLUTION 1: PROPOSED MOI TABLED FOR ADOPTION
ORDINARY RESOLUTION 1: PROPOSED RULES TABLED FOR ADOPTION INCLUDING
SCHEDULE OF TRANSGRESSION AND PENALTIES
ORDINARY RESOLUTION 2: PROPOSED ARCHITECTURAL AND CONSTRUCTION
RULES ADOPTION INCLUDING SCHEDULE OF TRANSGRESSION AND PENALTIES
ORDINARY RESOLUTION 3: AUTHORITY TO ACT
Yes

No

The proxy is authorized to vote on motions to amend and on motions so amended
The proxy is authorized to vote on additional motions proposed at the meeting

Signed at

Name of Member:

on

2021

Signature:

Refer to Important Information of the meetings for notes pertaining to the proxy process.
Member’s attention is also drawn to the extract from section 58 of the Companies Act 71 of 2008 on the following page.
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EXTRACT FROM THE COMPANIES ACT
“58. Shareholder right to be represented by proxy”
1. At any time, a shareholder of a company may appoint any individual, including an individual who is not a
shareholder of that company, as a proxy to—
(a) participate in, and speak and vote at, a shareholders meeting on behalf of the shareholder; or
(b) give or withhold written consent on behalf of the shareholder to a decision contemplated in section 60,
provided that the shareholder may appoint more than one proxy to exercise voting rights attached to
different shares held by the shareholder.
2. A proxy appointment—
(a) must be in writing, dated and signed by the shareholder; and
(b) remains valid for—
(i) one year after the date on which it was signed; or
(ii) any longer or shorter period expressly set out in the appointment, unless it is revoked in a manner
contemplated in subsection (4)(c), or expires earlier as contemplated in subsection (8)(d).
3. Except to the extent that the Memorandum of Incorporation of a company provides otherwise—
(a) a shareholder of that company may appoint two or more persons concurrently as proxies;
(b) a proxy may delegate the proxy’s authority to act on behalf of the shareholder to another person, subject
to any restriction set out in the instrument appointing the proxy; and
(c) a copy of the instrument appointing a proxy must be delivered to the company, or to any other person on
behalf of the company, before the proxy exercises any rights of the shareholder at a shareholders meeting.
4. Irrespective of the form of instrument used to appoint a proxy—
(a) the appointment is suspended at any time and to the extent that the shareholder chooses to act directly
and in person in the exercise of any rights as a shareholder;
(b) the appointment is revocable unless the proxy appointment expressly states otherwise; and
(c) if the appointment is revocable, a shareholder may revoke the proxy appointment by—
(i) cancelling it in writing, or making a later inconsistent appointment of a proxy; and
(ii) delivering a copy of the revocation instrument to the proxy, and to the company.
5. The revocation of a proxy appointment constitutes a complete and final cancellation of the proxy’s authority to
act on behalf of the shareholder as of the later of—
(a) the date stated in the revocation instrument, if any; or
(b) the date on which the revocation instrument was delivered as required in subsection (4)(c)(ii).
6. If the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies has been delivered to a company, as long as that appointment
remains in effect, any Notice that is required by this Act or the company’s Memorandum of Incorporation to be
delivered by the company to the shareholder must be delivered by the company to—
(a) the shareholder; or
(b) the proxy or proxies, if the shareholder has—
(i) directed the company to do so, in writing; and
(ii) paid any reasonable fee charged by the company for doing so.
7. A proxy is entitled to exercise, or abstain from exercising, any voting right of the shareholder without direction,
except to the extent that the Memorandum of Incorporation, or the instrument appointing the proxy, provides
otherwise.
8. If a company issues an invitation to shareholders to appoint one or more persons named by the company as
a proxy, or supplies a form of instrument for appointing a proxy—
(a) the invitation must be sent to every shareholder who is entitled to notice of the meeting at which the proxy
is intended to be exercised;
(b) the invitation, or form of instrument supplied by the company for the purpose of appointing a proxy,
must—
(i) bear a reasonably prominent summary of the rights established by this section;
(ii) contain adequate blank space, immediately preceding the name or names of any person or persons
named in it, to enable a shareholder to write in the name and, if so desired, an alternative name of
a proxy chosen by the shareholder; and
(iii) provide adequate space for the shareholder to indicate whether the appointed proxy is to vote in
favour of or against any resolution or resolutions to be put at the meeting, or is to abstain from
voting;
(c) the company must not require that the proxy appointment be made irrevocable; and
(d) the proxy appointment remains valid only until the end of the meeting at which it was intended to be used,
subject to subsection (5).
9. Subsection (8)(b) and (d) do not apply if the company merely supplies a generally available standard form of
proxy appointment on request by a shareholder.”
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RESOLUTION FORM (IF APPLICABLE – FOR
COMPANIES, CLOSE CORPORATIONS & TRUSTS)

111

RESOLUTION FORM
RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS, alternatively MEMBERS, alternatively TRUSTEES

(NAME OF COMPANY, CLOSE CORPORATION OR TRUST)
as the registered owner of
STAND NUMBER:

PASSED AT

ON THIS

DAY OF

2021

Resolved that:
(Name in BLOCK LETTERS)
be and is hereby duly appointed as representative.
The aforementioned shall be entitled to attend, speak and vote in person or by proxy at the General
Meetings to be held on Tuesday, 22 June 2021 and at any adjournment thereof and to bind the
Company/Close Corporation/Trust in this regard.

Name:

Signature:
DIRECTOR / MEMBER / TRUSTEE

Name:

Signature:
DIRECTOR / MEMBER / TRUSTEE
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CONSENT FORM
(IF APPLICABLE – FOR JOINT OWNERS)
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CONSENT FORM
PROPERTY OWNED BY MORE THAN ONE PERSON
We, the registered owners:
(Names in BLOCK LETTERS)

(Names in BLOCK LETTERS)

Stand Number:

Hereby give consent to (one of the above owners):

to attend, speak and vote in person or by proxy at the General Meetings to be held on Tuesday,
22 June 2021 and at any adjournment thereof and to bind all the owners in this regard.

SIGNED AT

ON THIS

DAY OF
15

Signature:

Signature:
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NOTICE & AGENDA
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ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
Notice is hereby given to the Members of the Company (“Members”) that the Annual General Meeting
(“AGM”) of the Members will be held on Tuesday, 22 June 2021 at 20h00 or as soon as possible after
the CGM by means of a virtual meeting, to conduct the general business of the AGM and to consider, if
deemed fit, pass with or without modification, the ordinary and special resolutions below as required by
the Companies Act, no 71 of 2008 as amended (“the Companies Act” or “the Act”) and the Memorandum
of Incorporation of the Company (“MOI”). The notice includes matters which ordinarily would be dealt with
at the AGM for the 2021 calendar year and is incorporated into the agenda for this AGM, be the deferred
AGM for 2020.
1

Welcome

2

Confirmation of Quorum

3

Confirmation of Delivery of Notice

4

Confirmation of Previous Minutes
To receive and approve the Minutes of the AGM held on 25 February 2019

5

Voting Procedure

6

Report back for the YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019
6.1

Chairperson’s Review 2019

6.2

Acceptance of the Audit & Risk Committee Report 2019

6.3

Acceptance of the Social, Ethics & Governance Committee Report 2019

6.4

Election of Directors
Whereas –
a. In terms of clause 8.4 of the MOI, a Director shall continue to hold office from the date of
his election until the end of the second AGM following such election, at which meeting, the
Director shall be deemed to have retired from office as such but will be eligible for re-election
to the Board of Directors.
b. The nominations for directors were requested in 24 January 2020 and the following were
received and concluded in terms of provisions of the MOI. New nominations will be called
for those positions becoming vacant or that are new in the 2021 AGM to be held later this
year.
6.4.1 Election of Chairperson
6.4.2 Election of Vice-Chairperson
6.4.3 Election of Environment Director
6.4.4 Election of Security Director
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6.5

Annual Financial Statements for the Year ending 31 March 2019
To receive the Annual Financial Statements of the Company for the year ended 31 March
2019, incorporating the reports of the independent auditors and the directors, which have
been distributed as required in terms of section 30.3(d) of the Companies Act.

6.6

Ordinary Resolution 1: Proposed Budgets 2020/2021 and determination of levies
Whereas the Association’s budgets and levies for approval comprise the following:
Income Statement for HOA/Estate
Income Statement for Golf
Income Statement for Clubhouse
Proposed Levy 2020/2021
Capital Expenditure
Capital Expenditure 3-year forecast
It is now therefore resolved that the Association’s proposed budgets for 2020/2021 and the
determination of levies and the approval thereof, be and are hereby adopted.

7.

6.7

Ordinary Resolution 2: Re-appointment and remuneration of Independent Auditors
It is Resolved that SNG Grant Thornton Inc. Pretoria be and is hereby re-appointed as the
Independent Auditors of the Association for the ensuing financial year and that the audit
remuneration be fixed at not more than R220,620 (excluding audit committee attendance,
statutory filings, value added tax and disbursements) for the financial year ending 31 March
2020.

6.8

Special Resolution 1: Non-Executive Directors’ Remuneration
It is resolved as a special resolution that the remuneration payable to all non-executive
Directors from 1 April 2020 – 31 March 2021 be fixed at R6,300 per month being a 0 %
increase on the approved fees for the prior period.

Report back for the YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
7.1

Chairperson’s Review 2020

7.2

Acceptance of the Audit & Risk Committee Report 2020

7.3

Acceptance of the Social, Ethics & Governance Committee Report 2020

7.4

Annual Financial Statements for the Year ending 31 March 2020
To receive the Annual Financial Statements of the Company for the year ended 31 March
2020, incorporating the reports of the independent auditors and the directors, which have
been distributed as required in terms of section 30.3(d) of the Companies Act.

7.5

Ordinary Resolution 3: Proposed Budgets 2021/2022 and determination of levies
Whereas the Association’s budgets and levies for approval comprise the following:
Income Statement for HOA/Estate
Income Statement for Golf
Income Statement for Clubhouse
Proposed Levy 2021/2022
Capital Expenditure
Capital Expenditure 3-year forecast
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It is now therefore resolved that the Association’s proposed budgets for as well as
2021/2022 and the determination of levies and the approval thereof, be and are hereby
adopted.
7.6

Ordinary Resolution 4: Re-appointment and remuneration of Independent Auditors
It is Resolved that SNG Grant Thornton Inc. Pretoria be and is hereby re-appointed as the
Independent Auditors of the Association for the ensuing financial year and that the audit
remuneration be fixed at not more than R233,035 (excluding audit committee attendance,
statutory filings, value added tax and disbursements) for the financial year ending 31 March
2021.

7.7

Special Resolution 2: Non-Executive Directors’ Remuneration
It is resolved as a special resolution that the remuneration payable to all non-executive
Directors from 1 April 2021 – 31 March 2022 be fixed at R6,300 per month being a 0 %
increase on the approved fees for the prior period.

8

Ordinary Resolution 5: Authority to Act
It is resolved that any two directors be and is hereby authorised to do all such things and sign all
such documents as may be necessary to give effect to the resolutions approved at the AGM.

9

Closure
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MINUTES OF AGM HELD ON 25 FEBRUARY 2019
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MINUTES OF AGM HELD ON 25 FEBRUARY 2019
DRAFT
ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING OF THE SILVER LAKES HOMEOWNERS ASSOCIATION NPC
HELD ON MONDAY, 25 FEBRUARY 2019 AT 19:36
AT THE SILVER LAKES GOLF AND WILDLIFE ESTATE CLUBHOUSE
WELCOME
The Chairperson welcomed all present to the Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) of the Silver Lakes Homeowners
Association NPC (“HOA”).
The meeting was digitally recorded by FluidRock for record purposes.
The minutes were recorded by Mr N Ndlovu (FluidRock Governance).
ATTENDANCE AND CONFIRMATION OF QUORUM
The Chairperson confirmed that the necessary quorum for the meeting in terms of the Memorandum of
Incorporation (“MOI”) was present. The meeting was declared duly constituted and officially open.
CONFIRMATION OF DELIVERY OF THE NOTICE
A Notice dated 2 February 2019 that convened the Annual General Meeting was delivered to Members in
accordance with the MOI. The Chairperson proposed that the Notice of the meeting be taken as read. The motion
was seconded by Dr Steven Pretorius (stand 312) and it was carried.
CONFIRMATION OF PREVIOUS MINUTES
Confirmation of minutes held on 19 February 2018
The Chairperson proposed that the minutes of the meeting held on 19 February 2018, be taken as read, and
requested a seconder to the proposal.
A question was raised whether the quorum provisions in terms of the MOI had been misinterpreted at the previous
meeting in that:
- The quorum requirement was recorded as 150 as opposed to 100;
- Extended time to allow for the arrival of quorum was recorded as 30 minutes as opposed to 60 minutes;
- Resultant of the above, the meeting might have been erroneously adjourned, as there were 123 Members
present at the time.
The Chairperson undertook to revert to the Members in this regard.
Minutes of the meeting held on 26 February 2018
The Chairperson proposed that the minutes for the adjourned meeting held on 26 February 2018, be taken as
read.
Dr Steven Pretorius (stand 312) seconded the motion and it was carried.
A question was raised Mr Theo O’Neil pertaining to Item 6.2: Proposed Budget FY2018/2019, concerning the
overspend on the capital budget and the substantial salary increase. It was noted that feedback would be provided
to Members.
In response to queries regarding the development of the new driving range, it was confirmed that following
communication to the parties involved, the back-entry to the existing driving range had been closed.
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Members requested improved direct communication where a matter pertains to only a few Members.
VOTING PROCEDURE
It was noted that, in terms of the MOI, voting would be done by show of hands unless a poll is proposed by the
Chairperson or demanded by five or more Members.
Subsequent to the initial decision that voting would proceed by show of hands, several Members present queried
their respective voting rights in relation to proxies received, if voting proceeded on ‘a show of hands’. With this
taken into consideration, it was decided that voting, on all resolutions, proceed by way of ballot to allow Members
to exercise full voting rights in respect of properties owned and proxies held.
Mr Neil Scott (stand 1/1) seconded the motion to move to voting by way of poll and the motion carried.
On the proposal from the Chairperson that the representatives of FluidRock be appointed as scrutineers, Mr van
der Merwe (stand 293/1) seconded and the motion was carried.
In terms of the MOI provisions it was noted that:
- Clause 7.10.3 of the MOI required for an ordinary resolution to be adopted at any Members’ meeting,
it must be supported by the majority of votes cast;
- Clause 7.10.4 of the MOI required for a special resolution to be adopted at any Members’ meeting, it
must be supported at least 75% (seventy five percent) of the votes cast.
CHAIRPERSON’S REPORT
The Chairperson proposed that his report be taken as read. Mr Manie Swart (stand 703) seconded the motion
and it was carried. The report was noted.
Finance Manager and Liaison Manager:
The resignation of the Finance Manager and the departure of the Liaison Manager was queried and discussed.
Liaison Manager:
- It was explained by the CEO that a detailed organisational analysis had been conducted to determine the
tasks that had to be fulfilled and the commensurate roles required within the organisation;
- A streamlining process was undertaken during which the role of the Liaison Manager was determined to
be redundant after due process was followed in terms of the Labour Relations Act, Act 66 of 1995 (“LRA”);
- The Liaison Manager had declined the alternative position offered to her as it was in her view not
acceptable as the position had reduced scope and was offered at a reduced salary;
- In response to comments by a few Members to the contrary it was confirmed that several consultation
sessions with the Liaison Manager followed between March and September 2018 in this regard;
- After the matter had been referred to the Commission for Conciliation Mediation and Arbitration and
following due consideration by the board, it was concluded that a severance package of two weeks’ salary
for every year served (as opposed to the required one week’s salary for every year in terms of the LRA),
be awarded to the Liaison Manager in recognition for her service to the HOA.
Finance Manager:
Attending as a Member, the former Finance Manager concurred with the comments from the floor that there had
been an incident and the response by the Chairperson that consultation sessions were held and options discussed
with a request for her to remain in her position. She preferred not to elaborate on the matter.
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Sewer matter:
- In response to a query about the sewer, it was reported that an expert had been engaged on the matter
and a final report was awaited. Economic and engineering studies had been carried out, and
engagements were had with the City of Tshwane (“CoT”). Extensive amount of time had been spent on
the matter to date and management continued to work tirelessly to resolve the matter;
- In response to comment from a Member who claimed that her child contracted bilharzia from the dams
on the Estate, management confirmed that a test for bilharzia was done three times a year and no
evidence thereof had been found. Some traces of E. coli were found and was treated immediately. The
results of the tests were available for perusal.
Communication:
- A concern was raised over the lack of communication from the directors and management. The
Chairperson took note of the comment and emphasised that all was being done to enhance the
communication system, including using the website;
- Concern was raised, by one of the Members, over the unavailability of minutes of a special purpose
committee (Architectural and Aesthetics Committee – “AAC”) of which she was a Member. Management
responded that they were not aware of any case where minutes were not made available and that the
Member could liaise with the CEO to obtain said minutes.
Legal matters:
- Specific details could not be provided on the current legal action, since the matters were sub judice;
- The HOA’s preferred approach, to settle disputes amicably through negotiation rather than legal action,
was noted.
Security matters:
- A new security company, Bidvest Protea Coin was engaged in September 2018 and currently there were
no concerns over the service provided.
Financial Director’s report
The Financial Director (FD) summarised the financial report, with the following key points highlighted:
-

-

-

Whereas the financial results, as presented, related to the financial year ended 31 March 2018 it was
noted that management and the board were working towards bringing the AGM closer to year-end to
aid more relevant reporting;
The HOA received an unqualified audit report for FY 2018;
The FD refuted comments made by Mr Theo O’Neil, a Member of the Audit and Risk Committee (“ARC”)
regarding unanswered questions by the finance department in meetings held, however he undertook to
address any queries raised;
The meeting was briefed on the financial results and it was noted that:
o Liabilities were declining, whilst assets were increasing;
o Currently, there were 19 pending legal matters, four of which comprised the bulk of the
outstanding levies being collected from Members;
o The normal operations levy proposed for 2019/2020 increased by 3% from the levy in
2018/2019 and an additional levy increase would not be required in terms of the loan
repayments;
o The various loans had been consolidated in the Bank of Athens, owing to the favourable overall
terms being offered;
o The intention of the board was to utilise interest earned from investments to service the interest
on the loans was criticised by some of the Members;
o The presumed lack of transparency in terms of the budget to the ARC prior to the AGM was
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o

highlighted as a concern by certain Members;
The proposed budget was discussed at length and a number of queries were raised by some of
the Members being the lack of clarity on the actual expenses versus budget for the 2018/2019
year and whether the capital budget would be spent as forecasted, prior to financial year-end of
2019/2020.

CEO’s report
A high-level summary of the report was provided, with the following key points highlighted:
-

-

-

-

-

-

Capital expenditure: Municipal council approval on the plans for the workshop upgrade project was
taking longer than anticipated;
A brief overview was provided in respect of the maintenance programmes for the golf course, new parking
areas and the game reserve;
Dams and waterways: The following two significant challenges were being experienced and efforts to
resolve these matters were ongoing:
o Spread of an aquatic weed in the dams on the Estate - a combination of mechanical and chemical
removal techniques had been used with mixed results.
o Sewerage spills at the 16th dam - the matter had been escalated to local authorities, eventually
involving the Department of Water and Sanitation.
Telkom fibre project:
o It was reported that the agreement with Telkom could not be cancelled. After discussion it was
suggested that legal advice be obtained regarding the option of the cancellation of the agreement
due to non-performance.
o A Member reported that at a nearby Estate Telkom initially did not view the area as a priority
area, and that Estate put the fibre project out to tender. Subsequent to the tender process being
concluded and awarded to a provider, Telkom indicated that it would immediately undertake the
fibre project. A contract was signed with Telkom, resulting in a saving of R3.5 million. The system
allowed users to choose their own internet service providers and not necessarily use Telkom;
Access: Access to the Estate gates was being addressed with the City of Tshwane
A Member of the Mayoral Committee (“MMC”) had become involved to address the informal vendors
and taxis making use of the entrance area/s. The lack of maintenance of the area belonging to the
municipality was being addressed with CoT;
Outfall sewerage lines: Extensive work had been done with engineers and impact studies were being
conducted. Management would be meeting with the relevant MMC to present an alternative plan for the
upgrade of the existing lines, at a lower cost, than having to go through the Estate;
Rezoning: Members were informed that the farm to the east of Silver Lakes (N4), has been zoned for a
low-cost high-rising development and was in the process of being purchased by a developer. Once more
information became available, this would be shared with Members.
Pump station: The development of a pump station at Six Fountains (Gleneagles, 16 th dam) was highlighted
as a concern by some Members. The pump station had reportedly been inadequately designed and
posed a potential spillage risk to the Estate. Members were urged to oppose the project and the CEO
would circulate a public participation document to Members.

Security report
A high-level summary of the report highlighted the following salient points:
- Updates on the software for the security gate which had been resolved, neighborhood patrols, change of
security service provider and the cameras along the Estate’s boundary were noted as being included in
the report;
- Security measures had been enhanced through the improved use of technology. Entry and exit controls
ensured that only authorised individuals entered and exited the Estate. A helicopter was being utilised to
collect data and integrate the security programmes;
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-

Following a query, the meeting was informed that the security committee duly consulted with advisors on
security matters before presenting to the directors. Members were duly invited to join the committee.
A request was made that the Board circulate the tenders that was being published to ensure Members
were aware of such tender and to provide them with an opportunity to submit a tender should they be
interested.

Country Club report
A high-level summary of the report highlighted the following salient points:
- A high-level five-year maintenance plan for the golf course had been developed;
- Reference was made to the Golf Academy programmes, specifically the Junior Golf Academy and the
Ladies Golf participation;
- It was noted the Estate had adopted a new logo in 2018 to incorporate the Wildlife portion of the Estate.
- A process was underway to develop a new website for the Silver Lakes Homeowners Association, and it
was expected to be completed in the near future;
- Members were urged to participated in the Country Club’s ‘Business Extra Initiative’ which was a key focus
area;
- With reference to the improvement of the course paths, budgeted at R1 million management informed of
the possibility that these services would go out on tender and Members would be welcome to participate
in the tender process;
- A brief overview of the greens service plans (2017 to date) was provided, as well as the reasons for the
delay in informing Members of the situation. The matter related to the treatment of the greens and the
subsequent damage thereto. The following were noted:
o Meetings were held between the board and the previous golf course maintenance service
provider, Servest on the matter.
o Legal advice obtained from an advocate (a resident) confirmed that the Estate had a winnable
case in this regard;
o The board agreed and a claim was laid for R1.7 million for incurred losses (R328,000 loss in the
past three months) and future losses (for next six months) against the service provider. The
defendants in the matter rejected the claim, contending that they were not liable for future losses;
o Negotiations followed with the defendants over the incurred loss of R328,000. Taking into
consideration the incurred loss versus the legal costs (R300,000) of the matter progressing to
court and the duration of the court process, the board concluded to write off the loss;
o Some Members disagreed with this approach and Members were invited to provide their input to
the board via email through the CEO.
- With reference to the trees planted on the golf course without the required mandate, it was reported that,
the board had taken legal action against the responsible individual who claimed that the required
authorisation was in place from the Golf Committee.
REPORT OF THE SOCIAL, ETHICS AND GOVERNANCE REPORT 2018 (“SEGC”)
The Chairperson proposed that the SEGC report be taken as read and noted. Mr van der Merwe (stand 293/1
seconded the motion and it was carried.
Members were advised that, in terms of the Companies Act 71 of 2008 (“the Companies Act”), any Company
with a Public Interest Score (“PIS”) of more than 500 is required to constitute a Social and Ethics Committee. With
the Estate having more than 500 Members, its PIS automatically exceeds the provision and as such the requirement
applies.
The purpose and role of the SEGC in terms of the Companies Act, its Terms of Reference (“TOR”), King Report on
Corporate Governance, insofar it relates to the HOA, were highlighted. It was noted that recently, Members with
the required skills, had been invited to join the SEGC. Concern was raised in terms of the current composition of
the SEGC with the view that a potential conflict of interest could arise considering that the majority of the Members
were Board Members.
ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FYE 31 MARCH 2018
Annual Financial Statements (“AFS”)
The Chairperson proposed that the financial statements and the auditors’ report for the year ended 31 March
2018, be taken as read. Mr Hermanus Swart (stand 703) seconded the motion and it was carried.
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The audited Annual Financial Statements for the year ending 31 March 2018 were presented to the Members.
The query was raised as to why the audited financial statements where not tabled for approval by Members as in
the past. It was confirmed that the Constitution required approval, whereas the approved MOI requires that they
be tabled for noting by the Members after being perused and provisionally approved by the Audit and Risk
Committee.
The following were highlighted:
- Concern was raised in terms of the HOA’s financial liabilities, in the form of loans, being R10.8 million
as at the end of FY2018, with R4 million being the anticipated balance at the end of FY2019 (March
2019);
- Whereas Members’ additional monthly contribution of R276 per stand was only payable until 31 March
2019 (FYE 2019), concern was raised that no provision had been made to settle the loan subsequent to
this date;
- Given the limited information available to the ARC, with respect to the loan/s, it was noted by a Member
that feedback could not be provided to the HOA Members at this time;
- The following three loans would be re-financed:
o Nimav Investments (Pty) Ltd
R1 297 452
o Silver Lakes (Pty) Ltd
R3 853 014
o South African Bank of Athens Ltd
R5 388 243
VOTING
Voting proceeded and the results would be published once the counting was completed and the results verified.
POST AGM NOTE – Outcome of the voting : Approved.
ORDINARY RESOLUTION 1: PROPOSED BUDGETS 2019/2020
Whereas the Association’s budgets and levies for approval comprise the following:
- Income Statement for HOA/Estate
- Income Statement for Golf
- Income Statement for Clubhouse
- Proposed Levy 2019/2020
- Capital Expenditure 3-year Forecast
The Chairperson proposed and called for a seconder for the motion that, the proposed FY2019/2020 Budgets
as well as the determination of levies be adopted. The motion was seconded by Ms Marianne Riley (stand 155).
ORDINARY RESOLUTION 2: RE-APPOINTMENT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS
The Chairperson, proposed and called for a seconder for the motion that, Grant Thornton Pretoria be reappointed as the Independent Auditors of the Association for the ensuing financial year and that the audit
remuneration be fixed at no more than R207,150-00 (excluding audit committee attendance, statutory filings,
value added tax and disbursements) for the FYE 31 March 2019. Mr van der Merwe (stand 293/1) seconded the
motion.
POST AGM NOTE – Outcome of the voting : Approved.
ELECTION OF DIRECTORS
The requirements for a nomination, in terms of clause 8.1.3 of the MOI, were presented to the meeting. With this
taken into consideration, it was noted that nominations from the floor were not admissible. It was also noted that,
in terms of clause 8.1.1 of the MOI, the Country Club AGM would nominate the Country Club director. At the
Golf Club AGM, Mr Jannie Botha was nominated for appointment to the HOA board.
Mr Eugene Kruger raised a concern that the nomination of Mr Jannie Botha was invalid as he had not been
nominated by the Country Club AGM as required in the MOI, but by a Golf Club AGM.
Given the limited timeframe between the Country Club (Golf) AGM and the HOA AGM, Members were advised
that this nomination did not meet the requirements of clause 8.1.3 in that it was not received in time to be included
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in the Notice of the HOA AGM. Considering the above, the position would remain vacant subject to the board
resolving to co-opt Mr Botha to the board.
After deliberation, no poll or election of the Country Club Director proceeded.
Election of Finance Director
Whereas –
CANDIDATE F1 – Mr Anton Roets had been nominated as Finance Director and offered himself for re-election.
CANDIDATE F2 – Mr Jan de Wet had been nominated as Finance Director and offered himself for election.
The election of a Finance Director proceeded by way of poll, taken in the form of a ballot, and results would be
communicated once counting of the ballot papers were completed and verified by the IEC in terms of clause
7.11.13 of the MOI.
Some Members felt nominees were not provided with the opportunity to make presentations prior to the election
of the Finance director being called for and it was alleged that the manifestos for the candidates were not duly
circulated to the Members. These were however included in the AGM pack on page 205 (Anton Roets) and page
207 (Jan de Wet).
POST AGM NOTE – Outcome of the voting : Jan de Wet was elected as Finance Director.
Election of the Security Director
CANDIDATE S1 – Mr Visser du Plessis had been nominated as Security Director.
Being an uncontested nominee, Mr du Plessis would be deemed to have been elected as Security Director, as per
the Notice of the AGM. Concern was raised that the actual election of Mr du Plessis had not been tabled.
The interpretation and process relating to this matter was discussed at length. Given that consensus could not be
reached in this regard, it was concluded that the portfolio of the Security Director be declared vacant and that the
board had the option of co-opting Mr du Plessis subject to the MOI.
Mr du Plessis however withdrew his nomination at the AGM.
SPECIAL RESOLUTION 1: NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR’S REMUNERATION
The Chairperson, proposed and called for a seconder for the motion that, the remuneration payable to all nonexecutive Directors from 1 April 2019 to 31 March 2020 be fixed at R6 710 per month being a 6.5% increase on
the approved fees for the prior period.
A countermotion was made, by Mr Theo O’Neil (stand 669), that the Directors’ fees be increased by a maximum
of 5.5% in line with inflation. Dr Steven Pretorius (stand 312) seconded the countermotion and the Members voted
unanimously in favour to amend the increase from 6.5% to 5.5%.
Voting on the following special resolution, as amended, proceeded by way of poll, taken in the form of a ballot:
That it be resolved as a special resolution that the remuneration payable to all non-executive Directors from 1
April 2019 to 31 March 2020 be fixed at R6 646.50 per month being a 5.5% increase on the approved fees for
the prior period.
POST AGM NOTE – Outcome of the voting : Not approved.
ORDINARY RESOLUTION 3: AUTHORITY TO ACT
The Chairperson proposed the motion that any director be and is hereby authorised to do all such things and
sign such documents as may be necessary to give effect to the resolutions approved at the AGM. The motion was
seconded by Mr Jan de Wet (stand 600).
Members queried why such an arrangement needed to be affected yet it was a standard rule that at least two
directors must act concurrently. The Chairperson proposed to amend the resolution to “any two directors…” and
it was seconded by Mr Theo O’Neil (stand 669).
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Voting on the following ordinary resolution, as amended, proceeded by way of poll, taken in the form of a ballot:
- That it be resolved as an ordinary resolution that any two directors be and is hereby authorised to do all
such things and sign such documents as may be necessary to give effect to the resolutions approved at
the AGM.
POST AGM NOTE – Outcome of the voting : Approved.
COMMENTS ON PROCEEDINGS
Whereas a number of complaints were addressed to the IEC prior to the meeting (since 22 February 2019), the
Chair of the IEC was requested to address the meeting.
It was reported that the complaints were investigated through an independent process and consideration was
given to the MOI and the Companies Act. The IEC’s findings report had been circulated to the Board and made
available, on request, through a link as communicated to Members via SMS.
Whereas specific concern was raised over the incentivised proxy collection by staff, the following was noted in
terms of the IEC’s findings:
- In preparation for the CGM and AGM, staff members were requested by the CEO to encourage Members
to attend the meetings and if not able to, complete a Proxy form;
- As an incentive to staff, a small monetary amount (R400) would be awarded to the individual who
managed to collect the most Proxy forms;
- The purpose of the request and attached incentive was to secure the required representation for the
quorum requirements for both meetings to be met;
- Through its investigation, the IEC could not find any evidence to suggest that any proxy forms may have
been completed by staff members as opposed to Members;
- In terms of the payment of the incentive, it was noted that no payment had been made and as such the
origin / intended origin of the amount could not have been established.
A motion was put to the meeting that, there was no mandate from Members allowing any individual to incentivise
staff members or to encourage HOA Members to complete proxy forms for a HOA General Meeting, or to attend
such General Meeting. Mr Nombasa Tsengwa (stand 812) seconded, and the motion was carried.
CLOSURE OF MEETING
There being no further business to discuss, the meeting was closed at 00h41 on 26 February 2019.

Signed as a true record of the proceedings of the meeting.

______________________________________
MR JACO COETZEE
CHAIRPERSON

__________________________________
DATE
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CHAIRPERSON’S REVIEW 2019
It is with pleasure that I present my review for the past year 2019-2020.
I am first and foremost a member of the Silver Lakes Homeowners Association and from that perspective I believe
that those things common and important to me as a resident of this Estate, are also important to my fellow
members as it is to the members on the board of directors. This review is therefore centred on those aspects that
are current and important to the board and I trust, to you.
In 2018 Bidvest Protea Coin became the Estate’s security service provider and they absorbed within their services
staff of the previous service provider. This continued to a certain extent in the past year and was to the benefit of
the Estate because of the familiarity and trust that we as members build up over the years with those individuals
and they with us. Bidvest added enhanced security services to the Estate, including helicopter air support. Their
bigger footprint in the area surrounding Silver Lakes makes the gathering of security related intelligence much
more efficient and this is to the benefit of further securing our Estate. It is therefore particularly pleasant for me
to report that there were no significant security related issues experienced during the past year. However, it is not
pleasant to report that instances of vandalism occurred, mostly on the golf course. Early indications are that the
vandals are resident on the Estate. In conjunction with the security company, additional measures have been
implemented to identify the persons responsible, prevent future instances and ensure that appropriate action can
be taken against the vandals.
The access control system needed to be replaced after many years in use and was replaced and upgraded after
a lengthy due diligence process. The replacement project included all the various parts that make up the access
control system and also allowed the Association to newly enrol residents, their staff and other service providers in
a new and more secured database and to scrap the data held in the two redundant databases. The transition
between the old and new systems were for the larger part without problems and little inconvenience and I can
only ascribe that to the frequent and detailed communication with members as well as the large number of
personalised enrolment sessions provided to members.
As the security of the Estate is perhaps the most important element to us and our families, the various parts of the
security system is under continual review from management for areas needing improvement and to that end,
better camera deployed is being considered, as well as a better electricity back-up solution to keep the system as
a whole effective. Members are kindly reminded that traffic control rules are in operation. I trust that members
will willingly comply with the rules for the sake of the safety of all our inhabitants.
The financial situation of the company is healthy. The board through its oversight function and management from
a direct control aspect through the finance director and finance staff have curbed costs and practiced frugality.
The financial year that ended 31 March 2019 recorded a consolidated surplus of R3.3 million. The solvency of
the Association also improved with assets totalling R71 million (2018: R70 million) while liabilities are at R10
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million compared to the R19 million in 2018. In the strive for better and more effective controls further formal
organisational policies and concomitant procedures were implemented with a particular focus on the finance
related parts of the business.
In its administration of the Association the board was ably assisted during the year by the various committees of
the board and the board of directors would like to express our sincere thanks and appreciation to the volunteer
members who served on those committees during the year and it is our hope that they continue to do so.
The board thanks those individual members who in their private capacities contributed and assisted the board in
its work during the year. Without the insight, experience and professionalism of those individual members and
the committee members the work the board have accomplished would have been much more difficult to do and
less would have been achieved during the year. Without the intent to minimise the importance and work of the
other committees it is important to mention the work of the Audit and Risk Committee, chaired by Mr. Theo
O’Neil and its first AGM report to members to be delivered this year as well as that of the Social Ethics and
Governance Committee (SEGC) who has guided the board and management in a number of items during the
year. Regular SEGC meetings were convened under the stewardship of Mr. Manie Swart who has prepared, in
conjunction with the other volunteer members of the SEGC, its report for this year’s AGM. The Memorandum of
Incorporation and the Rules have been amended following input from members and review by the members of
the SEGC and the board
During the year the company had one staff member who joined the company and one who resigned. We welcome
Mrs Debbie Viljoen as the Operations Administrator in the Operations Department. Ms. Maxine Martinho, left
our employ at the end of January 2020 to join the Six Fountains Estate next door. Mr. Fred van Rensburg, the
Compliance Officer, has reached retirement age and has been employed on a term contract basis.
The Board continues its commitment to reduce unnecessary legal action and associated costs. To that end the
board welcomed Mr Dries Terblanche, who has been co-opted as the Director for Legal Affairs and under whose
leadership of that portfolio, the association managed to contain its legal expenses. It is unfortunate though that
the Estate has a legacy of a number of historical legal matters which still needs to be concluded. These actions
will unfortunately result in an increase in legal costs in the next year. Some members may be interested in the
progress of the claim against Servest for the fertiliser damage they caused to the greens on the golf course. That
matter is handled according to the contractual stipulations for dispute resolving and has been referred to
arbitration. Members have received during the year regular updates on the status of the threat of the proposed
Outfall Sewer, that will run through the estate, becoming a reality. This matter is of great concern to the board
and continues to receive the attention it should. The board therefore identified an attorney with experience and
subject expertise who deals with this type of environmental matters to attend to this issue. Ongoing formal
engagement with the City of Tshwane regarding the lack of services and maintenance, which amongst other
things includes road repairs, unsecured electrical meter boxes and sewerage spills from the Six Fountains and
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Silver Stream Estates remains a focus point of the board and management and because of the seriousness of
these issues, there is a possibility that legal action may be taken against the City of Tshwane.
During the past year a number of large capital projects were completed which included the upgrade of the staff
accommodation at the workshop area, new facilities for the caddies, the construction of the pathways on the golf
course and the installation of the cameras at the clubhouse and entrance gates.
Looking at the natural environment, we wish to congratulate the Golf Club Committee, who have all been reelected for the next years. The standard of the golf course has been further improved by the joint efforts of the
Golf Club Committee, HOA management and the Matkovich Group who is the golf course maintenance
provider. It is extremely rewarding when all the efforts are catalysts to make Silver Lakes one of the top 10 golf
courses in the world that received the award for being the best ECO friendly golf course in the world and it is
also the only golf course in Africa that has received this prestigious award.
The challenge to remove the Hornwort (an aquatic weed) that has created a choke hold on some of the dams in
the Estate is being undertaken by the operations team through a combination of manual removal of the Hornwort
as well as chemical treatment over a period of time. The spread of the Hornwort accelerated at the end of 2019
during the heavy rains and severe sewerage spillage.
Lastly, my personal thanks and appreciation goes to my fellow directors, and the staff of the Association, whose
efforts and commitments to be effective in their portfolios or jobs, as the case may be, surpassed my expectations.
It does me proud to work and be recognised alongside people who in all respects act in the interest of the
Association and who freely give many hours up in their lives to attend to various committee and board obligations
and demands.

MR JACO COETZEE
CHAIRPERSON
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AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE
CHAIRPERSON’S REVIEW
REPORT TO MEMBERS AT THE ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING OF 30 MARCH 2020
Role and Composition
Provide independent assurance and assistance to the Board of Directors on control, governance and risk
management regarding the financial affairs of the Homeowners Association.
The Committee consists of four independent members and three members from the Board of Directors and
management.
Report on Controls, Governance and Risk Management
• the Committee met twice during the year and reviewed the financial reports;
• directors and management were questioned on the Estate financial risks including the investment and
application of surplus cash and the necessity for levy increases;
• financial controls and reporting thereon are acceptable and reliance can be placed on sound financial
management;
• compliance with financial regulations are adequate;
• the HOA is exposed to several risks, some of which are listed below, which may directly or indirectly affect
the financial interests of homeowners and the estate:
1. possible sewer outfall construction through the estate and golf course;
2. deteriorating aesthetic quality and appearance of estate entrance, sidewalks, roads and homeowner
properties;
3. growing non-compliance with estate rules;
4. fall in value of properties;
5. deteriorating and increasingly unreliable municipal services.
The Board has been tasked to address these risks.
THEO O’NEIL
CHAIRMAN OF THE AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE
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SOCIAL, ETHICS AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE
CHAIRPERSON’S REVIEW
The social, ethics and governance committee (the committee is pleased to present its report for the 12 months
ended 31 March 2019.
The board has approved formal terms of reference for this committee in January 2019. The board has allocated
the oversight of, and reporting on, responsible corporate citizenship, organisational ethics, and ethical
corporate governance to this committee.
The terms of reference incorporate the King IV recommendations as far as it is applicable to an organization of
this magnitude.
COMPOSITION AND MEETINGS
Members of the committee are appointed by the board. The appointed members elect a chairman from the
appointed members. The committee had its first meeting in March 2019. The first members are:
Mrs
Messrs

Shirley Machaba
Danélle Smuts-Steenkamp
Henk Booysen
Jaco Coetzee
Eugene Kruger
Phumzile Mbodla
Manie Swart (Chairperson)

-

Independent Member
Finance Manager
Chief Executive Officer
Independent non-executive Chairman
Independent Member
Independent Member
Independent Member

The committee had one meeting during the reporting period, and had two more meetings since then. No
problems were identified at these meetings that need to be reported on.
KEY ACTIVITIES
Due to its recent establishment, the committee had no oversight of the company’s activities, and presents no
report thereon for the period under review.
The committee has approved the terms of reference, but accepts that it is a working document that will be
enhanced with experience.
The committee received no requests or feedback from stakeholders during the period under review.
During the time since the end of the reporting period, the board has shown a sincere interest in the work and
suggestions of this committee, and of the other board committees. This development points to a great future
for all stakeholders.
STAKEHOLDER RELATIONSHIPS
The committee is still in its infancy and needs to critically look at its role, the chairman’s guidance, and the role
the committee plays in the overall wellbeing of Silver Lakes. This will ensure that the committee becomes satisfied
that it has fulfilled its responsibilities in accordance with its terms of reference and has performed its statutory
duties, as set out in the Companies Regulations.
Thanks go to the members of the committee for their dedicated and constructive contributions to the functioning
of the committee.
Manie Swart
Chairperson
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Chairperson portfolio - Manifesto
Jaco Coetzee
MANIFESTO
I believe in commitment and perseverance to achieve one’s goals and be
strong willed. I also believe that one should have an independent mind-set
but to be humble enough to seek advice when needed and be open and
accepting of other’s ideas and comments which can contribute meaningfully
to achieve common goals.
These principles are the ones that have assisted me in the past year as the chairperson of SLHOA and which
will continue to help me to succeed in my capacity as a member of the SLHOA board of directors should my
nomination be successful and I be accepted by the members.
As a fellow member I commit that decisions taken will be in the interest of the community and where necessary
be communicated as appropriate and to promote and protect the common group interests of the members and
in accordance with the Memorandum of Incorporation and the Rules of the Estate.
I have and will continue persevere in ensuring through the setting of strategic goals, standards and the efforts
of management and proper communication that the security and upkeep of the Silver Lakes Golf and Country
Estate, its facilities and financial affairs are in accordance with the expectations of the members and my own.
To that end I will apply all my experience to achieve, in conjunction with my colleague directors and
management, those expectations.
PERSONAL PROFILE
Silver Lakes Golf and Wildlife Country Estate member and resident since 1998.
Currently chairperson of the SLHOA and part time hospitality, food and beverage and entertainment industry
consultant and residential property developer with over 32 years’ hands on senior managerial experience in the
5 star hospitality and entertainment industry.
Accomplished hands-on manager in major corporate environments and have proven organisational,
operational and human capital management and implementation experience, skills and leadership ability
across the majority of disciplines in hospitality and resort facilities and residential estate management and also
specific in gaming related disciplines, resort hotel and food and beverage operations and legal compliance
and regulatory fields.
KEY ACHIEVEMENTS
➢ Chairperson and Vice chairperson of Silver Lakes Home Owners Association (South Africa)- 2017 –
currently.
➢ Senior Manager and Executive Director and Sun International Management Limited Board Member.
➢ CEO of Silver Lakes Home Owners Association in South Africa, who successfully initiated and significantly
progressed improved restaurant and golfers facilities, conferencing, landscaping and maintenance services
resulting in increased member and resident satisfaction and material cost savings.
➢ Project Manager for Bingo Vision (Pty) Ltd and as senior manager single-handedly completed and operated
a casino and restaurant in Kuruman, Northern Cape Province.
➢ Member of the Sun International Management Limited Risk Committee.
➢ Executive management team member responsible for the successful operational and financial management
of Sun City Resort.
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➢ Senior member of Sun International Management Limited project team bringing to operation 14 casino
projects incorporating 4 star plus hotel projects in Southern Africa, Nigeria and Chile.
➢ Incumbent responsibility for structural and operational changes in Sun International Group and Bingo
Vision, resulting overall in increased revenues and costs savings in hospitality, gaming, security, landscaping
and golf course facilities.
➢ Across companies successfully implemented the operational installation and cost-effective supply of multimillion rand CCTV device and system equipment resulting in significant savings.
➢ Successfully evaluated and contracted security service providers and implemented pro-active security
systems across companies customised for the protection of customers and assets.
January 2020.
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Vice-Chairperson Portfolio – Manifesto
Prof 'Lekan Ayo-Yusuf
Having previously served as a Hospital Superintendent/CEO in the Limpopo
Department of Health (1995-2001), as Head of academic Unit at the University of
Pretoria (2002-2013) and Executive Dean at the Sefako Makgatho Health Sciences
University (2014-2017), I am currently the Acting Vice Chancellor at Sefako Makgatho
University (SMU) and the Vice Chairperson of the current Board of the SLHOA. I have
the following qualifications; Bachelor of Dental Surgery (Benin), MSc (UP), DHSM
(Health Systems Management, UP), MPH (Health Policy & Management, UP), PhD in Health Promotion and
Education (Maastricht University, Netherlands), a postdoc training in Public Health Practice (Harvard, USA) and an
Executive course certificate in policy management (Wits).
As the then CEO of the F. H. Odendal Hospital, Modimolle (Ex Nylstroom) - a 200-bed district hospital, the
hospital Board charged me with the responsibility to lead transformation and to rationalise, over a three-year
term, the operations of the hospital that was located on two separate campuses. As demonstration of my proven
ability to conceptualise and initiate new ventures and manage large projects, my term as the hospital CEO saw
the successful completion of large infrastructure projects. I have served on a number as Boards including the
councils/Board of the University and its Resource Planning and Bid Adjudication Committees. I have served and
continue to serve as a consultant to South African government and a number of international organizations such
as the UNFPA and WHO. I therefore combine a wealth of experience in senior executive leadership roles and an
understanding of policy management process with a national and international record of accomplishment in
Behavioural research, which I bring to the board.
My leadership style, which is structural and humanistic finds expression in integrating diverse ideas and
willingness to compromise, yet exert authority as when necessary. This leadership approach together with my
ability to motivate people and get them involved in a shared vision led to the successful completion of the
demerger process of the Medunsa from the University of Limpopo in 2015, while at the same time engaging
with all stakeholders to manage the transition to a new University (SMU).
In addition to shared oversight of the effective allocation and expenditure of human and financial resources at
the five various schools in the University, I recently facilitated the generation of over $3 million additional
research income for the University. I also own and manage a number properties including one on another Golf
Estate in the Country. I have also previously served as a member of the then Corporate Governance Advisory
Committee (CGAC) of the SLHOA for about two years. I therefore look forward to continuing to bring my insight
of the challenges facing Housing Estates and my Strategic Management skills to the board of the SLHOA.
The Board is making progress towards becoming less ‘operational’ and, taking on more of its fiduciary duty and
strategic oversight role. Your vote for me will ensure that the gains made to date continues with measurable benefits
for you all as members of the HOA.
I chose to live in Silver Lakes Golf Estate because I believe it is the most secured and beautiful estate in the country
and, I am confident to still say I love the Silver Lakes Community. I believe our Estate is a place any one should
dream to call home after a hard day’s work or international travel.
With your voices behind me, I commit to continue to bring my skills and experience in executive management of
large public institutions, insights as past member of the CGAC and current Vice Chairman of the Board, in
promoting and protecting the communal interests of the HOA members. I also commit to take every step to ensure
the Board maintains high security, aesthetics and environmental standards in line with the object of the HOA.
Work with me for the next two years by giving me your vote to pursue the following strategic priorities:
•

Improve corporate governance to ensure the board becomes increasingly fair, transparent and
accountable to the members, especially with regard to executing agreements as it relates to existing and
new facilities and, legislative and MOI compliance in pursuant of the object of the HOA.
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•

Improve strategic management with attendant improved cash flow and financial sustainability of the HOA,
especially focusing on staff performance management against strategic implementation plans and,
continue to explore new strategies to turn around the Golf business operations. I would ensure support for
improved efficiency by striking appropriate balance between insourcing and outsourcing of our operations.

•

Keep expenditure on legal fees to barest minimum through improved efficiency and effectiveness of the
service we deliver to both internal and external stakeholders and improve our mediation mechanisms in
event of disputes with stakeholders, including reviewing the attorneys on retention to ensure such attorneys
share this value in pursuant of the object of the HOA.
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Environment Portfolio – Manifesto
Leah Dvir
I have been living in Silver Lakes since 2006 and am a homeowner since
2016. As a homeowner, I wanted to get involved in issues that matter to me,
and to help make an impact on Silver Lakes’ present and future. Over the
past two year I have been volunteering on both the Environmental and
Architectural and Aesthetic Committees. It gave me an opportunity to
experience operation on the estate and to partake in discussions and decision
making on matters that is important to the Estate.
I interacted with the different role players in the Environmental Portfolio and witnessed the forces that are
working to establish the direction of Environmental issues and developments on the Estate. I developed a
deep understanding of the challenges ahead of the environmental director and Silver Lakes as a community
in the years to come.
I am not only involved in matters of nature, but also the people of Silver Lakes and I recently initiated the
Silver Lakes Chess Club - creating another opportunity to engage with our community.
Our estate is complex and diverse. In this portfolio is where different interests come to the surface – humans
and nature, private vs public, wild life and man-made. I believe that a delicate balance can be found, by
increasing public participation in activities, processes and decision making.
What are my guiding principles?
• Engaging different groups of society in activities of the estate, making use of estate facilities and
outdoor areas.
• Improving access to open spaces for the benefit of the residents of Silver Lakes.
• Promoting education to environmental issues.
• Maintaining a sustainable and healthy environment for people and wildlife under the pressure of
development inside Silver Lakes and around us. Sewer spills, traffic, air and noise pollution, habitats
and diversities are all issues that require attention.
• Developing a vision for the future of our community in the context of our country and our world.
In the following years I would like to focus on the following activities: Firstly, there is the pressing issue of
the Proposed Silver Lakes Outfall Sewer, which needs serious addressing.
Secondly, I would like to contribute by making the Estate special for ALL:
• Upgrading the play parks.
• Creating additional attractions for the youth.
• Providing stimulation for sport and recreation.
• Developing new and ongoing projects in the game reserve, such as bird hides, walking trail, fishing
and picnic spots.
• Proactively appose projects that aim to undermine Silver Lakes’ environment.
• Introduce new technologies and solutions for a healthy, sustainable environment.
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Security Portfolio – Manifesto
Ludwig Schnebel
I am available to serve on the Board as Security Director.
I am married and have 3 daughters. My family and I have been residents in Silver
Lakes Golf Estate for the past 15 years. We consider Silver Lakes our home and
intend to live here and be part of this community for a long time to come.
The security of our estate is the most valuable contributor to the Silver Lakes Lifestyle. I wish to contribute to
this cause.
I am a businessman and property investor with 20 years of experience in property development and
management. I graduated with an Engineering degree and gained 10 years’ experience as a consulting
engineer. As part of a team of engineers I have advised institutions like The Bank of Botswana and Info Plan
on their security strategies.
I am honest and reliable. I do not participate in political manoeuvring and in-fighting to benefit myself. I
am goal and task driven and have the ability to lead and motivate people to work towards a common goal
and perform at their best. I am analytical and able to identify weaknesses in systems and able to employ
strategies to overcome such weaknesses.
I have served as a member of the Silver Lakes Strategic Security Committee for the past 4 years. I can testify
that the operational security staff has done an admirable job during this period. Serious crimes have not
affected our lives within Silver Lakes during their tenure.
We however need to remain vigilant to ensure that we are prepared for new challenges that may arise. My
strategy will be a holistic approach to ensure the safety of residents without being subjected to undue
discomfort:
1. Access control at the entrances to the estate remains important. I will ensure the continued upgrade
of our access control technology.
2. The integrity of our perimeter fence must be ensured by the continued upkeep of our control room,
CCTV systems and perimeter fencing.
3. Continuous support of the Silver Lakes Security Forum, of whom the surrounding estates are also
members, will be encouraged.
4. Within the estate, CCTV surveillance must be extended and visibility of security staff increased to
ensure the safety of our community within our estate.
5. Traffic rules must be enforced. Speeding within the estate is a risk to our members and children.
6. Ongoing evaluation on the performance of our systems, staff and suppliers is required to ensure the
best possible outcome and value to residents.
You will agree that, to ensure a safe and secure environment, the cooperation of all residents is required.
This will be encouraged.
I thank you.

147

REPORT OF FINANCIAL MATTERS
FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 31 MARCH 2019
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Annual financial statements
Report on financial statements
Analysis of financial results
Report on proposed financial budget
Summary of financial results and proposed
budget
Income statements
Proposed levy
Capital expenditure
Capital expenditure 3-year forecast

148

ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

149

150

151

152

153

154

155

156

157

158

159

160

161

162

163

164

165

166

167

168

169

170

171

REPORT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 MARCH 2019

172

REPORT ON FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019
1. SUMMARY (Please see accompanying Summary of Financial Results)
1.1

OPERATING INCOME
A surplus of R 10.4m was achieved for March 2019 which is a decrease of R 2m when compared to the R 12.4m
in the previous year. The decrease is attributable to the capital development levy contributions which came to an
end in March 2018. The surplus for the year includes capital levies of R 7m transferred to reserve funds, resulting
in an operating surplus of R 3.3m. This is in accordance with financial reporting standards and can be seen on
the Statement of Changes in Equity (page 10 of the AFS). The total net operating surplus of R 3.3m is an
improvement when compared to the budget of R 209k as well as the prior year’s reported surplus of R 1.5m.

1.2

SOLVENCY AND LIQUIDITY
The Statement of Financial Position (page 8 of the AFS) shows a positive net current assets (liquidity) balance of R
3.3m which is a significant improvement on the R 236k reported for the previous financial year. This is due to a
decrease in the short-term portion of the long-term loans and trade payables. Equity exceeds total liabilities by R
51.6m and the debt-to-equity ratio has improved from 0.4 times to 0.2.
The Nimav Investments Proprietary Limited and Silver Lakes Proprietary Limited liabilities were settled in October
2018 and replaced with a new bond of R 11.950m with Grobank Limited. The detail can be seen on Note 9 to the
AFS (page 17).
It is envisaged that the HOA will be in a favourable financial position at 31 March 2020 to settle the full outstanding
value of the loan.

2. OTHER COMMENTS
2.1

HOA/ESTATE
The Estate, excluding the golf course and clubhouse, shows a net operating surplus of R 5.4m This is considerably
better than the budget of R 1.8m as well as the R 2.3m reported for the previous year. The surplus is attributable to
income derived from penalties and interest earned, both items not budgeted for, as well as realised cost savings.

2.2

GOLF COURSE
The golf course operation shows a net operating loss of R 1.7m for 2019 which is considerably higher than the
budgeted loss of R 911k. Both revenue and expenses did not meet budget expectation. On the revenue side, income
from subscriptions is the main contributor to the budget not being met. Expenses exceeded budget by R 255k due
to higher than expected costs incurred on grounds maintenance and repairs. To offset the negative impact of the
additional costs, a concerted effort was put in to save on other expenses where practical to minimise the impact of
the over expenditure on the HOA. For the 2020 financial year, we are forecasting golf revenue to be R 13.5m and
an operating loss of R 1.3m.

2.3

CLUBHOUSE
The clubhouse reported a net operating loss of R 414k which is lower than the budgeted loss of R 713k and the
reported income of R 69k in 2018. Revenue was higher than budget by R 113k and 11% higher than the prior year.
Expenses are lower than budget by R 186k, largely due to lower than expected utility charges. When compared to
the prior year, expenses are significantly higher. This is largely due to advertising and marketing expenses reflecting
in the accounts of Club, which were previously reported in the accounts of Golf and HOA.

2.4

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE
Total available funding amounted to R 7m. However, R 3.7m was not spent and carried forward to projects in
2020, which included the cart path upgrade and access control projects to the value of R 2m and R 437k
respectively. The major capital projects completed in 2019 comprised the gabions in Phase 3 and at high impact
areas on the golf course (R 622k), erosion control (R 353k), upgrade of interiors at the Clubhouse lounge and
reception area (R 309k) as well as the replacement of the stack folding doors in the Lakeview conference room (R
311k). Although the total expenditure was within the capital budget, it was necessary to reassign certain capital
budget items in order to fund the higher than expected costs for the gabions. The contingency reserve of R 500k
was not utilised.
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3 316 238
3 221 402
3 816 533
10 354 173

4. CONSOLIDATED NET SURPLUS
TOTAL NET OPERATING INCOME
Add: Net Capital Levy
Add: Net Capital Reimbursement
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE SURPLUS AS AUDITED
209 000
3 402 970
3 386 193
6 998 163

(713 000)

2 899 000

2 186 000

14 341 000
(911 000)

13 430 000

34 581 000
32 748 000
1 833 000

3 107 239
(181 568)
430 340
3 356 011

299 437

186 248

113 189

(254 825)
(774 587)

(519 762)

1 289 037
2 293 352
3 582 389

Budget variance to
Actual
March
2019
Mainly due to:

Budget and prior year variance comments

1 489 687
7 543 813 Prior year included the capital development levy
3 386 603
12 420 102

2 071 235 Outsource of clubhouse operations: Recoveries exceeding budget expectation
Lower than budget, but higher than prior year due to building maintenance and higher
2 002 167
than expected fuel costs due to load shedding
69 068

Revenue from members subscriptions lower than anticipated, revenue however
improved by 2.7% from March 2018.
13 514 166 Additional cost incurred on course maintenance
(938 456)
12 575 710

33 049 569 Higher than budget due to interest and penalties, not budgeted for
30 690 494 Lower than prior year and budget due to cost savings
2 359 075

March
2018

Actual

COMMENTS ON 2019 RESULTS VERSUS 2018
i)
The R 10.4m comprehensive surplus in 2019 decreased when compared to the surplus of R 12.4m in 2018 as a result of the capital development levy contribution which ended in FY 2017/18.

(413 563)

2 712 752

Less: Expenses

Net Operating Income/(Loss) (before depreciation)

2 299 189

14 595 825
(1 685 587)

12 910 238

35 870 037
30 454 648
5 415 389

March
2019

March
2019

3. CLUBHOUSE OPERATIONS
Net Revenue

Less: Expenses
Net Operating loss (before depreciation)

Net Revenue

2. GOLF OPERATIONS

1. HOA/ESTATE
Revenue
Less: Expenses
Net Operating Surplus

Budget

Actual
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REPORT ON THE PROPOSED FINANCIAL BUDGET FOR 2020/2021
INTRODUCTION
Due to the National lockdown coming into effect on 27 March 2020 as a result of COVID-19, management
and the Board of Directors deemed it prudent to revisit the original budget for 2020/2021 as proposed to
members in the AGM documentation for the meeting that was scheduled for March 2020. It was necessary to
revise assumptions and forecasts for this proposal, taking into account the anticipated impact of the lockdown
on revenue, expenses and liquidity of the Association. The budget was revised and communicated as such to
members, the proposed levy remains unchanged in this and the previous proposed budgets for the financial
year.
1.

SUMMARY (Please see accompanying Schedules)

1.1 GENERAL
The financial information for March 2020 (Budget and Forecast) and the audited financial information for
March 2019 are provided in order to review and assess the proposed budget for the period April 2020 to
March 2021.
It is proposed to increase the Capital Maintenance levy from R 320.00 per month to R 330.00 per month to
fund the necessary Capital Maintenance (as per the accompanying schedule), being an increase of 3.1% from
2020 to 2021.
There is however no overall levy increase proposed for 2021 as the total monthly levy includes the Normal
Operations levy, Capital Maintenance levy and CSOS (Community Service Ombudsman Scheme) levy. The
Waste management levy is not budgeted for in 2020/2021 as the City of Tshwane has ceased billing for this
service. The Normal Operations levy is kept flat at R 1 653.00 (rounded) whilst the Capital Maintenance levy
is increased by R 10.
2.

HOA/ESTATE
The budget for HOA/ESTATE shows an operating surplus of R 3.5m. Revenue is expected to decrease when
compared to the actuals for March 2019, mainly as a result of income derived from penalties not being
budgeted for. The expenses are lower than the budget for 2020 by 1.9% due to no salary increase to staff for
2021 in the revised budget that was re-assessed in response to the COVID-19 pandemic and the resultant
lockdown.

3.

GOLF COURSE
The budgeted revenue for golf is lower than the 2020 budget and forecast by 12.7% and 18.2% respectively
as a result of the course being closed for almost three months due to the National lockdown coming into effect
on 27 March 2020. The main contributing factors to the decline in revenue is due to the expected loss in
revenue from golf days, members subscriptions and visitors. Included in the budgeted revenue is an insurance
pay-out received to compensate the Association for the loss in revenue due to the Golf course not being
operational during lockdown level 5.
The Golf expense budget for 2021 shows a decrease when compared to both the budget and forecast for
2020. This is due to no salary increase to staff for 2021 and some reduced service level agreement fees
negotiated with service providers where feasible for Quarter 1 of the 2021 year.
The budgeted loss for golf is therefore R 2.3m.

4.

CLUBHOUSE
The 2021 budgeted revenue consists of turnover rental and recoveries from the outsourced service provider,
Fairway Food Services (Pty) Ltd for the Clubhouse facility. It also includes an insurance pay-out received to
compensate the Association for the loss in revenue due to lockdown level 5. 2020 Revenue is expected to be
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significantly lower than the 2020 budget due to the lockdown, but increases by 131% when compared to the
2020 forecast. This significant increase is due to Operator recoveries which are lower than the actuals for
2019 and the 2020 budget. This was due to an over recovery from the tenant due to incorrect electricity meter
readings. The 2020 forecast takes this over recovery into account.
The 2021 budget expenses show a decrease of 13% compared to the prior year budget and 13.5% compared
to the forecast for 2020. The decrease is due to a reduced expense budget for social events being prohibited
under lockdown and some identified costs to be put on hold to the next financial year to preserve cash.
The 2021 budget for Clubhouse anticipates a loss of R 901k.
On a consolidated level the budget for 2021 reflects a surplus of R 252k.
5.

CAPITAL MAINTENANCE
The Capital Maintenance projects for 2021 amount to R 6.5m. It is proposed to fund this expenditure through
by means of a Capital Maintenance levy of R 330 per month per member.
A Contingency Reserve has not been budgeted for as in the past, as R 1m has been collected over the past
two years and has not been utilised.
A proposed and forecasted 3-year capital plan for the 2021, 2022 and 2023 financial years is included in
the pack and will be presented at the AGM.

178

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL RESULTS
2018/2019
and
PROPOSED BUDGET
2020/2021

179

180

5 415 389

NET OPERATING SURPLUS

14 595 825
(1 685 587)

EXPENSES

NET OPERATING (LOSS)

2 712 752
(413 563)

EXPENSES

NET OPERATING INCOME / (LOSS)

3 221 402

CAPITAL RESERVE LEVY

See reports on Financial Results 2018/2019 and Proposed Budget 2020/2021

10 354 173

3 816 533

6 TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE SURPLUS

7 037 935

3 316 238

NET OPERATING SURPLUS / (DEFICIT)

CLUBHOUSE AND GOLF COURSE PURCHASE LEVY

47 763 225

EXPENSES

5 NET CAPITAL LEVY AND REIMBURSEMENT INCOME

51 079 463

NET REVENUE

4 CONSOLIDATED

2 299 189

NET REVENUE

3 CLUBHOUSE

12 910 238

NET REVENUE

2 GOLF

35 870 037
30 454 648

6 998 163

3 402 970

3 386 193

6 789 163

209 000

49 988 000

50 197 000

(713 000)

2 899 000

2 186 000

(911 000)

14 341 000

13 430 000

1 833 000

32 748 000

34 581 000

Actual

REVENUE

2018/19
Approved budget

2018/19

EXPENSES

1 HOA

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL RESULTS 2018/2019 AND PROPOSED BUDGET 2020/2021

SILVER LAKES HOMEOWNERS ASSOCIATION NPC

3 356 010

(181 568)

430 340

248 772

3 107 238

2 224 775

882 463

299 437

186 248

113 189

(774 587)

(254 825)

(519 763)

3 582 389

2 293 352

1 289 037

To Budget

Variance

2018/19

2019/20

7 727 958

3 699 735

3 706 305

7 406 040

321 918

49 468 259

49 790 177

(650 542)

2 927 402

2 276 860

(1 685 066)

14 304 609

12 619 542

2 657 526

32 236 249

34 893 774

Approved budget

9 036 014

3 057 600

2 893 412

5 951 012

3 085 002

47 879 724

50 964 726

(2 235 202)

2 948 905

713 703

(1 269 976)

14 739 295

13 469 319

6 590 180

30 191 524

36 781 704

Forecast

2019/20

2020/21

3 502 481

3 250 440

-

3 250 440

252 040

47 545 713

47 797 753

(901 193)

2 550 326

1 649 133

(2 335 311)

13 355 569

11 020 258

3 488 543

31 639 818

35 128 362

Proposed budget

INCOME STATEMENTS
•
•
•

HOA / Estate
Golf
Clubhouse
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INCOME STATEMENT FOR HOA/ESTATE

2018/19

2018/19

2018/19

2019/20

2019/20

2020/21

Actual

Approved budget

Variance

Approved budget

Forecast

Proposed
budget

REVENUE
Levies - Normal operations

31 389 124

31 194 000

195 124

32 513 653

32 308 366

32 316 000

Refuse removal

880 437

899 000

(18 563)

858 000

886 507

899 000

Rental income

367 661

350 000

17 661

378 514

400 557

416 000

Late payment fees

358 231

392 000

(33 769)

307 524

325 016

239 000

Rule enforcement

593 686

1 114 750

202 000

Waste Management Levy

493 011

497 000

(3 989)

219 550

164 766

Other

965 470

1 069 000

(103 530)

616 534

1 060 760

665 000

35 047 620

34 401 000

646 620

34 893 775

36 260 722

34 737 000

822 417

180 000

642 417

520 982

391 000

35 870 037

34 581 000

1 289 037

34 893 775

36 781 704

35 128 000

Security - main guarding contract

8 927 061

9 915 000

987 939

9 582 500

8 855 086

9 719 000

Security - access control

1 068 526

1 454 000

385 474

1 141 548

964 265

871 000

Security - perimeter contract and cameras

776 594

772 000

(4 594)

629 636

630 247

621 000

Security - other

482 961

273 000

(209 961)

414 122

456 097

337 000

Payroll

8 191 385

9 672 000

1 480 615

9 760 320

9 164 472

9 237 000

Garden service contract

1 860 815

1 645 000

(215 815)

1 979 923

1 944 906

1 964 000

Refuse removal

1 781 978

1 868 000

86 022

1 846 785

1 837 278

1 926 000

Professional fees

912 773

308 000

(604 773)

583 130

539 304

803 000

Legal fees

635 005

100 000

(535 005)

440 000

482 543

800 000

Electricity, water and rates

752 204

988 000

235 796

823 398

761 471

674 000

Estate maintenance

788 998

1 051 000

262 002

814 932

750 328

646 000

Motor vehicle expenses

545 824

618 000

72 176

540 863

525 543

509 000

Operating rentals, leases and IT

497 811

509 000

11 189

510 396

505 298

487 000

Insurance

391 023

389 000

(2 023)

414 216

446 370

469 000

Telephone and communication

609 645

611 000

1 355

360 895

406 033

442 000

Directors remuneration

445 410

458 000

12 590

487 915

362 691

432 000

Printing and stationery incl AGM

487 579

348 000

(139 579)

290 800

254 848

299 000

91 305

144 000

52 695

99 000

135 075

203 000

-

323 000

323 000

338 185

98 654

193 000

(1 729)

162 376

154 750

172 000

Sub-total
Interest received
TOTAL NET REVENUE

-

593 686

-

-

-

EXPENSES

Health and safety
Fibre to home
Audit fees

148 729

147 000

Bank charges

241 150

202 000

(39 150)

160 000

159 574

149 000

Game keeping

250 739

380 000

129 261

266 584

217 626

140 000

Social responsibility fund

109 440

109 000

(440)

115 404

115 404

123 000

Staff training

45 573

106 000

60 427

80 000

50 983

84 000

Protective clothing outdoor staff

64 482

68 000

3 518

57 500

57 500

54 000

Web maintenance

48 470

40 000

(8 470)

40 572

41 771

46 000

Consumables

61 986

65 000

3 014

52 600

48 563

40 000

Décor and Flowers

18 200

28 000

9 800

35 659

33 420

30 000

2 666

11 000

8 334

-

-

-

24 688

19 000

(5 688)

22 200

22 288

191 627

127 000

(64 627)

184 791

169 136

169 000

30 454 648

32 748 000

2 293 352

32 236 249

30 191 524

31 639 000

5 415 389

1 833 000

3 582 389

2 657 526

6 590 180

3 489 000

Social events
Environmental cleaning
Other expenditure
TOTAL EXPENSES

NET SURPLUS
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INCOME STATEMENT FOR GOLF
2018/19

2018/19

2018/19

2019/20

2019/20

Actual

Approved budget

Variance

Approved budget

Forecast

2020/21
Proposed
budget

REVENUE
Golf course
Members

4 772 550

5 844 000

(1 071 450)

5 120 000

5 065 510

4 322 000

Visitors

2 361 269

2 249 000

112 269

2 380 000

2 257 433

1 850 000

Golf cart rental

1 481 842

1 382 000

99 842

1 400 000

1 463 081

1 246 000

Groups

Insurance pay-out received for loss of revenue

1 346 000

1 367 644

1 080 000

287 644

1 037 628

1 166 902

438 000

Turnover Rental

818 433

760 000

58 433

827 000

793 110

348 000

Sponsorships

311 734

597 000

(285 266)

432 000

349 809

135 000

183 080

58 000

Miscellaneous income

60 682

-

60 682

-

Profit on sale of old golf cart fleet
Other
Sub-total

Pro shop and Driving Range net revenue

Total Income before Interest received
Interest received
TOTAL NET REVENUE

703 325
540 534

428 000

112 534

494 195

303 599

317 000

11 714 688

12 340 000

(625 312)

11 690 822

12 285 848

10 060 000

1 194 841

1 090 000

104 841

928 000

1 183 471

960 000

12 909 529

13 430 000

(520 471)

12 618 822

13 469 319

11 020 000

709

720

(519 762)

12 619 542

13 469 319

11 020 000

709
12 910 238

13 430 000

-

-

EXPENSES
Greenkeeping contract

6 409 534

6 486 000

76 466

6 665 916

6 665 916

6 261 000

Payroll

4 006 215

4 098 000

91 785

3 617 366

3 784 250

3 630 000

Electricity, water and rates

1 075 112

1 361 000

285 888

1 183 886

1 061 384

969 000

506 720

581 000

74 280

457 604

755 360

855 000

Golf cart rental & maintenance
Maintenance

1 091 558

402 000

(689 558)

783 000

800 203

430 000

Bank charges

299 777

259 000

(40 777)

262 032

303 404

229 000

IT support

169 887

159 000

(10 887)

174 592

163 768

174 000

Insurance

99 781

97 000

(2 781)

108 689

109 534

118 000

Equipment rental

126 069

139 000

12 931

135 191

122 029

107 000

Cleaning

158 146

115 000

(43 146)

133 020

129 925

97 000

-

40 000

40 000

18 000

19 958

81 000

Printing and stationery

73 600

72 000

(1 600)

85 000

81 307

76 000

Communications

55 176

78 000

22 824

60 000

43 099

51 000

Audit fees

47 852

45 000

(2 852)

39 712

32 997

42 000

147 547

120 000

(27 547)

158 400

238 538

35 000

Refreshments

81 445

68 000

(13 445)

60 000

59 773

30 000

Fuel

21 894

21 000

(894)

30 000

35 470

28 000

4 120

10 000

5 880

14 000

9 000

15 000

Professional fees

15 950

50 000

34 050

10 000

23 900

12 000

Staff uniforms

40 988

32 000

(8 988)

30 000

27 846

7 000

5 873

18 000

12 128

18 000

-

158 582

90 000

(68 582)

260 202

271 634

109 000

14 595 825

14 341 000

(254 825)

14 304 609

14 739 295

13 355 000

Health & Safety

League expenses

Staff training

Option Ad Sms
Other expenditure
TOTAL EXPENSES

NET (LOSS)

(1 685 587)

(911 000)

185

(774 587)

(1 685 067)

(1 269 976)

-

(2 335 000)

INCOME STATEMENT FOR CLUBHOUSE
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INCOME STATEMENT FOR CLUBHOUSE

2018/19

2018/19

2018/19

2019/20

2019/20

2020/21

Actual

Approved budget

Variance

Approved budget

Forecast

Proposed Budget

REVENUE

Turnover Rental
Operator Recoveries

993 638

1 065 000

(71 362)

975 600

1 018 346

723 000

1 207 640

1 074 000

133 640

1 251 734

-398 771

670 000

98 602

47 000

51 602

49 526

61 576

55 000

-

32 552

-

Insurance pay-out received for loss of revenue
Other Income

201 000

Late payment Penalties

-691

-

(691)

TOTAL NET REVENUE

2 299 189

2 186 000

113 189

2 276 860

713 703

1 649 000

1 543 000

EXPENSES
Electricity, water and rates

1 458 785

1 749 000

290 215

1 551 726

1 633 615

Advertising and marketing

543 172

559 000

15 828

524 800

454 984

360 000

Maintenance

271 130

231 000

(40 130)

245 000

242 101

257 000

Insurance

84 083

75 000

(9 083)

97 889

95 606

104 000

Refuse removal

56 661

58 000

1 339

59 072

59 759

62 000

Audit fees

31 580

29 000

(2 580)

39 712

49 269

42 000

Telephone

38 453

68 000

29 547

47 565

40 485

38 000

-

-

-

224 500

214 244

35 000

Décor and flowers

33 657

29 000

(4 657)

31 878

35 884

33 000

DSTV

22 159

23 000

841

22 960

23 326

21 000

Fuel

77 725

12 000

(65 725)

12 000

32 000

18 000

Uniforms

33 192

26 000

(7 192)

50 000

44 686

7 000

4 397

17 000

12 603

-

-

-

-

11 000

11 000

12 000

6 844

-

57 757

12 000

(45 757)

8 300

16 104

30 000

2 712 752

2 899 000

186 248

2 927 402

2 948 905

2 550 000

(413 563)

(713 000)

299 437

(650 542)

(2 235 202)

(901 000)

Social event expenses

Equipment rental
Health & Safety
Other expenditure
TOTAL EXPENSES

NET (LOSS)
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CAPITAL EXPENDITURE
FINANCIAL YEAR

2018/2019

2019/2020

2020/2021

Actual expenditure

Forecast/Re-assigned
budget

Proposed capital
maintenance budget

R'000's

R'000's

R'000's

1 489

2 667

3 454

Security
Silver Lakes perimeter project
Electric Fence
Electric fence - Six Fountains
Fibre project for cameras along the fence
Access control upgrade
Camera system - gates and golf course
Lightning/Surge protection - gates
Guardhouse improvements
Card printer enrolment office
Enlarge enrolment office
Traffic Calming devices

593

1 303

2 048
1 837

88
14
23

7

Environment
Gardens/trees/environment
Street Corners Planters
Erosion control dams
Diesel pumps (At the two pump stations)

575
36
186
353

316
13
203
100

1 127

Estate
ICT upgrade/replacement
Furniture/fittings
Website
Building improvements
Entrance gates fencing & upgrade
Street corners planters
Signage (disclaimers and replacement stock)
Equipment
Boundary fencing - Game Reserve
Upgrade of pedestrian entrance (Solomon Mahlangu)
Bridges
Fire System for Server room
Purchase of Game

321
107
99
32
23

1 048
103
88
10
93
380

279
91

22
19
21

124
30

GOLF
Bunker Drainage
Signage and markers
Moving of T-box at the 17th
New cart path at the 17th
Ball dispenser
Building of wall at ball dispenser & signage
Trees
Course irrigation
Pumps & Boreholes
Workshop Upgrade
Cart path upgrade
Erosion control - gabions at high impact areas
Driving range tee boxes and outfield
Major works - dam wall/overflow at the 14th
Golf Cart Barn upgrade

911

CLUBHOUSE
Upstairs cloakrooms
Stack folding doors- Lakeview
Stack folding doors Conference Rooms
Interiors at Clubhouse Lounge and Reception
Automated Sliding Door at entrance
Swimming pool fence
Members Bar Upgrade
Outside Clubhouse furniture
Audio visual Fire Detection system
Fibre installation
Play park equipment
Outdoor gym equipment
Clubhouse Project
Existing Tennis Courts refurbishment
Air-conditioning
Swimming pool facilities upgrade
Deck and sliding doors - Chapel
Bowling green

892
14
311
15
309
43
72

HOMEOWNERS ASSOCIATION

302
128
39

141

70

327
800

20
110
3
55

50
120
50
5 181
375

971
60
345
200

110
84
622
96

78
24
28
0
34
1 086
3 000
420

28
169
169

136

99

28

1 153

2 078

10

200
65
200
110
189

65
32
648
128
33

210
168

89
1 083

2019/2020 projects to be completed
HALFWAY HOUSE PROJECT
Parapet tiling
CONTINGENCY RESERVE

34
687
575

8
8
-

-

-

500

-

TOTAL CAPITAL EXPENDITURE

3 300

9 502

6 503

FUNDED BY CAPITAL LEVY
FUNDED BY CAPITAL DEVELOPMENT FUND
CARRYFORWARD/(OVER)

6 118

6 298

6 503

885

3 204

108

R 7 004

R 9 502

R 6 610

TOTAL CAPITAL FUNDING
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CAPITAL EXPENDITURE 3-YEAR FORECAST
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CAPITAL EXPENDITURE 3-YEAR FORECAST
FINANCIAL YEAR

2020/2021

2021/2022

2022/2023

Proposed Capital
Maintenance Budget

Proposed Capital
Maintenance Forecast

Proposed Capital
Maintenance Forecast

R'000s

R'000s

R'000s

HOMEOWNERS ASSOCIATION

3 454

4 290

514

Security
Silver Lakes perimeter project
Electric Fence - back up power
Electric fence - multi mode fibre replace with single mode
Camera system - golf course
Camera system - game reserve
Replace electric fence - Six fountains (boundary)
Lightning/surge protection - gates
Lightning/surge protection - perimeter cameras
Lightning/surge protection - energisers
Traffic calming (cameras for existing traffic calming devices)
Environment
Erosion control dams
Diesel pumps (At the two pump stations)

2 048
1 837

1 507

-

700
807

141

70
1 127
327
800

Estate
ICT upgrade/replacement
Furniture/fittings
Building improvements
Entrance gates fencing & upgrade
Street corners planters
Signage (disclaimers)
Equipment
Upgrade of pedestrian entrance (Solomon Mahlangu)
Bridges
Silver Lakes Boundary Wall (replace)
Purchase of Game

279
91

GOLF
Signage and markers
Moving of the T-box at the 17th
New cart path at the 17th
Trees
Pumps & Boreholes
Workshop Upgrade
Cart path upgrade
Equipment
Machinery
Bunkers
Driving range distance markers and signage
Erosion control dams
Major works - dam wall/overflow at the 14th

971
60
345
200

20

100
100

-

2 683
74
55
50

514
77
60
297

50
50

25
40

2 389
15

15

1 960

1 019

50
630

185

110
3
55

28
169

607
140
200
533

634

1 508
300

5 823

1 208

1 208
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CLUBHOUSE
Play park equipment
Outdoor gym equipment
Bowling green
Members Bar upgrade
Outside Clubhouse furniture
Fibre installation
Clubhouse project
Swimming pool facilities upgrade
Recreational facility for teenagers
Halfway house furniture
CONTINGENCY RESERVE

2 078
648
128
1 083

-

-

4 545
70
-

TOTAL CAPITAL EXPENDITURE

6 503

7 759

7 356

R 6 503

R 7 759

R 7 356

65
32
33
89

TOTAL FUNDED BY CAPITAL LEVY

193

REPORT-BACK FOR THE YEAR
ENDED 31 MARCH 2020

194

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
CHAIRPERSON’S REVIEW
2020

195

CHAIRPERSON’S REVIEW 2020
It is with pleasure and with some trepidation that I present my review for the year 2020-2021.
The past year 2020 has been traumatic for the country as a whole and for us, as individuals, families, communities
and businesses. The escalating uncertainties and sense of disbelief that abound from the first reported patient on
8 December 2019 in Wuhan, China and the subsequent reporting of the outbreak by China to the World Health
Organization on 3 January 2020. The 27th of March 2020 found us all confined to our homes in what could
best be described as being surreal and not knowing what will happen next, trusting that the authorities have things
in hand.
At the time of writing, we find ourselves back at an escalated level of restrictions, tremendous pressure on the
economy, more job losses and the new fear of variants to COVID-19 with higher transmission potential and
uncertainty in the competency of government about whether vaccines will become available and when.
During the period of the level 5 lockdown and in months following the administrative effort of the Association
continued at a reduced level. The finance department in particular arranged their structures to work effectively
from home and thereafter to ably address members enquiries. Our security provided by Bidvest Protea remained
at full strength and the security staff on the ground is commended for their commitment to duty during this though
and demanding year. In particular their even-handed dealings with members who blatantly ignored the lockdown
regulations needs to be commended when they themselves are also exposed to be infected by the virus during
these interactions. Albeit that these incidents were reported to the SAPS and even had them attend to some of
the incidents no prosecutions have been launched and we do not expect any.
I express our appreciation to the Garden Group and the Matkovich Group for their dedicated efforts to provide
maintenance still, albeit limited, of the gardens, roads and golf course respectively, during the total lock down
and the periods following to keep the estate’s aesthetic elements in pristine condition.
The financial situation of the company remained healthy. The board decided because the short and long-term
impacts of Covid-19 on the economy and members were uncertain that austerity measures should be put in place
at the onset of the restrictive period to protect jobs and keep the organization financially sound. The management
successfully negotiated reductions in the fee of service providers and deferred payments for leased equipment.
All staff salary increases were cancelled and we were pleased that all jobs could be retained. Capital Expenditure
projects could also not be completed due to the lockdown and restrictive level periods. The monies saved and
retained because of the austerity measures and unspent capex grew the cash reserves healthily during the current
financial year. Although there was an initial spike in the first quarter of the current financial year in the number
of levy debtors, this abated over the following months as things returned to a new normal for the country.
Revenues from the golf operations for the past financial year were better than budget due to concerted efforts
from the golf staff and the golf committee to improve results and focus on cost savings. However, current year
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revenues are adversely affected because of the closure of the facilities for the weeks of the lockdown and affected
everyone of the revenue generating components. Clubhouse food and beverage facilities revenue against budget
for the past financial year was negatively affected by a refund to Café 41 for the over recovery of electricity costs
due to the wrong recording of meter readings since 2015.
I am pleased to report that the loans for the purchase of the golf course and club house were also settled at the
end of March 2020 and we members experienced the benefit of the reduced levy. The end of the 31 March
2020 financial year recorded a consolidated surplus of R3 million. The solvency of the Association also improved
with assets totalling R 78 million (2019: R71 million) while liabilities are at R 8 million compared to the R 10
million in 2019.
As mentioned in my previous report submitted for the now deferred AGM, the continued and rising concerns of
the Association and its members regarding the possibility of the City of Tshwane Municipality installing an outfall
sewer system through the estate and increasingly severe e-coli pollution in the estate dams because of sewerage
spills from the Six Fountains- and Silver Stream estates required us to resort to more serious action. We therefore
appointed a firm of attorneys with a strong track record in environmental law to launch a legal intervention to
compel the City of Tshwane Municipality to do something as it appears that they remained largely untouched
and unconcerned by the frequent approaches made to them by management to resolve the sewerage spill
problem. Due to the Covid-19 restrictions applicable to the judiciary system, all court applications are managed
through an electronic case and litigation management system. It is therefore uncertain when the matter will come
before the court. We have investigated, in conjunction with engineers that are subject matter experts, alternative
solutions to resolve or manage the spillages and hope to present the possible solutions to members for
information purposes.
Aside from the aforementioned and outstanding debt collecting activities, other legal matters also mentioned in
my previous report, were largely limited to actions concerning a few members. One member has a long vexatious
litigation history against the Association and its staffs and some of the matters date back as far as 2011 and
2012. Unfortunately, and not from a lack of trying, it was impossible to find an amicable solution with the member
and the Association was forced to defend these costly matters in court. As reported to members during the year,
the appeal brought by the particular member against the judgement of Justice Monama was dismissed with costs
and I can report that a subsequent application by the member to the Supreme Court of Appeal was also dismissed
with costs. I assure members that we remain committed to avoid unnecessary legal action and I would like again
to thank Mr Dries Terblanche for very ably guiding and assisting the board of directors in all these matters.
I wish to request members and residents to please observe the traffic rules and drive carefully and with care.
Because our estate provides people with a high sense of a safe environment and being occupied by people of
high integrity and responsibility, there are many people including young children on the estate who also uses the

197

roads for walking, jogging, bicycling, skateboarding, roller-skating and other non-motorised forms of conveyance
and these people are not always observant or aware of other traffic or possible dangers. Security staff has been
asked to monitor driving behaviours in order to mitigate the associative risks with poor driving.
I would like to welcome Ms. Leandré Marvis who joined the Association in July 2020 as the liaison officer
concerned with member and resident affairs, she fills this important position left vacant due to the resignation of
Ms. Maxine Martinho. She comes to us with a wealth of experience and she is well equipped to expand and
improve the services and communications to members and residents. I am pleased to report that at the time of
writing none of the staff had succumbed to Covid-19. Our heartfelt condolences go out to members who have
lost family and friends to the virus and due to other circumstances.
Albeit that environmental matters could only be attended to in a limited manner for the majority of the current
year, the game reserve veld and game was kept in good condition with the help from the Garden Group and
Dr. Douw Grobler. The struggle with the City of Tshwane Municipality to secure the electrical metering boxes
continued without much response. It has been reported to us that this urgent matter has been raised to the highest
level in the executive of the City of Tshwane Municipality but we still await constructive feedback on these and
related matters. The heavy rains in January 2021 and early February 2021 were welcome but the estate suffered
damages in that wall and fence sections in the game reserve and at the sixteenth hole boundary with Six Fountains
Estate washed away. Due to the priority these areas have in terms of the estate security, funds were reassigned to
repair the damages and improve on the structures.
In conclusion I would like to express in the first place my appreciation to members and residents who unselfishly
contribute time and sometimes money to the upkeep of the estate and its unique character and to all residents
who abide by the rules of the estate. The board’s thanks and appreciation go to the members who serve on the
various committees. The guidance, wisdoms, experience and recommendations these committee members
provide to the board and management makes the administration and sustainability of the estate easier. On behalf
of the board of directors I commend the staff of the Association for the way they conduct themselves and do their
jobs under sometimes difficult physical conditions and in difficult circumstances. I wish to thank my fellow directors
for their dedication and competence they display in general board matters as well as in their particular portfolios
to give direction and guidance to management and to me to address the problems the Association faces on a
daily basis.

MR JACO COETZEE
CHAIRPERSON
FEBRUARY 2020
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AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE
CHAIRPERSON’S REVIEW
REPORT TO MEMBERS AT THE ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING OF 22 JUNE 2021
Background
The Audit and Risk Committee is guided by a charter that is informed by the Companies Act and is approved by
the Board.
Membership
The Committee consists of four independent members and three members from the Board of Directors and
management. The members are:
Mrs
Carlien Haasbroek
Independent Member
Danélle Smuts-Steenkamp
Finance Manager
Messrs
Henk Booysen
Chief Executive Officer
Jaco Coetzee
Independent Non-executive Chairman
Solly Matuba
Independent Member
Theo O’Niel (Resigned)
Independent Member
Manie Swart (Acting Chairperson)
Independent Member

Report on Controls, Governance and Risk Management
The Committee met twice during the year and report as follows:
• The financial reports were reviewed and found adequate.
• The proposed budget for 2022 was found reasonable.
• The directors and management were questioned on the Estate’s financial risks, including the investment and
application of surplus cash, and the utilization of levies. These were all found acceptable.
• The financial controls and reporting thereon were found acceptable, and reliance can be placed on sound
financial management.
• Compliance with financial regulations is adequate.
• The HOA is exposed to several risks, some of which are listed below, which may directly or indirectly affect the
financial interests of homeowners and the Estate:
o Possible sewer outfall construction through the estate and golf course.
o Deteriorating aesthetic quality and appearance of estate entrance, sidewalks, roads and homeowner
properties.
o Growing non-compliance with estate rules.
o Deliberate vandalism of Estate assets and homeowners property.
o Legal disputes between residents and the Homeowners Association.
o Financial distress of residents which is exacerbated by the COVID-19 epidemic and a weak economy.
o Fall in value of properties and dilapidation of an increasing number of properties. On the positive side, a
number of very fine new constructions, improvements, and upgrades were completed.
o Deteriorating and increasingly unreliable municipal services, notably sewer spillage into the natural water
courses and the deterioration of roads inside and outside the Estate.
The Board has been tasked to address these risks.
MANIE SWART
ACTING CHAIRMAN OF THE AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE
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SOCIAL, ETHICS AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE
CHAIRPERSON’S REVIEW
The social, ethics and governance committee is pleased to present its report for the 12 months ended 31
March 2020.
The board has allocated the oversight of, and reporting on, responsible corporate citizenship, organisational
ethics, and ethical corporate governance to this committee.
The terms of reference incorporate the King IV recommendations as far as it is applicable to an organization
of this magnitude.
COMPOSITION AND MEETINGS
Members of the committee for the period under review are:
Mrs
Shirley Machaba
Independent Member
Danélle Smuts-Steenkamp
Finance Manager
Messrs
Henk Booysen
Chief Executive Officer
Jaco Coetzee
Independent Non-executive Chairman
Eugene Kruger
Independent Member
Phumzile Mbodla
Independent Member
Manie Swart (Chairperson)
Independent Member
No problems were identified, at its meetings, that need to be reported on.
KEY ACTIVITIES
The Report to the Social, Ethics and Governance Committee (SEGC”) included in the reporting pack for the
period ending 31 December 2020 spells out the comprehensive activities covered by the board. The committee
has approved this report unanimously.
The committee received no requests or feedback from stakeholders during the period under review.
The executive officers and directors continuously strive to improve internal controls, management of the estate,
and involvement with all stakeholders. Their sincere interest in the work of this committee, and preparedness to
consider recommendations points to a great future for Silver Lakes and all stakeholders.
CONCLUSION
Thanks go to the members of the committee for their dedicated and constructive contributions to the functioning
of the committee.
The board and executive staff are praised for their efforts to maintain Silver Lakes as a sought-after estate, with
a good corporate citizen profile.
Manie Swart
Chairperson
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Independent Auditors’ Report
To the members of Silver Lakes Homeowners Association NPC
Opinion
We have audited the annual financial statements of Silver Lakes Homeowners Association NPC (the
company) set out on pages 8 to 21, which comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 March
2020, and the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity
and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the annual financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies.
In our opinion, the annual financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position
of Silver Lakes Homeowners Association NPC as at 31 March 2020, and its financial performance and
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standard for Small
and Medium-sized Entities and the requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa.
Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the annual financial
statements section of our report. We are independent of the company in accordance with the sections 290
and 291 of the Independent Regulatory Board for Auditors’ Code of Professional Conduct for Registered
Auditors (Revised January 2018), parts 1 and 3 of the Independent Regulatory Board for Auditors’ Code
of Professional Conduct for Registered Auditors (Revised November 2018) (together the IRBA Codes)
and other independence requirements applicable to performing audits of financial statements in South
Africa. We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities, as applicable, in accordance with the IRBA
Codes and in accordance with other ethical requirements applicable to performing audits in South Africa.
The IRBA Codes are consistent with the corresponding sections of the International Ethics Standards
Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants and the International Ethics Standards
Board for Accountants’ International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including International
Independence Standards) respectively. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
Other information
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information
included in the document titled “Silver Lakes Homeowners Association NPC annual financial statements
for the year ended 31 March 2020”, which includes the Directors’ Report as required by the Companies
Act of South Africa. Other information does not include the annual financial statements and our auditors’
report thereon.
Our opinion on the annual financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express
an audit opinion or any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the annual financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
annual financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially
misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of
this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Victor Sekese [Chief Executive]
A comprehensive list of all
Directors is available at the
company offices or registered
office

SNG Grant Thornton is a member firm of Grant Thornton International Ltd (GTIL). GTIL and the member firms are not a
worldwide partnership. Services are delivered independently by the member firms. GTIL and its member firms are not
agents of, and do not obligate, one another and are not liable for one another’s acts or omissions.
SizweNtsalubaGobodo Grant Thornton Incorporated Registration Number: 2005/034639/21
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Responsibilities of the directors for the Annual Financial Statements
The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the annual financial statements
in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards for Small and Medium-sized Entities
and the requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of annual financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the annual financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the company’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the company or
to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.
Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the Annual Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the annual financial statements as a
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with International Standards on Auditing will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions
of users taken on the basis of these annual financial statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:








Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the annual financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting
a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the company’s internal control.
Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.
Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If
we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’ report
to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify
our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the company to cease to continue as a going
concern.
Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the annual financial statements, including
the disclosures, and whether the annual financial statements represent the underlying transactions
and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify
during our audit.

N van Niekerk
SizweNtsalubaGobodo Grant Thornton Inc.
Director
Registered Auditor
30 June 2020

Building 4, Summit Place
221 Garstfontein Road
Menlyn
0181

___________________________________________________________________________________
5

210

Silver Lakes Homeowners Association NPC
(Registration number: 1992/004661/08)
Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2020

Directors' Report
The directors have pleasure in submitting their report on the annual financial statements of Silver Lakes Homeowners
Association NPC for the year ended 31 March 2020.
1.

Incorporation

The company was incorporated on 14 August 1992 and obtained its certificate to commence business on the same day. The
charging of a homeowners levy was implemented on 1 April 1994.
2.

Nature of business

Silver Lakes Homeowners Association NPC is engaged in the business of a homeowners association, a golf course and
clubhouse operation, and a game reserve.
The operating results and state of affairs of the company are fully set out in the attached financial statements and do not in our
opinion require any further comment.
Net surplus of the company was R8 980 395 (2019: surplus R10 354 173), of which R6 013 846 was transferred to capital
reserves.
There have been no material changes to the nature of the company's business from the prior year.
3.

Review of financial results and activities

The annual financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standard for Small
and Medium-sized Entities and the requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa. The accounting policies have been
applied consistently compared to the prior year.
The company recorded a profit for the year ended 31 March 2020 of R8 980 395. This represented a decrease of 13% from the
profit after tax of the prior year of R10 354 173.
Company revenue decreased by 3% from R60 834 019 in the prior year to R59 038 381 for the year ended 31 March 2020.
Company cash flows from operating activities increased by 11% from R10 961 451 in the prior year to R12 114 154 for the
year ended 31 March 2020.
4.

Directors

The directors in office at the date of this report are as follows:
Directors
OA Ayo-Yusuf
HC Booysen
J Coetzee
JH de Wet
C Mathews
AL Terblanche
5.

Changes

Appointed 25 June 2019

Events after the reporting period

The directors are not aware of any material event which occurred after the reporting date and up to the date of this report.
6.

Going concern

The directors believe that the company has adequate financial resources to continue in operation for the foreseeable future
and accordingly the annual financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis. The directors have satisfied
themselves that the company is in a sound financial position and that it has access to sufficient borrowing facilities to meet its
foreseeable cash requirements. The directors are not aware of any new material changes that may adversely impact the
company. The directors are also not aware of any material non-compliance with statutory or regulatory requirements or of any
pending changes to legislation which may affect the company.
For the impact of COVID-19 refer to note 24 of the annual financial statements.
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Directors' Report
7.

Secretary

The company had no secretary during the year.
8.

Disputes

A number of legal actions have not been settled/finalised during the year under review. The Board will have to incur further
costs in the new year to maintain the lifestyle on the estate and homeowner property values.
9.

Café 41 Trade Receivable

Included in trade receivables of R4 825 016 is an amount of R561 987 for Café 41 in respect of Late Completion Penalties for
which an acknowledgement of debt was signed. The amount is settled in equal installments of R9 042.55 per month over an
initial period of 94 months, 63 monthly installments remaining as at 31 March 2020.

10. Impact of COVID-19
Five days prior to the company’s financial year end South Africa was placed under a national State of Disaster by government
due to the worldwide COVID-19 pandemic. The resultant measures taken to contain the spread of the virus triggered significant
disruptions resulting in a widespread economic slowdown to which the company was exposed.
The worldwide COVID-19 pandemic did not materially impact the annual financial statements of the company for the financial
period ending 31 March 2020. However, the income and financial position of the company for the ensuing financial year has
unavoidably been impacted, mainly by a loss of revenue from the Golf course and Clubhouse facility under the initial lockdown
and the restricted trading conditions since the relaxation of certain regulations. Although the Golf course opened under
lockdown Level 3, it is unlikely that the lost revenue will be recovered in the months to come.
The directors believe that the company has adequate financial resources, inclusive of access to sufficient borrowing facilities,
to meet its cash requirements and continue in operation for the foreseeable future. Stringent measure have been put in place to
curtail expenses and maintain positive cash flows.

7

212

Silver Lakes Homeowners Association NPC
(Registration number: 1992/004661/08)
Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2020

Statement of Financial Position as at 31 March 2020
Note(s)

2020
R

2019
R

Assets
Non-Current Assets
Property, plant and equipment
Biological assets

2
3

Current Assets
Inventories
Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents

4
5
6

Total Assets

63 182 204
417 900

57 624 216
655 200

63 600 104

58 279 416

1 334 783
5 105 159
7 970 423

1 279 549
5 060 250
6 158 301

14 410 365

12 498 100

78 010 469

70 777 516

30 804 121
38 181 523
1 170 667

27 909 699
35 062 099
(1 795 882)

70 156 311

61 175 916

Equity and Liabilities
Equity
Clubhouse and golf course capital reserve
Development capital reserve
Accumulated surplus

7
8

Liabilities
Non-Current Liabilities
Other financial liabilities

9

-

441 651

Current Liabilities
Other financial liabilities
Trade and other payables

9
10

7 854 158

1 814 432
7 345 517

7 854 158

9 159 949

7 854 158

9 601 600

78 010 469

70 777 516

Total Liabilities
Total Equity and Liabilities
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Statement of Profit and Loss and Comprehensive Income
Note(s)
Revenue
Cost of sales

11

2020
R

2019
R

59 038 381
(2 526 375)

60 834 019
(2 493 538)

Gross profit
Other income
Operating expenses

12

56 512 006
3 852 380
(51 305 764)

58 340 481
2 692 392
(50 705 307)

Operating surplus
Investment revenue
Fair value adjustments
Finance costs

13
14
15
16

9 058 622
324 801
(250 410)
(152 618)

10 327 566
778 934
1 700
(754 027)

8 980 395

10 354 173

Surplus for the year

9
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Statement of Changes in Equity
Clubhouse Development Accumulated
and golf
capital
surplus
course capital
reserve
reserve
R
R
R
Balance at 01 April 2018

24 093 166

31 840 697

Surplus for the year

Total equity

R

(5 112 120)

50 821 743

10 354 173

10 354 173

-

-

Transfer to clubhouse and golf course capital reserve
Transfer to development capital reserve

3 816 533
-

3 221 402

(3 816 533)
(3 221 402)

-

Total changes

3 816 533

3 221 402

(7 037 935)

-

27 909 699

35 062 099

(1 795 882)

61 175 916

-

-

8 980 395

8 980 395

Transfer to clubhouse and golf course capital reserve
Transfer to development capital reserve

2 894 422
-

3 119 424

(2 894 422)
(3 119 424)

-

Total changes

2 894 422

3 119 424

(6 013 846)

-

30 804 121

38 181 523

1 170 667

Balance at 01 April 2019
Surplus for the year

Balance at 31 March 2020
Note(s)

7

10
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Statement of Cash Flows
Note(s)

2020
R

2019
R

Cash flows from operating activities
19

Cash generated from operations
Interest income
Finance costs

11 941 971
324 801
(152 618)

10 936 544
778 934
(754 027)

12 114 154

10 961 451

(8 880 953)
848 114
(13 110)
-

(3 299 017)
(15 040)
31 600

(8 045 949)

(3 282 457)

Repayment of other financial liabilities

(2 256 083)

(8 282 626)

Net cash from financing activities

(2 256 083)

(8 282 626)

Total cash movement for the year
Cash at the beginning of the year

1 812 122
6 158 301

(603 632)
6 761 933

7 970 423

6 158 301

Net cash from operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities
2

Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Sale of property, plant and equipment
Purchase of biological assets
Sale of biological assets

3
3

Net cash from investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities

6

Total cash at end of the year

11

216

Silver Lakes Homeowners Association NPC
(Registration number: 1992/004661/08)
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Accounting Policies
1.

Basis of preparation and summary of significant accounting policies

The annual financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standard for
Small and Medium-sized Entities, and the Companies Act of South Africa. The annual financial statements incorporate the
principal accounting policies set out below. They are presented in South African Rands.
These accounting policies are consistent with the previous period.
1.1 Biological assets
Biological assets for which fair value is determinable without undue cost or effort are measured at fair value less costs to sell,
with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.
1.2 Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.
Cost include costs incurred initially to acquire or construct an item of property, plant and equipment and costs incurred
subsequently to add to, replace part of, or service it. If a replacement cost is recognised in the carrying amount of an item of
property, plant and equipment, the carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised.
Depreciation is provided using the straight-line method to write down the cost, less estimated residual value over the useful life
of the property, plant and equipment as follows:
Item

Depreciation method

Average useful life

Air-conditioners
Biometric access system
Buildings and improvements
Computer equipment
Computer software
Furniture and fittings
Golf course equipment
Golf course irrigation system
Motor vehicles

Straight line
Straight line
Straight line
Straight line
Straight line
Straight line
Straight line
Straight line
Straight line

6 years
6 years
1 - 40 years
3 years
2 years
6 years
5 years
15 years
5 years

Land is not depreciated.
The residual value, depreciation method and useful life of each asset are reviewed only where there is an indication that there
has been a significant change from the previous estimate.
Gains and losses on disposals are recognised in profit or loss.
Capital expenditure incurred
Expenses incurred to upgrade, improve and refurbish property, plant and equipment are written off during the year incurred as
it is unlikely that such expenditure has any realisable value. The expense forms part of the development capital reserve note 8.
1.3 Financial instruments
Financial instruments at amortised cost
These include loans, trade receivables and trade payables. Those debt instruments which meet the criteria in section 11.8(b) of
the standard, are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Debt instruments which are
classified as current assets or current liabilities are measured at the undiscounted amount of the cash expected to be received
or paid, unless the arrangement effectively constitutes a financing transaction.
At each reporting date, the carrying amounts of assets held in this category are reviewed to determine whether there is any
objective evidence of impairment. If there is objective evidence, the recoverable amount is estimated and compared with the
carrying amount. If the estimated recoverable amount is lower, the carrying amount is reduced to its estimated recoverable
amount, and an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
12
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1.4 Tax
Current tax assets and liabilities
Current tax for current and prior periods is, to the extent unpaid, recognised as a liability. If the amount already paid in respect
of current and prior periods exceeds the amount due for those periods, the excess is recognised as an asset.
Current tax liabilities (assets) for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be paid to (recovered
from) the tax authorities, using the tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting
date.
The tax liability reflects the effect of the possible outcomes of a review by the tax authorities.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities
A deferred tax liability is recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
A deferred tax asset is recognised for all deductible temporary differences and for the carry forward of unused tax losses and
unused tax credits.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at an amount that includes the effect of the possible outcomes of a review by
the tax authorities using tax rates that, on the basis of enacted or substantively enacted tax law at the end of the reporting
period, are expected to apply when the deferred tax asset is realised or the deferred tax liability is settled.
Deferred tax asset balances are reviewed at every reporting date. When necessary, a valuation allowance is recognised
against the deferred tax assets so that the net amount equals the highest amount that is more likely than not to be realised on
the basis of current or future taxable profit.
Tax expenses
Tax expense is recognised in the same component of total comprehensive income or equity as the transaction or other event
that resulted in the tax expense.
1.5 Leases
A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership to the
lessee. All other leases are operating leases.
Operating leases - lessor
Operating lease income is recognised as an income on a straight-line basis over the lease term unless:

another systematic basis is representative of the time pattern of the benefit from the leased asset, even if the receipt
of payments is not on that basis, or

the payments are structured to increase in line with expected general inflation (based on published indexes or
statistics) to compensate for the lessor’s expected inflationary cost increases.
Operating leases – lessee
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term unless:

another systematic basis is representative of the time pattern of the benefit from the leased asset, even if the
payments are not on that basis, or

the payments are structured to increase in line with expected general inflation (based on published indexes or
statistics) to compensate for the lessor’s expected inflationary cost increases.
Any contingent rents are expensed in the period they are incurred.
1.6 Inventories
Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and estimated selling price less costs to complete and sell, on the first-in, first-out
(FIFO) basis.
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1.7 Impairment of assets
The company assesses at each reporting date whether there is any indication that property, plant and equipment or intangible
assets may be impaired.
If there is any such indication, the recoverable amount of any affected asset (or group of related assets) is estimated and
compared with its carrying amount. If the estimated recoverable amount is lower, the carrying amount is reduced to its
estimated recoverable amount, and an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
If an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or group of related assets) is increased to the
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but not in excess of the amount that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or group of assets) in prior years. A reversal of impairment is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.
1.8 Employee benefits
Short-term employee benefits
The cost of short-term employee benefits, (those payable within 12 months after the service is rendered, such as leave pay and
sick leave, bonuses, and non-monetary benefits such as medical care), are recognised in the period in which the service is
rendered and are not discounted.
1.9 Provisions and contingencies
Provisions are recognised when the company has an obligation at the reporting data as a result of a past event; it is probable
that the company will be required to transfer economic benefits in settlement; and the amount of the obligation can be
estimated reliably.
Provisions are measured at the present value of the amount expected to be required to settle the obligation using a pre-tax rate
that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the
provision due to the passage of time is recognised as interest expense.
Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses.
1.10 Revenue
Revenue is recognised to the extent that the company has transferred the significant risks and rewards of ownership of goods
to the buyer, or has rendered services under an agreement provided the amount of revenue can be measured reliably and it is
probable that economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the company. Revenue is measured at the fair
value of the consideration received or receivable, excluding value added tax.
Revenue from levies is measured at the amount to be contributed by owners as agreed and approved at the AGM.
Interest is recognised, in profit or loss, using the effective interest rate method.
1.11 Cost of sales
When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those inventories are recognised as an expense in the period in which the
related revenue is recognised. The amount of any write-down of inventories to net realisable value and all losses of inventories
are recognised as an expense in the period the write-down or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal of any write-down of
inventories, arising from an increase in net realisable value, is recognised as a reduction in the amount of inventories
recognised as an expense in the period in which the reversal occurs.
The related cost of providing services recognised as revenue in the current period is included in cost of sales.
1.12 Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.
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2.

Property, plant and equipment
2020
Cost or
revaluation

2019

Accumulated Carrying value
Cost or
depreciation
revaluation

Accumulated Carrying value
depreciation

Air-conditioning
Biometric access system
Buildings and improvements
Computer equipment
Computer software
Furniture and fixtures
Golf course equipment
Golf course irrigation system
Land
Motor vehicles

440 308
3 294 777
54 279 511
1 059 520
235 025
4 318 512
1 256 644
9 500 442
9 530 405
1 578 304

(371 594)
(770 586)
(12 386 702)
(969 390)
(219 454)
(3 569 512)
(1 126 891)
(1 773 180)
(1 123 935)

68 714
2 524 191
41 892 809
90 130
15 571
749 000
129 753
7 727 262
9 530 405
454 369

440 308
1 470 748
48 638 930
976 715
230 649
4 110 783
1 868 744
9 472 321
9 530 405
1 565 408

(351 188)
(1 257 060)
(10 842 356)
(894 415)
(187 907)
(3 240 796)
(1 495 727)
(1 288 515)
(1 122 831)

89 120
213 688
37 796 574
82 300
42 742
869 987
373 017
8 183 806
9 530 405
442 577

Total

85 493 448

(22 311 244)

63 182 204

78 305 011

(20 680 795)

57 624 216

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment - 2020

Air-conditioning
Biometric access system
Buildings and improvements
Computer equipment
Computer software
Furniture and fixtures
Golf course equipment
Golf course irrigation system
Land
Motor vehicles

Opening
balance
89 120
213 688
37 796 574
82 300
42 742
869 987
373 017
8 183 806
9 530 405
442 577
57 624 216

Additions

Disposals

Depreciation

2 816 545
5 640 580
82 805
4 376
207 729
87 900
28 122
12 896

(8 114)
(136 675)
-

(20 406)
(497 928)
(1 544 345)
(74 975)
(31 547)
(328 716)
(194 489)
(484 666)
(1 104)

Closing
balance
68 714
2 524 191
41 892 809
90 130
15 571
749 000
129 753
7 727 262
9 530 405
454 369

8 880 953

(144 789)

(3 178 176)

63 182 204

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment - 2019
Opening
balance
77 787
124 142
36 745 066
101 148
23 348
1 089 045
569 244
8 483 911
9 530 405
559 445

Air-conditioning
Biometric access system
Buildings and improvements
Computer equipment
Computer software
Furniture and fixtures
Golf course equipment
Golf course irrigation system
Land
Motor vehicles

57 303 541

15
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Additions

Depreciation

60 071
179 785
2 503 146
84 283
67 361
81 686
138 378
165 807
18 500

(48 738)
(90 239)
(1 451 638)
(103 131)
(47 967)
(300 744)
(334 605)
(465 912)
(135 368)

Closing
balance
89 120
213 688
37 796 574
82 300
42 742
869 987
373 017
8 183 806
9 530 405
442 577

3 299 017

(2 978 342)

57 624 216
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2020
R
3.

2019
R

Biological assets

Game at fair value

417 900

655 200

Reconciliation of biological assets - 2020
Opening
balance
Game

655 200

Additions

Gains or
losses arising
from changes
in fair value
13 110
(250 410)

Total

417 900

Reconciliation of biological assets - 2019
Opening
balance
Game

685 100

Disposals

Gains or
losses arising
from changes
in fair value
(31 600)
1 700

Total

655 200

The biological assets consist of the game in the wildlife section of phase 3.
The fair value of biological assets was determined by using veld prices less 20% for estimated selling costs.
4.

Inventories

Proshop merchandise
Consumables stores

5.

1 260 019
19 530

1 334 783

1 279 549

4 848 223
122 610
21 797
112 529

4 617 054
122 610
69 794
250 792

5 105 159

5 060 250

7 918 866
51 557

6 110 137
48 164

7 970 423

6 158 301

Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables net of provisions
Deposits
Prepayments
VAT

6.

1 314 583
20 200

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of:
Bank balances
Cash on hand
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2020
R
7.

2019
R

Clubhouse and golf course capital reserve

The clubhouse and golf course capital reserve represents the contributions made, either paid in full or over a period of ten
years, to acquire the clubhouse and golf course.
Clubhouse and golf course capital reserve - opening balance
Clubhouse and golf course capital levies
Interest paid

8.

27 909 699
3 047 040
(152 618)

24 093 166
4 570 560
(754 027)

30 804 121

27 909 699

Development capital reserve

The development capital reserve represents the contributions made to develop/improve the property/facilities/assets.
Development capital reserve - opening balance
Development capital levies
Depreciation

35 062 099
6 297 600
(3 178 176)

31 840 697
6 199 744
(2 978 342)

Development capital reserve - closing balance

38 181 523

35 062 099

-

2 256 083

9.

Other financial liabilities

At amortised cost
Mortgage bond: Grobank Limited
The bond of R11 950 000 was settled during the year.

The land and buildings of the clubhouse serve as security for the bond as well as a cession and pledge over levies. The bond
account was closed subsequent to year end.
Non-current liabilities
At amortised cost

-

441 651

Current liabilities
At amortised cost

-

1 814 432

-

2 256 083

986 059
167 887
2 364 964
187 456
3 830 662
317 130

1 155 417
116 039
1 487 789
255 509
3 989 678
341 085

7 854 158

7 345 517

10. Trade and other payables
Trade payables
Other payables
Accrued expense - Other
Accrued leave pay
Amounts received in advance
Deposits received
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2020
R

2019
R

11. Revenue
Levies
Golf - Subscriptions and fees
Golf - Pro Shop sales
Development capital levies
Clubhouse and golf course levies
Refuse removal
Rental income

32 308 365
11 284 910
3 248 275
6 297 600
3 047 040
1 061 671
1 790 520

31 389 124
10 982 936
3 250 041
6 199 743
4 570 560
1 373 448
3 068 167

59 038 381

60 834 019

703 325
1 233 750
98 569
889 010
532 885
331 371
63 470

593 686
166 753
1 031 614
542 108
358 231
-

3 852 380

2 692 392

242 749

199 559

12. Other income
Gain on sale of assets and liabilities
Penalties
Insurance claim recovered
Other income
Rental income
10% Late payment fee
Recoveries

13. Operating surplus
Operating surplus for the year is stated after accounting for the following:
Operating lease charges
Lease rentals on operating lease

Contractual amounts
Gain (loss) on sale of property, plant and equipment
Depreciation on property, plant and equipment
Employee costs
Legal fees
Directors' remuneration
Golf course maintenance cost
Repairs and maintenance
Security

703 325
3 178 176
11 731 424
322 164
1 661 529
6 643 770
1 721 767
8 892 942

(15 040)
2 978 342
10 986 962
514 064
1 681 152
6 409 534
1 647 525
8 927 061

14. Investment revenue
Interest revenue
Bank
Interest charged on members accounts for late payments

177 446
147 355

404 237
374 697

324 801

778 934

15. Fair value adjustments
Biological assets

(250 410)

1 700

16. Finance costs
Non-current borrowings

152 618

18
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2020
R

2019
R

17. Auditors' remuneration
Fees

240 803

228 162

18. Taxation
Taxation is not provided as the company did not earn any taxable income from its operations. Levy income is exempt from
taxation in terms of Section 10(1)(e) of the Income Tax Act No. 58 of 1962.
19. Cash generated from operations
Surplus
Adjustments for:
Depreciation
(Gain) loss on sale of property, plant and equipment
Interest received
Finance costs
Fair value adjustments
Changes in working capital:
Inventories
Trade and other receivables
Trade and other payables

8 980 395

10 354 173

3 178 176
(703 325)
(324 801)
152 618
250 410

2 978 342
15 040
(778 934)
754 027
(1 700)

(55 234)
(44 909)
508 641

(267 953)
(512 078)
(1 604 373)

11 941 971

10 936 544

1 718 069
2 066 490

1 191 597
1 794 065

3 784 559

2 985 662

20. Commitments
Operating leases – as lessee (expense)
Minimum lease payments due
- within one year
- in second to fifth year inclusive

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the company for certain of its equipment. Leases are negotiated for an
average term of five years. No contingent rent is payable.
Operating leases – as lessor (income)
Minimum lease payments due
- within one year
- in second to fifth year inclusive

1 333 996
492 844

1 617 913
1 303 333

1 826 840

2 921 246

Operating lease income represents the rentals receivable by the company for the rental of premises of the company leased to
external parties. There are no contingent rents receivable.
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2020
R

2019
R

21. Related parties
`

Relationships
Directors

OA Ayo-Yusuf
HC Booysen
J Coetzee
JH de Wet
C Mathews
AL Terblanche

Other: Members
Related party balances
Amounts included in Trade receivable (Trade Payable) regarding related parties
A McKenna Golf Academy: A McKenna
Absolute Pilates South Africa: M de Wet
Drone Africa: T de Souza
Garden Group: A du Toit
Heiton: R Taylor
i-College: D le Roux
King Price Insurance Co.: G Galloway
McKenna Golf: A McKenna
McKenna Golf: A McKenna
National Internet Technologies: J Morgan

(30 900)
30 325
4 214
(23 000)
(17 685)

17 132
1 382
6 757
(21 775)
54 681
(9 945)

(37 046)

48 232

26 796
4 571
90 605
41 044
2 043 588
35 305
6 000
138 823
(406 799)
25 993
113 623
186 474
35 301
11 383

4 140
4 710
17 000
91 470
117 998
1 990 977
5 175
87 368
109 722
64 612
96 964
72 607
208 913
54 282
73 740
44 506
14 388

2 352 707

3 058 572

Related party transactions
Purchases from (sales to) related parties
ADHD Trading: LT Evershed
Audio Professionals: A Botha
Daisy Communications SA: A Schreiber
Digimag: G Heuer
Catchco Africa: Dr D Grobler
Christo Bekker Inc: C Bekker
Garden Group: A du Toit
Gary Pettit Surveys: G Pettit
Grass Mecca: H Roodt
Heiton: R Taylor
King Price Insurance Co.: G Galloway
MTG Consulting: M te Groen
National Internet Technologies: J Morgan
Online Intelligence: J Botha
Pick & Pay Waverley: J Botha
Promac: S Prost
Q Photo: L Geyser
RC Accounting & Tax Services: R Cilliers
Status Hire: J Faul

Rent paid to (received from) related parties
Absolute Pilates South Africa: M de Wet
A McKenna Golf Academy: A McKenna
McKenna Golf: A McKenna
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2020
R

2019
R

22. Directors' remuneration
2020
OA Ayo-Yusuf
HC Booysen
J Coetzee
JH de Wet
C Mathews
AL Terblanche

Emoluments
75 600
1 302 429
75 600
75 600
75 600
56 700

Total
75 600
1 302 429
75 600
75 600
75 600
56 700

1 661 529

1 661 529

Emoluments
75 600
1 240 152
69 300
75 600
6 300
69 300
75 600
69 300

Total
75 600
1 240 152
69 300
75 600
6 300
69 300
75 600
69 300

1 681 152

1 681 152

2019
OA Ayo-Yusuf
HC Booysen
JF Botha
J Coetzee
JH de Wet
VC du Plessis
C Mathews
JA Roets

23. Going concern
The directors believe that the company has adequate financial resources to continue in operation for the foreseeable future and
accordingly the annual financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis. The directors have satisfied
themselves that the company is in a sound financial position and that it has access to sufficient borrowing facilities to meet its
foreseeable cash requirements. The directors are not aware of any new material changes that may adversely impact the
company. The directors are also not aware of any material non-compliance with statutory or regulatory requirements or of any
pending changes to legislation which may affect the company.
For the impact of COVID-19 refer to note 24.
24. Impact of COVID-19
Five days prior to the company’s financial year end South Africa was placed under a national State of Disaster by government
due to the worldwide COVID-19 pandemic. The resultant measures taken to contain the spread of the virus triggered significant
disruptions resulting in a widespread economic slowdown to which the company was exposed.
The worldwide COVID-19 pandemic did not materially impact the annual financial statements of the company for the financial
period ending 31 March 2020. However, the income and financial position of the company for the ensuing financial year has
unavoidably been impacted, mainly by a loss of revenue from the Golf course and Clubhouse facility under the initial lockdown
and the restricted trading conditions since the relaxation of certain regulations. Although the Golf course opened under
lockdown Level 3, it is unlikely that the lost revenue will be recovered in the months to come.
The directors believe that the company has adequate financial resources, inclusive of access to sufficient borrowing facilities,
to meet its cash requirements and continue in operation for the foreseeable future. Stringent measure have been put in place to
curtail expenses and maintain positive cash flows.
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REPORT ON FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
1. SUMMARY (Please see accompanying Summary of Financial Results)
1.1

OPERATING INCOME
A surplus of R 8.9m was achieved for March 2020 which is a decrease of R 1.4m when compared
to the R 10.4m in the previous year. The decrease is attributable to the Clubhouse and Golf
course levy which came to an end in November 2019. The surplus for the year includes capital
levies of R 6m transferred to reserve funds, resulting in an operating surplus of R 3m. This is in
accordance with financial reporting standards and can be seen on the Statement of Changes in
Equity (page 10 of the AFS). The total net operating surplus of R 3m is an improvement when
compared to the budget of R 322k.

1.2

SOLVENCY AND LIQUIDITY
The Statement of Financial Position (page 8 of the AFS) shows a positive net current assets
(liquidity) balance of R 6.6m which is a significant improvement on the R 3.3m reported for the
previous financial year. This is due to a decrease in loans and an increase in cash and cash
equivalents. Equity exceeds total liabilities by R 62.3m and the debt to equity ratio has improved
from 0.2 times to 0.1.
The mortgage bond with Grobank Limited was settled on 31 March 2020. The detail can be
viewed on Note 9 to the AFS (page 17).

2. OTHER COMMENTS
2.1

HOA/ESTATE
The Estate, excluding the Golf course and Clubhouse, shows a net operating surplus of R 6.3m
This is considerably better than the budget of R 2.7m as well as the R 5.4m reported for the
previous year. The surplus is attributable to income derived from penalties and interest earned,
both items not budgeted for, as well as realised cost savings.

2.2

GOLF COURSE
The golf course operation shows a net operating loss of R 1.3m for 2020 which is lower than the
budgeted loss of R 1.7m. This positive variance is attributable to revenue being higher than
budget by 8%, with the sale of the old golf cart fleet being the main contributor. Expenses did not
meet budget expectation as a result of the operating rental for the new golf cart fleet, an
unbudgeted item. A concerted effort was put in to minimise the impact of this unbudgeted item
by curbing other costs where practical.

2.3

CLUBHOUSE
The clubhouse reported a net operating loss of R 2.1m which is significantly worse than budget
as well as the prior year. This is as a result of a refund to the Clubhouse Operator, Fairway Food
Services (Pty) Ltd due to an over recovery of electricity from 2015. Expenses were lower than
budget, but higher than the prior year by 4.2% which is in line with inflation.

2.4

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE
Total available funding amounted to R 9.5m, inclusive of a R 3.2m roll over from 2018/2019.
The roll over mainly relates to the cart path upgrade and access control projects. The major
capital projects completed in 2020 consist of the Access control & Biometric access system (R
2.3m), the cart path upgrade (R 2.7m), the upgrade of the Workshop area (R 1m), installation of
security cameras at the gates and on the golf course (R 573k), as well as erosion control on the
golf course (R 419k). The contingency reserve of R 500k was not utilised.
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14 865 565
(1 263 557)

Less: Expenses
Net Operating loss (before depreciation)

2 826 122
(2 070 658)

2 966 548
3 119 424
2 894 422
8 980 395

Less: Expenses

Net Operating Income/(Loss) (before depreciation)

4. CONSOLIDATED NET SURPLUS
TOTAL NET OPERATING INCOME
Add: Net Capital Levy
Add: Net Capital Reimbursement
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE SURPLUS AS AUDITED
321 918
3 706 305
3 699 735
7 727 958

(650 542)

2 927 402

2 276 860

14 304 609
(1 685 066)

12 619 542

2 657 526

32 236 248

34 893 774

2 644 630
(586 881)
(805 313)
1 252 437

(1 420 116)

101 280

(1 521 396)

(560 957)
421 509

982 466

3 643 237

1 456 954

2 186 283

2020

March

Budget variance to
Actual
Mainly due to:

Budget and prior year variance comments

Expenses marginally lower than budget, but higher than prior year by less than
inflation

Outsource of clubhouse operations: Recoveries significantly less than budget and
prior year due to refund to Operator as a result of electricity over recovery.

3 316 238
3 221 402
3 816 533 Capital reimbursement levy came to an end November 2019
10 354 173

(413 563)

2 712 752

2 299 189

Profit from the sale of the old golf cart fleet the main contributor for revenue
exceeding budget and prior year
14 595 825 New cart fleet rental, unbudgeted item
(1 685 587)
12 910 238

Higher than budget due to interest and penalties, not budgeted for. More penalties
issued during 2020 than 2019
Almost on par with prior year and lower than budget due to cost savings and a
30 454 648
lower than expected increase on security service level agreement
5 415 389
35 870 037

March
2019

Actual

COMMENTS ON 2020 RESULTS VERSUS 2019
i)
The R 8.98m comprehensive surplus in 2020 decreased when compared to the surplus of R 10.3m in 2019 as a result of the capital reimbursement levy which came to an end in November 2019

755 464

Net Revenue

3. CLUBHOUSE OPERATIONS

13 602 008

2. GOLF OPERATIONS

Net Revenue

6 300 763

30 779 294

Less: Expenses

Net Operating Surplus

37 080 057

March
2020

March
2020

Revenue

1. HOA/ESTATE

Budget

Actual

ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL RESULTS FOR YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020

REPORT ON THE PROPOSED
FINANCIAL BUDGET FOR
2021/2022
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REPORT ON THE PROPOSED FINANCIAL BUDGET FOR 2021/2022
1.

SUMMARY (Please see accompanying Schedules)

1.1 GENERAL
The financial information for March 2021 (Budget and Forecast) and the audited financial
information for March 2020 are provided in order to review and assess the proposed budget for the
period April 2021 to March 2022.
It is proposed to decrease the Capital Maintenance levy from R 330.00 per month to R 230.00 per
month to fund the necessary Capital Maintenance (as per the accompanying schedule) reflecting a
decrease of 30% from 2021 to 2022. The Normal Operations levy increases by 6% from R 1 653.00
to R 1 752.00.
The monthly levy consists of the Normal Operations levy, Capital Maintenance levy and CSOS
(Community Service Ombudsman Scheme) levy. The total monthly levy for 2021/2022 is lower than
2020/2021 as a result of the reduced capital maintenance levy.
2.

HOA/ESTATE
The budget for HOA/ESTATE shows an operating surplus of R 3m. Revenue is expected to increase
when compared to the budget and forecast for 2021 as a result of the proposed increase in the
normal operations levy. The expenses are higher than budget for 2021 by 7.6%. It should be noted
that the expenses reflecting in the 2021 budget and forecast does not include a salary increase and
also reflects reduced costs negotiated with service providers where reasonable during the first quarter
of 2020/2021 when the country was under lockdown level 5.

3.

GOLF COURSE
The budgeted revenue for golf is significantly higher than both the budget and forecast for 2021 by
28.8% and 27% respectively. Almost all of the revenue elements in golf have been increased in the
2022 budget as we are hopeful that 2022 will be a less disrupted year for golf operations. Income
from members’ subscriptions contribute 40% to the total budgeted golf revenue.
The Golf expense budget for 2022 shows an increase of 18.9% when compared to the 2021 forecast
which is considerably higher than inflation. As commented under HOA/Estate the expenses reflecting
under the 2021 budget and forecast do not include a salary increase and also reflects reduced costs
negotiated with service providers as a result of the lockdown. If one applies inflation of 4% year on
year to the 2020 expenses, the golf expense budget for 2022 has only increased by inflation.
The budgeted loss for golf is R 1.9m, which is an improvement compared to the budget and forecast
for 2021.

4.

CLUBHOUSE
The 2022 budgeted revenue consists of turnover rental and recoveries from the outsourced service
provider, Fairway Food Services (Pty) Ltd, for the clubhouse facility. Turnover rental is expected to
increase by 57.8% when compared to the 2021 budget, and 10.9% when compared to 2020. The
2021 budget and forecast has been reduced to reflect the impact of the various levels of lockdown
on the turnover rental for the Association. Operator recoveries are significantly higher than the
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actuals for 2020 when there was an over recovery for electricity charges from the tenants that was
refunded.
The 2022 budget expenses show an increase of 28.7% compared to the prior year budget and
39.5% compared to the forecast for 2021. The high percentage increase is due to curbed expenses
in 2021 reflecting in the budget and forecast numbers to minimise the impact of the loss in revenue
as a result of the lockdown. The 2022 budget assumes normal operating levels for example, an
increase in social event expenses, advertising and marketing as well as utility costs.
The 2022 budget for Clubhouse is a loss of R 1.2m.
On a consolidated level the budget for 2022 reflects a deficit of R 43k.
5.

CAPITAL MAINTENANCE
The Capital Maintenance projects for 2022 amount to R 4.5m. It is proposed to fund this expenditure
by means of a Capital Maintenance levy of R 230 per month per member. This represents a decrease
of 30%. The main reason for this decrease is the roll-over of projects from 2020/2021 into
2021/2022. Various projects planned for 2020/2021 could not commence and or be completed
as a result of the lockdown. These projects must be completed in 2021/2022, together with the
envisaged projects for 2021/2022. The capital projects planned for execution in 2021/2022 will
thus be funded out of levies, roll over and existing cash reserves. The levy for the years beyond
2021/2022 increases again to accommodate high value capital projects such as the entrance gates,
boundary wall, members bar and a recreational facility for teenagers.
A Contingency Reserve has not been budgeted for as in the past, as R 1m has been collected and it
has not been utilised.
A proposed and forecasted 3-year capital plan for the 2022, 2023 and 2024 financial years is
included in the pack and will be presented at the AGM.
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SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL RESULTS
2019/2020
and
PROPOSED BUDGET
2021/2022
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6 300 763

NET OPERATING SURPLUS

(1 263 557)

NET OPERATING (LOSS)

(2 070 658)

NET OPERATING INCOME / (LOSS)

3 119 424

CAPITAL RESERVE LEVY

See reports on Financial Results 2019/2020 and Proposed Budget 2021/2022

8 980 395

2 894 422

6 TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE SURPLUS

6 013 846

CLUBHOUSE AND GOLF COURSE PURCHASE LEVY

2 966 548

NET OPERATING SURPLUS / (DEFICIT)

5 NET CAPITAL LEVY AND REIMBURSEMENT INCOME

51 437 529
48 470 981

NET REVENUE

EXPENSES

4 CONSOLIDATED

2 826 122

EXPENSES

NET REVENUE

755 464

14 865 565

EXPENSES

3 CLUBHOUSE

13 602 008

NET REVENUE

2 GOLF

37 080 057
30 779 294

7 727 958

3 699 735

3 706 306

7 406 041

321 918

49 468 259

49 790 176

(650 542)

2 927 402

2 276 860

(1 685 067)

14 304 609

12 619 542

2 657 526

32 236 248

34 893 774

Actual

REVENUE

2019/20
Approved budget

2019/20

EXPENSES

1 HOA

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL RESULTS 2019/2020 AND PROPOSED BUDGET 2021/2022

SILVER LAKES HOMEOWNERS ASSOCIATION NPC

1 252 436

(580 311)

(811 884)

(1 392 195)

2 644 631

997 278

1 647 353

(1 420 116)

101 280

(1 521 396)

421 510

(560 957)

982 466

3 643 237

1 456 954

2 186 283

To Budget

Variance

2019/20

2020/21

3 502 480

3 250 440

-

3 250 440

252 040

47 545 713

47 797 753

(901 193)

2 550 326

1 649 133

(2 335 311)

13 355 569

11 020 258

3 488 543

31 639 818

35 128 362

Approved budget

5 403 641

3 670 440

3 670 440

1 733 201

47 303 006

49 036 207

(553 958)

2 352 697

1 798 739

(2 373 905)

13 529 894

11 155 989

4 661 064

31 420 415

36 081 479

Forecast

2020/21

2021/22

1 240 559

1 283 640

-

1 283 640

(43 081)

53 426 296

53 383 215

(1 193 181)

3 282 516

2 089 335

(1 897 389)

16 094 184

14 196 795

3 047 489

34 049 596

37 097 085

Proposed budget

INCOME STATEMENTS
•
•
•

HOA / Estate
Golf
Clubhouse
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INCOME STATEMENT FOR HOA/ESTATE

2019/20

2019/20

2019/20

2020/21

2020/21

2021/22

Actual

Approved budget

Variance

Approved budget

Forecast

Proposed
budget

REVENUE
Levies - Normal operations

32 308 365

32 513 653

(205 288)

32 316 277

32 310 055

34 246 000

Refuse removal

896 904

858 000

38 904

880 348

882 096

922 000

Rental income

399 878

378 514

21 364

416 137

417 606

443 000

Late payment fees

331 371

307 524

23 847

238 933

265 242

312 000

Waste Management Levy

164 766

378 514

(213 748)

Rule enforcement

1 233 750

219 550

1 014 200

202 165

850 415

Other

1 136 231

238 019

898 212

683 021

756 453

755 000

36 471 265

34 893 774

1 577 491

34 736 881

35 481 867

36 678 000

608 791

391 481

599 611

420 000

Sub-total
Interest received
TOTAL NET REVENUE

608 791

-

-

-

-

37 080 057

34 893 774

2 186 283

35 128 362

36 081 478

37 098 000

EXPENSES
Security - main guarding contract

8 892 942

9 582 500

689 558

9 719 134

9 716 834

10 369 000

Security - access control

966 479

1 141 548

175 069

871 258

915 641

894 000

Security - perimeter contract and cameras

630 088

629 636

(452)

620 889

566 643

400 000

Security - other

492 833

414 122

(78 711)

337 133

379 553

420 000

Payroll

9 154 915

9 760 320

605 405

9 237 263

8 964 270

10 075 000

Garden service contract

1 944 907

1 979 923

35 016

1 964 109

1 955 163

2 131 000

Refuse removal

1 843 958

1 846 785

2 827

1 926 439

1 928 240

2 012 000

Legal fees

535 587

440 000

(95 587)

800 000

1 034 332

960 000

Estate maintenance

864 255

814 932

(49 323)

648 631

413 782

857 000

Professional fees

579 029

583 130

4 101

802 837

777 423

820 000

Electricity, water and rates

783 282

823 398

40 116

673 873

542 368

618 000

Motor vehicle expenses

569 887

540 863

(29 024)

509 293

520 034

611 000

Directors remuneration

359 100

487 915

128 815

431 739

431 361

504 000

Insurance

446 360

414 216

(32 144)

469 292

469 382

493 000

Operating rentals, leases and IT

510 465

510 396

(69)

486 902

488 201

465 000

Telephone

420 266

360 895

(59 371)

441 959

446 731

456 000

Printing and stationery incl AGM

282 278

290 800

8 522

299 279

272 997

320 000

Health and safety

151 931

99 000

(52 931)

202 753

326 739

219 000

Game keeping

192 177

266 584

74 407

140 231

173 629

195 000

Fibre to home

98 654

338 185

239 531

193 011

193 014

193 000

Audit fees

154 750

162 376

7 626

171 663

171 663

182 000

Bank charges

160 628

160 000

(628)

148 638

138 056

174 000

64 782

122 000

57 218

128 901

130 669

144 000

115 404

115 404

-

123 228

123 228

129 000

Protective clothing outdoor staff

55 209

57 500

2 291

54 222

39 847

59 000

Web and SMS

42 047

40 572

(1 475)

45 703

49 601

59 000

Staff training and entertainment
Social responsibility fund

Consumables

48 512

52 600

4 088

40 438

38 878

50 000

Décor and Flowers

33 090

35 659

2 569

29 636

31 323

38 000

Environmental cleaning
Other expenditure

TOTAL EXPENSES

NET SURPLUS

23 013

22 200

(813)

362 467

142 789

(219 678)

30 779 294

32 236 248

6 300 763

2 657 527
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-

-

-

121 364

180 814

204 000

1 456 954

31 639 818

31 420 415

34 051 000

3 643 236

3 488 544

4 661 063

3 047 000

INCOME STATEMENT FOR GOLF
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INCOME STATEMENT FOR GOLF
2019/20

2019/20

2019/20

2020/21

2020/21

Actual

Approved budget

Variance

Approved budget

Forecast

2021/22
Proposed
budget

REVENUE
Golf course
Members

5 142 200

5 120 000

22 200

4 321 809

4 124 905

5 720 000

Visitors

2 232 129

2 380 000

(147 871)

1 849 775

2 111 143

2 500 000

Golf cart rental

1 514 824

1 400 000

114 824

1 246 464

1 314 722

1 630 000

Groups

1 143 173

1 037 628

105 545

438 471

389 990

1 265 000

Turnover Rental

826 025

827 000

(975)

347 719

387 700

816 000

Sponsorships

349 809

432 000

(82 191)

135 000

135 000

373 000

Miscellaneous income

233 606

233 606

57 649

61 625

41 000

1 346 292

1 346 292

-

Insurance pay-out received for loss of revenue

-

Profit on sales of old golf cart fleet

703 325

Other

321 094

494 195

(173 101)

316 664

304 927

417 000

12 466 184

11 690 822

72 037

10 059 843

10 176 304

12 762 000

1 149 467

928 000

221 467

960 131

979 600

1 435 000

13 615 651

12 618 822

996 829

11 019 973

11 155 904

14 197 000

-13 643

720

(14 363)

285

85

13 602 008

12 619 542

982 466

11 020 258

11 155 989

14 197 000

Sub-total

Pro shop and Driving Range net revenue

Total Income before Interest received
Interest received
TOTAL NET REVENUE

-

-

EXPENSES
Greenkeeping contract

6 643 770

6 665 916

22 146

6 260 732

6 283 986

7 248 000

Payroll

3 841 136

3 617 366

(223 770)

3 630 188

3 595 688

4 128 000

Electricity, water and rates

1 033 244

1 183 886

150 642

968 734

843 548

1 048 000

Golf cart rental & maintenance

750 506

457 604

(292 902)

854 773

838 093

1 015 000

Maintenance

861 678

783 000

(78 678)

429 804

483 209

977 000

Bank charges

311 481

262 032

(49 449)

229 159

246 075

310 000

IT support

167 079

174 592

7 513

174 417

171 296

173 000

League expenses

253 030

158 400

(94 630)

34 500

34 940

146 000

Cleaning

145 304

133 020

(12 284)

97 078

110 519

142 000

Insurance

109 534

108 689

(845)

117 942

118 402

123 000

80 595

85 000

4 405

75 870

82 157

93 000

Printing and stationery
Equipment rental

118 853

135 191

16 338

106 911

94 906

92 000

Health & Safety

19 958

18 000

(1 958)

80 991

98 062

78 000

Refreshments

55 932

60 000

4 068

30 211

24 128

61 000

Fuel and oil

38 330

30 000

(8 330)

27 775

49 223

60 000

Telephone

46 602

60 000

13 398

50 851

49 996

49 000

Audit fees

43 027

39 712

(3 316)

41 983

41 983

45 000

Staff uniforms

27 846

30 000

2 154

7 294

7 294

37 000

Professional fees

49 500

10 000

(39 500)

12 000

125 000

26 000

4 800

14 000

9 200

15 000

11 250

15 000

-

18 000

18 000

-

-

263 359

260 202

(3 158)

109 354

220 139

231 000

14 865 566

14 304 609

(560 957)

13 355 569

13 529 894

16 094 000

Staff training
Option Ad Sms
Other expenditure

-

TOTAL EXPENSES

NET (LOSS)

(1 263 557)

(1 685 067)
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421 509

(2 335 311)

(2 373 905)

(1 897 000)

INCOME STATEMENT FOR CLUBHOUSE
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INCOME STATEMENT FOR CLUBHOUSE

2019/20

2019/20

2019/20

2020/21

2020/21

2021/22

Actual

Approved budget

Variance

Approved budget

Forecast

Proposed Budget

REVENUE

Turnover Rental
Operator Recoveries
Other Income
Insurance pay-out received for loss of revenue
Late payment penalties levied on Operator
Sub-total

1 029 046

975 600

53 446

723 315

805 377

1 141 000

-129 482

1 251 734

(1 381 216)

670 555

735 133

878 000

64 706

49 526

15 180

54 679

51 716

71 000

200 585

206 514

-

61 540
1 025 810

2 276 860

61 540
(1 251 050)
(270 346)

1 649 133
-

1 798 739
-

2 090 000

Interest received

-270 346

-

TOTAL NET REVENUE

755 464

2 276 860

-1 521 396

1 649 133

1 798 739

2 090 000

1 722 000

EXPENSES
Electricity, water and rates

1 482 353

1 551 726

69 373

1 542 805

1 411 437

Advertising and marketing

468 277

524 800

56 523

360 131

300 458

503 000

Maintenance

240 410

245 000

4 590

256 600

284 496

360 000

Social event expenses

202 924

224 500

21 576

34 800

11 900

250 000

95 721

97 889

2 168

104 493

104 487

110 000

Insurance
Refuse removal

59 759

59 072

(687)

62 450

62 449

65 000

Uniforms

44 686

50 000

5 314

7 000

-

48 000

Audit fees

43 027

39 712

(3 315)

41 780

41 780

44 000

Décor and flowers

35 212

31 878

(3 334)

33 129

31 913

38 000

Telephone

38 627

47 565

8 938

38 097

31 316

30 000

DSTV

23 325

22 960

(365)

20 714

18 500

25 000

5 844

12 000

6 156

-

6 400

24 000

51 637

12 000

(39 637)

18 000

19 880

20 000

Equipment rental

-

-

-

-

-

-

Other expenditure

34 321

8 300

(26 021)

30 327

27 681

44 000

TOTAL EXPENSES

2 826 122

2 927 402

101 280

2 550 326

2 352 697

3 283 000

NET (LOSS)

(2 070 658)

(650 542)

(1 420 116)

(901 193)

(553 958)

(1 193 000)

Health & Safety
Fuel
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PROPOSED LEVY
2021/2022
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28,93
1 974,04

31,00

2 081,00

1 945,11

0,00

350,00

2 050,00

1 945,11

14,4%

1 945,11

315,45

25,00

1 604,66

2018/2019

1 700,00

6,7%

1 700,00

210,00

0,00

1 490,00

2017/2018

2 012,94

29,67

1 983,27

0,00

1 983,27

2,0%

1 983,27

320,00

11,16

1 652,11

2019/2020

2 012,66

29,66

1 983,00

0,00

1 983,00

0,0%

1 983,00

330,00

0,00

1 653,00

2020/2021

-0,1%

-0,1%

-0,1%

-0,1%

-0,1%

-30,3%

0,0%

6,0%

% Increase

2 011,64

29,64 Note 3

1 982,00

0,00

1 982,00

1 982,00

230,00

0,00 Note 2

1 752,00 Note 1

2021/2022

3 CSOS Levy collected based on 2% of monthly levies less R 500.00 [(R 1 982-R 500)*2%]

2 Waste management levy zero, City of Tshwane ceased billing for this service

Note 1 The Normal operations levy includes refuse removal of 1 bin per stand. Any additional bins will be charged separately at R 96.00 per bin

Total Monthly Levy
Add: Community Service
Ombudsman Scheme
("CSOS") Levy
Total Monthly Levy Including
CSOS

Monthly Levy
Add: Capital Development
Levy

% Increase

Subtotal

Capital expenditure

Waste management levy

Normal Operations

Levies

PROPOSED LEVY 2021/2022

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE
2021/2022
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CAPITAL EXPENDITURE
FINANCIAL YEAR

2019/2020

2020/2021

2021/2022

Actual expenditure

Forecast/Re-assigned
budget

Proposed capital
maintenance budget

R'000's

R'000's

R'000's

HOMEOWNERS ASSOCIATION

3 288

3 454

2 310

Security
Silver Lakes perimeter project
Electric fence - Six Fountains
Access control upgrade & Biometric access system
Camera system - gates and golf course
Camera system - golf course
Lightning/Surge protection - gates
Guardhouse improvements
Traffic Calming devices
Environment
Street Corners Planters
Erosion control dams
Diesel pumps
Estate
ICT upgrade/replacement
Furniture/fittings
Building improvements
Entrance gates fencing & upgrade (Pedestrian entrance)
Signage (disclaimers and replacement stock)
Equipment
Fire System for Server room
Purchase of Game

2 855

2 048
1 837

1 898
1 656
68

GOLF
Tee box at the 17th
New cart path at the 17th
Bunker Drainage
Signage and markers
Ball dispenser
Building of wall at ball dispenser & signage
Trees
Pumps & Boreholes
Circulation pumps
Workshop Upgrade
Cart path upgrade
Erosion control - gabions at high impact areas
Driving range distance markers and signage
Major works - dam wall/overflow at the 14th
Golf Cart Barn upgrade
Bridge at the 7th
Curbing
Extension of driving range

4 887

CLUBHOUSE
Clubhouse furniture and fittings
Equipment
Members Bar Upgrade
Outside Clubhouse furniture
Wi-Fi system
Fibre installation
Play park equipment
Outdoor gym equipment
Clubhouse Project
Existing Tennis Courts refurbishment
Swimming pool facilities upgrade
Concrete sliding structure at swimming pool
Deck and sliding doors - Chapel
Bowling green

2275
573
7
93
93
340
46
38
52
4
121
24
42
13

141
70
1 237
110
327
800
169
91
20
55
3

971
345
200

174

258
258
154
74
40
20
20

1 179

375
60
88
32
28
28
1 058
2 723
419

80

136
240
28
169
442
50
169

136
100
32
100
719

2 078

65
168
77
185
121

32
648
128
33
89

168

1 038
38
15
500
66
175
159

85

1 083

TOTAL CAPITAL EXPENDITURE

8 894

6 503

4 526

FUNDED BY CAPITAL LEVY
CARRYFORWARD/(OVER)

6 298
3 204

6 503
108

4 526

TOTAL CAPITAL FUNDING

R 9 502

R 6 610

R 4 526
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CAPITAL EXPENDITURE 3-YEAR FORECAST
FINANCIAL YEAR

2021/2022

2022/2023

2023/2024

Proposed Capital
Maintenance Budget

Proposed Capital
Maintenance Forecast

Proposed Capital
Maintenance Forecast

R'000s

R'000s

R'000s

HOMEOWNERS ASSOCIATION

2 310

2 928

3 423

Security
Camera system - golf course
Camera system - game reserve
Replace electric fence - Six fountains (boundary)
Silver Lakes perimeter project

1 898
174

256

-

256
68
1 656

Environment
Erosion control dams
Trees

258
258

547
497
50

288
238
50

Estate
ICT upgrade/replacement
Furniture/fittings
Pumps
Entrance gates (2)
Signage (disclaimers)
Equipment
Play parks fence "Clearvu" type
Silver Lakes Boundary Wall (replace)

154
74
40

2 125
77
60
75

3 135
50
20

1 600
20
20

20
30
263

20
45
3 000

GOLF
Signage and markers
Trees
Pumps & Boreholes
Circulation pumps
Cart path - Fishtails
Bridge between 9th and 18th
Curbing
Extension of driving range
Bunkers
Driving range distance markers and signage
Erosion control dams
Bridge at the 7th
Water fountains

1 179
80

CLUBHOUSE
Play park equipment
Outdoor gym equipment
Clubhouse Wi-Fi system
Members Bar upgrade
Recreational facility for teenagers
Halfway house furniture
Concrete sliding structure at swimming pool
Clubhouse furniture and fittings
Equipment
CONTINGENCY RESERVE

1 038
175
159
66
500

85
38
15
-

-

-

TOTAL CAPITAL EXPENDITURE

4 526

7 950

8 313

136
240

2 702

344

50
630
280
42
750

50
185

32
100
216
50
442
100

634

-

100

109

2 321
175
159

4 545

1 917
4 545
70

PER MEMBER PER MONTH
TOTAL FUNDED BY CAPITAL LEVY
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R 230

R 404

R 422

R 4 526

R 7 950

R 8 313

PROXY FORM AGM
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PROXY FORM AGM – PAGE 1 OF 2
This Proxy Form is for use by Members of the Association (“Members”) at the Annual General Meeting of the Members
(“Annual General Meeting” or “AGM”) to be held on Tuesday, 22 June 2021 at 20h00 as a virtual meeting or as
soon as possible after the CGM.
I/We (Please print name in full)
of (please insert stand number)

being a Member of the Association do hereby appoint:

(Insert Proxy name in full)

1.

or failing him / her

(Insert Proxy name in full)

2.

or failing him / her

3. The Chairperson of the AGM
As my/our proxy to attend, speak and vote for me on my/our behalf, as indicated below at the AGM of the Association
and any adjournment thereof:
RESOLUTION:

In Favour

Against

Abstain

ORDINARY RESOLUTION 1: PROPOSED BUDGETS 2020/2021 AND
DETERMINATION OF LEVIES
ORDINARY RESOLUTION 2: RE-APPOINTMENT AND REMUNERATION
OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
SPECIAL RESOLUTION 1: NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS’
REMUNERATION FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
ORDINARY RESOLUTION 3: PROPOSED BUDGETS 2021/2022 AND
DETERMINATION OF LEVIES
ORDINARY RESOLUTION 4: RE-APPOINTMENT AND REMUNERATION
OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
SPECIAL RESOLUTION 2: NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS’
REMUNERATION FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
ORDINARY RESOLUTION 5: AUTHORITY TO ACT

Yes

No

The proxy is authorized to vote on motions to amend and on motions so
amended
The proxy is authorized to vote on additional motions proposed at the
meeting
Signed at

on

Name of Member:

Signature:

Refer to Important Information about the meetings for notes pertaining to the proxy process.
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2021

PROXY FORM AGM – PAGE 2 OF 2
This Proxy Form is for use by Members of the Association (“Members”) at the Annual General Meeting of the Members
(“Annual General Meeting” or “AGM”) to be held on Tuesday, 22 June 2021 at 20h00 as a virtual meeting or as
soon as possible after the CGM.
I/We (Please print name in full)
of (please insert stand number)

being a Member of the Association do hereby appoint:

(Insert Proxy name in full)

1.

or failing him / her

(Insert Proxy name in full)

2.

or failing him / her

3. The Chairperson of the AGM
As my/our proxy to attend, speak and vote for me on my/our behalf, as indicated below at the AGM of the Association
and any adjournment thereof:
ELECTION OF CHAIRPERSON:

In Favour

Against

Abstain

In favour

Against

Abstain

In favour

Against

Abstain

In favour

Against

Abstain

CANDIDATE 1 – Mr Jaco Coetzee

ELECTION OF VICE CHAIRPERSON:
CANDIDATE 1 – Prof. Olalekan Ayo-Yusuf

ELECTION OF ENVIRONMENT DIRECTOR:
CANDIDATE 1 – Ms Leah Dvir

ELECTION OF SECURITY DIRECTOR:
CANDIDATE 1 – Mr Ludwig Schnebel

Yes

No

The proxy is authorized to vote on motions to amend and on motions so
amended
The proxy is authorized to vote on additional motions proposed at the
meeting
Signed at

on

Name of Member:

2021

Signature:

Refer to Important Information of the meetings for notes pertaining to the proxy process.
Member’s attention is also drawn to the extract from section 58 of the Companies Act 71 of 2008 on the following
page.
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EXTRACT FROM THE COMPANIES ACT
“58. Shareholder right to be represented by proxy”
1. At any time, a shareholder of a company may appoint any individual, including an individual who is not a
shareholder of that company, as a proxy to—
(a) participate in, and speak and vote at, a shareholders meeting on behalf of the shareholder; or
(b) give or withhold written consent on behalf of the shareholder to a decision contemplated in section 60,
provided that the shareholder may appoint more than one proxy to exercise voting rights attached to
different shares held by the shareholder.
2. A proxy appointment—
(a) must be in writing, dated and signed by the shareholder; and
(b) remains valid for—
(i) one year after the date on which it was signed; or
(ii) any longer or shorter period expressly set out in the appointment, unless it is revoked in a manner
contemplated in subsection (4)(c), or expires earlier as contemplated in subsection (8)(d).
3. Except to the extent that the Memorandum of Incorporation of a company provides otherwise—
(a) a shareholder of that company may appoint two or more persons concurrently as proxies;
(b) a proxy may delegate the proxy’s authority to act on behalf of the shareholder to another person, subject
to any restriction set out in the instrument appointing the proxy; and
(c) a copy of the instrument appointing a proxy must be delivered to the company, or to any other person on
behalf of the company, before the proxy exercises any rights of the shareholder at a shareholders meeting.
4. Irrespective of the form of instrument used to appoint a proxy—
(a) the appointment is suspended at any time and to the extent that the shareholder chooses to act directly
and in person in the exercise of any rights as a shareholder;
(b) the appointment is revocable unless the proxy appointment expressly states otherwise; and
(c) if the appointment is revocable, a shareholder may revoke the proxy appointment by—
(i) cancelling it in writing, or making a later inconsistent appointment of a proxy; and
(ii) delivering a copy of the revocation instrument to the proxy, and to the company.
5. The revocation of a proxy appointment constitutes a complete and final cancellation of the proxy’s authority to
act on behalf of the shareholder as of the later of—
(a) the date stated in the revocation instrument, if any; or
(b) the date on which the revocation instrument was delivered as required in subsection (4)(c)(ii).
6. If the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies has been delivered to a company, as long as that appointment
remains in effect, any notice that is required by this Act or the company’s Memorandum of Incorporation to be
delivered by the company to the shareholder must be delivered by the company to—
(a) the shareholder; or
(b) the proxy or proxies, if the shareholder has—
(i) directed the company to do so, in writing; and
(ii) paid any reasonable fee charged by the company for doing so.
7. A proxy is entitled to exercise, or abstain from exercising, any voting right of the shareholder without direction,
except to the extent that the Memorandum of Incorporation, or the instrument appointing the proxy, provides
otherwise.
8. If a company issues an invitation to shareholders to appoint one or more persons named by the company as
a proxy, or supplies a form of instrument for appointing a proxy—
(a) the invitation must be sent to every shareholder who is entitled to notice of the meeting at which the proxy
is intended to be exercised;
(b) the invitation, or form of instrument supplied by the company for the purpose of appointing a proxy,
must—
(i) bear a reasonably prominent summary of the rights established by this section;
(ii) contain adequate blank space, immediately preceding the name or names of any person or persons
named in it, to enable a shareholder to write in the name and, if so desired, an alternative name of
a proxy chosen by the shareholder; and
(iii) provide adequate space for the shareholder to indicate whether the appointed proxy is to vote in
favour of or against any resolution or resolutions to be put at the meeting, or is to abstain from
voting;
(c) the company must not require that the proxy appointment be made irrevocable; and
(d) the proxy appointment remains valid only until the end of the meeting at which it was intended to be used,
subject to subsection (5).
9. Subsection (8)(b) and (d) do not apply if the company merely supplies a generally available standard form of
proxy appointment on request by a shareholder.”
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RESOLUTION FORM (IF APPLICABLE – FOR
COMPANIES, CLOSE CORPORATIONS & TRUSTS)
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RESOLUTION FORM
RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS, alternatively MEMBERS, alternatively TRUSTEES

(NAME OF COMPANY, CLOSE CORPORATION OR TRUST)
as the registered owner of
STAND NUMBER:

PASSED AT

ON THIS

DAY OF

2021

Resolved that:
(Name in BLOCK LETTERS)
be and is hereby duly appointed as representative.
The aforementioned shall be entitled to attend, speak and vote in person or by proxy at the General
Meetings to be held on Tuesday, 22 June 2021 and at any adjournment thereof and to bind the
Company/Close Corporation/Trust in this regard.

Name:

Signature:
DIRECTOR / MEMBER / TRUSTEE

Name:

Signature:
DIRECTOR / MEMBER / TRUSTEE
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CONSENT FORM (IF APPLICABLE – FOR JOINT OWNERS)
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CONSENT FORM
PROPERTY OWNED BY MORE THAN ONE PERSON
We, the registered owners:
(Names in BLOCK LETTERS)

(Names in BLOCK LETTERS)

Stand Number:

Hereby give consent to (one of the above owners):

to attend, speak and vote in person or by proxy at the General Meetings to be held on Tuesday,
22 June 2021 and at any adjournment thereof and to bind all the owners in this regard.

SIGNED AT

ON THIS

DAY OF
15

Signature:

Signature:
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